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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

RESULTS

The consolidated turnover of the Company
and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31
March 2023 amounted to HK$30,600,000 (2022:
HK$62,365,000) of which HK$11,983,000 (2022:
HK$12,052,000) was atfributable to the business
of publishing and intellectual properties ("IPs”)
licensing; HK$15,328,000 (2022: HK$50,313,000)
was atffributable to digital marketing;
HK$3,289,000 (2022: HKS$nil) was attributable to
retailing and wholesales business. Loss for the
year attributable to equity holders, taking into
account of taxation, was HK$37,223,000 (2022:
HK$28,943,000). The loss per share was HK2.2
cents (2022: HK1.8 cents).

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board of Directors has resolved not to
declare any final dividend for the year ended 31
March 2023 (2022: nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW
Digital Marketing

The Group has experienced a rather challenging
year. Although lockdowns and business
disruptions in People’s Republic of China (the
"PRC") due to Covid-19 had ended near the
end of the fiscal year, the downward trend of
economic activities during the past two years
had impacted our overall business activities
significantly, in particular in the digital marketing
segment. Against such acute business and
economic environment, the Group focused on
conserving resources, restructuring operations,
and taking actions to control and reduce costs
and expenses. During the year, the revenue of
digital marketing has decreased 69.5% from
HK$50,313,000 in 2022 tfo HK$15,328,000 in 2023.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

FRBESE

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Digital Marketing (Continued)

In streamlining itfs operations, the operation
of the Group’'s two 55%-owned subsidiaries in
Beijing, including Beijing Skyvior Technology Co.
Ltd ("Beijing Skyvior”) and Hyperchannel Info
Tech., Ltd ("Hyperchannel Info”), specializing in
digital marketing, applying big data analysis in
matching IPs to assist customers in marketing
products and services, were consolidated in
last year. The consolidation resulted significant
cost savings. However, the revenue declined
drastically, as the prospect of business
recovering was unknown, and the operation
suffered a considerable brain drain. Subsequent
to the fiscal year end, the Group decided to
dispose Hyperchannel Info to further streamline
the structure of digital marketing segment.
Also, upon discussion and negotiation with
WPP Marketing (Hong Kong) Limited, our 19.9%
joint-venture partner of Beijing Star Engine
Information Technology Co. Ltd. ("Beijing Star
Engine”), it has been agreed to commence
the process of voluntarily winding up of Beijing
Star Engine. Beijing Star Engine was set up in
2021 and was engaged in providing technical
support and services of our Digital Marketing
tfeam to our customer, but its operating result
was far below expectations and forecast.
There are no reasonable means and prospect
of making any material improvement on the
financial performance of Beijing Star Engine in
the foreseeable future.

= EE (E
B SR (&)

RELCEEFTE  AEESEREARMERF
FERARBEIN  UHBEFETERMRRS
IS EENRMEEESSMEE Z LR E DT
(BREYEIREBETSERCLRLEER
MEAERAR (LtREZE ) RIETEERKE
EREERAR (EESKD)NEEREFE
TEO - REHERERE - A > KEB UK
AZBITER FEAEBERASKEHAR
B £ESBTEZABRERK - RIMBF
EERE AEBRATHEEEREK  UE—F
L BB TS HEED BAIRE o B> LBE
HPMEE R EWPP Marketing (Hong Kong)
Limited (Rt R 2T 5| ZEERFZFRLAF (1t
HETSIZ]) EE10.9%ER) stmRERE
HEeAEHRtRENSIZEEEERF 1
RENSIZER-ZZZ—FHY  EARMY
EFRERMANEBLTISHEBRERNEMN X
BFREK BEHKEXEREREHRER - H
RIEREMSIZEMS  RAURKRRBESEN
FENAISTHAEVBERRELETEALE -

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022-2023



CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Digital Marketing (Continued)

The digital marketing segment is currently at
a cross-road, the Group further passed the
resolution to liquidate Beijing Egmen Technology
Limited ("Egmen”), an indirectly non-wholly
owned subsidiary. Subsequent to the fiscal year
end, the remaining operation of the digital
marketing segment in Beijing and Guangzhou,
is down sized significantly and total number of
employees is reduced from 54 to 9 in last year.
In the dissolution of the two indirect non-wholly
owned subsidiaries, the Company is expected
fo retrieve and receive cash from distributions of
the net assets upon completion of the voluntary
winding up, the cash will be retained and
applied as general working capital of the Group.

Publishing and IPs Licensing Business

The Publishing and IPs licensing business
is stable. Revenue from this segment, were
HK$11,983,000 in 2023 and HK$12,052,000 in
2022. The Company is putting more effort on
publication book sales of IPs" owned or under
licenses, and to broaden the scope of licensing
business.

Retailing and Wholesales Business

The Group’'s premium wine is primary for
consumption by high-end consumer groups or
restaurants. During the year, the Company had
sold some wine stock and generated revenue of
HK$3,289,000, as compared to HKSnil in last year.
As the lockdowns of bars and entertainment
outlets are released, the Group expects the sale
of premium wine should revive due to recovery
of economy.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

FRBESE

PROSPECT

The prolonged Covid-19 pandemic had caused
adverse effect on business and slowed down
or delayed new business development. The
digital marketing business has faced unusual
challenges and has been scaling down
substantially its operation. The total number of
employees of the Group reduced from 84 in
2022 to 52 in 2023. Overall revenue dropped
about 50.9% from HK$62,365,000 in 2022 to
HK$30,600,000 in 2023.

Despite the outfbreak of COVID-19 pandemic
causing the Group to experience a reduction
of its business activities of intellectual properties
related business and digital marketing., fthe
Board strives hard to maximise value for the
shareholders by pursuing all potential viable
investment and business opportunities and
expanding ifs business segments in order to
broaden the revenue and profit base of the
Group. In light of (i) the anticipated recovery
in economy in the second half of 2023; and (ii)
increasing prevalence of technology in service
sector, the Group, with its aspirations on artificial
intelligence technology and previous research
and development, intends to further invest on
the development and production of software
and chipset with natural language processing
technology, with a focus on Chinese language
voice recognition, which is anticipated to have
broad applications. The Group is optimistic
about the general economic recovery and will
continue tfo strive to maintain and focus on
improving operational efficiency while moving
steadily and cautiously in fostering new business
development.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

PROSPECT (Continued)

The Group completed the subscription of
new shares under specific mandates to an
investor in May 2021, net raising approximately
HK$41,575,000 to strengthen the financial
position of the Group, adding working capital
to fund operation, new projects and business
development. Due to scaling back of operation
of the digital marketing segment, the Company
decided to change the use of the remaining
unutilised net proceeds from the Subscription in
the amount of approximately HK$17,420,000.00
fo be used as general working capital of the
Group including but not limited to salaries and
benefits, rental and utilities, other general and
administrative expenses for the Group, which is
expected to be fully utilised by the Group by 31
March 2024,

On 18 November 2022, the Group announced
a strategic alliance with iFlytek Co., Ltd. (®
KKK D BR2E) (CiFlytek”) which is a
well-known listed company in intelligent speech
and Al technologies in the Asia-Pacific region
(Shenzhen Stock Exchange Stock Code: 002230),
and Imitation Brain Technology (Shenzhen)
Co., Ltd. (5Bt GRYI) BR 2 A)to develop Al
speech technology real-time human interaction,
including design and implementation in both
software and embedded chipset domains and
produce kinds of offline Chinese language voice
recognition chips that can be broadly applied
to applications for various electronic devices
or application environments. The Group has
in the past been investing in the research and
development of artificial intelligence for Chinese
language recognition. The Group is expecting
this first application of such technology will
yield the first fruitful result of years of efforts
in supporting the research and development
of artificial intelligence for Chinese language
recognition. The Group believes the Al speech
recognition chips (i. e. language chips), being
one of the core components of loT interactions,
will be applied in the market research in digital
marketing as an analysis tool and will be broadly
used.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
FRBESE

PROSPECT (Continued)

On 12 June, 2023, the Company announced the
placement of convertible bonds to raise cash of
$98,500,000, net of which about $68,950,000 will
be used to the injection of capital for the natural
language processing technology development
and production of software and chipset, and
marketing expenses for products (the “"Natural
Language Processing Business”); about
$19,700,000 will be utilized for working capital for
the revitalization and promotion of the Group’s
intellectual properties; and the remaining
$9.850,000 will be retained for general working
capital of the Group, including the payment of
salary, rental expenses, IT services and other
office overhead of the Group. The placement
of convertible bonds has not completed at the
date of this annual report.

We foresee a pivotal change of operation with
focus on the natural language processing
business, while maintaining the other business
segments at sustainable level and generating
profits for the Group.

APPRECIATIONS

I would like to express my sincere thanks to the
Board of Directors, our management and staff
for their continued dedication in the past year,
and to all our customers, suppliers, business
partners and shareholders for their enthusiastic
support of the Group.

Kwan Kin Chung
Managing Director
Hong Kong, 28 June 2023
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FINANCIAL RESULTS

The Group’s consolidated net loss attributable to
the owners of the Company for the year ended
31 March 2023 increased by approximately
28.6% to HK$37,223,000 or HK2.2 cents per share
(2022: loss of HK$28,943,000 or HK1.8 cents per
share).

The analysis of consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income for the
year ended 31 March 2023 is as follows:

1.

Revenue

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the
Group’s overall revenue from operations
significantly decreased by approximately
50.9% from HK$62,365,000 to HK$30,600,000
of which approximately HK$11,983,000,
HKS$15,328,000, and HK$3,289,000 (2022:
HK$12,052,000, HK$50,313,000 and HK$nil)
were attributable to our business of
publishing and intellectual properties (*IPs”)
licensing, digital marketing, and retailing
and wholesales respectively.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THB w5

FINANCIAL RESULTS (Continued)

1.

Revenue (Continued)

The revenue from the digital marketing
business significantly decreased from
approximately HK$50,313,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2022 to HK$15,328,000
for the year ended 31 March 2023. The
revenue is affected by stumbled economic
conditions in China. The Group has
customers exited the market and some of
them experienced a significant reduction in
profits. As a result, the customers continued
to reduce their outsourcing of advertising
and marketing activities. When facing this
downward trend of business, the Group
focused on improving the profit margin of
projects undertaken and scaling back the
size of operations to conserve cash and
working capital. The Group fook actions
tfo consolidate the operation of digital
marketing segment. Subsequent to the
fiscal year end, the Group disposed and
commenced voluntarily winding up of three
indirect non-wholly owned subsidiaries
(details see description below).

The revenue for publishing and IPs licensing
business was broadly stable with a
decrease of approximately 0.6%.

The revenue of retailing and wholesales
segment records the sales of premium
wine of HK$3,289,000 for the year ended
31 March 2023 (31 March 2022: HKS$nil). As
the Covid-19 pandemic lockdown situation
has ended, it is expected the demand for
premium wine will pick up as consumption
and social activities are recovering.

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022-2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL RESULTS (Continued)

2.

Gross profit and gross profit
margin

The Group recorded a gross profit of
approximately HK$14,516,000 with gross
profit margin of 47.4% for the year ended
31 March 2023 as compared to the same
period of 2022, which recorded a gross
profit of HK$21,758,000 with a gross profit
margin of 34.9%.

The increase in gross profit margin was
the result of production cost control and
the adoption of new marketing strategy in
digital marketing segment.

Selling expenses

The selling expenses from operations
decreased from approximately
HKS$13,051,000 for the year ended 31 March
2022 to approximately HK$S4,891,000 for the
year ended 31 March 2023. The decrease
was mainly due tfo a drop in revenue and
rightsizing of the operation by consolidating
digital marketing business segment for the
year ended 31 March 2023.

Administrative expenses

The Group recorded an aggregate
administrative expense from operations
of approximately HK$31,078,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022:
HK$33,164,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THB w5

FINANCIAL RESULTS (Continued)

4.

Administrative expenses
(Continued)

The major expenses components for the
year ended 31 March 2023 were staff cost
of approximately HK$14,138,000 (2022:
HK$17,337,000), depreciation of right-of-use
assets of approximately HK$2,085,000 (2022:
HK$2,087,000), audit fee of approximately
HK$1,580,000 (2022: HK$1,450,000), listing
and corporate services fee of approximately
HK$1,213,000 (2022: HK$1,043,000),
advertising and promotion expenses
of approximately HK$1,230,000 (2022:
HK$30,000), and directors’ emoluments
of approximately HK$6,211,000 (2022:
HK$3,349,000), which included the
equity-settled share-based payment of
approximately HK$2,187,000 (2022: HKSnil).

The decrease in administrative expenses
from operations was mainly due to lessen
business activities under the Covid-19
pandemic and streamlining of operations
by continuous effort of cost control.

Other impairment losses

An impairment loss on right-of-use assets of
approximately HKS$1,778,000 (2022: HKSnil)
has been recognised due o the assessment
of the assets’ recoverability.

An impairment loss on intangible assets
of approximately HK$245,000 (2022:
HK$1,309,000) was recognised as the actual
sales generated from customer contracts
were lower than the expected demand.

For the year ended 31 March 2022,
approximately HK$1,452,000 for goodwill
arising from Hyperchannel Info has
been impaired, which was based on the
impairment assessment.

MERE (&
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL RESULTS (Continued)

6.

Other expenses

The other expenses from operations
recorded the research cost of
approximately HK$5,939,000 (2022:
HK$10,239,000) for the development of
the online platform of digital marketing
business. In 2023, legal, consultancy and
other professional fees of approximately
HKS$7,126,000 (2022: HK$9,284,000)
were paid to lawyers for providing legal
services and paid to consultants for
providing professional advices on business
operations and development. An expense
of approximately HK$1,566,000 for the
year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: HKS$nil)
in relation to share options granted to a
consultant by the Company had been
recognised.

Loss for the year

The Group recorded a loss from operations
of approximately HKS$38,655,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022:
HK$39,205,000). This was primarily due
tfo continuous sales decrease in digital
marketing segment. The Group will contfinue
to take actions to reduce costs and improve
our profitability going forward.

Also, as at 31 March 2023, the Group had
net assets of approximately HK$147,400,000
(31 March 2022: HK$190,894,000) and net
asset value per share of HK$0.09 (31 March
2022: HKS0.11).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THB w5

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL
RESOURCES

As of 31 March 2023, the Group had cash and
bank balances with financial institutions in
aggregate of approximately HK$61,497,000 and
a total of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss of approximately HK$8,621,000.

The Group has no significant exposure to
foreign exchange rate fluctuation except for the
tfransactions that are denominated in United
States dollars ("USD"), Australian dollars (*AUD")
and HKS relative to RMB.

As of 31 March 2023, the Group had a net
current asset of approximately HK$133,475,000
(31 March 2022: HK$179,547,000) and a
current ratio of approximately 10.0 (31 March
2022: 12.9). The Group’s total liabilities as of
31 March 2023 amounted fo approximately
HK$15,106,000 (31 March 2022: HK$15,119,000)
and the gearing ratio of the Group represented
approximately 10.9% (31 March 2022: 8.3%) to
equity attributable to owners of the Company.

In conclusion, the Directors are confident that
the Group will have sufficient liquidity to finance
its daily operations. As always, we remain
prudent and conservative in managing our
financial position to maintain maximum financial
flexibility.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

DEPOSIT PAID FOR INTANGIBLE
ASSET

As mentioned in Note 24, the Group had deposit
paid for the natural language processing
technology development and production
of software and chipset, approximately
HK$34,835,000 in total for the year ended 31
March 2023. Such intangible asset is for the
design and implementation in both software
and embedded chipset domains and to
produce kinds of offline Chinese language voice
recognition chips that can be broadly applied
to various electronic devices or application
environments.

ACQUISITION OF EQUITY INTEREST
OF SUBSIDIARIES

During the reporting period, the Group has
acquired of (i) additional 5% equity interest in
a subsidiary from an independent third party
for a cash consideration of HK$2,800,000;
and (ii) additional 15% equity inferest in a
subsidiary from an independent third party for
a cash consideration of HK$2,000,000. These
acquisitions were completed and equity interests
were transferred to the Group from independent
third parties.

EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As of 31 March 2023, the Group had a total of 52
employees of which 31 are based in Hong Kong
and 21 in the PRC. Total staff costs (excluding
share-based payments of HK$2,187,000) from
operations incurred for the year ended 31 March
2023 amounted to approximately HK$22,369,000
(31 March 2022: HKS$33,483,000). The
management periodically reviews remuneration
packages to ensure they remain competitive.
Certain directors and employees may receive
discretionary bonuses and incentive share
optfions based on the Group performance and
their individual merit and performance.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THB w5

CHANGE IN USE OF PROCEEDS
FROM THE SUBSCRIPTION OF NEW
SHARES UNDER SPECIFIC MANDATE

Reference is made fo (i) the announcement
issued by the Company on 1 March 2021, 30
April 2021, 6 May 2021 and 12 June 2023; and
(i) the Circular of the Company dated 9 April
2021 in relation to the placing of new shares
under the specific mandate.

On 1 March 2021, the Group and the subscriber
entered into a Share Subscription agreement,
pursuant to which the Company has
conditionally agreed to allot and issue, and the
subscriber has conditionally agreed to subscribe
for 278,000,000 subscription shares at the
subscription price of HK$0.15 per subscription
share.

The Subscription was approved by the
shareholders of the Company at the Special
General Meeting on 30 April 2021.

As disclosed in the circular of the Company
dated 9 April 2021, the Company intended to
use the net proceeds from the Subscription of
approximately HK$41,400,000 as follows:

1. approximately HK$8,600,000 as working
capital for building and strengthening the
marketing and technical team;

2. approximately HK$15,200,000 as working
capital for provision of management
services for key opinion leaders;
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CHANGE IN USE OF PROCEEDS
FROM THE SUBSCRIPTION OF NEW
SHARES UNDER SPECIFIC MANDATE
(Continued)

3. approximately HK$11,900,000 for potential
acquisition opportunities to enhance the
Group’s competitiveness and long-ferm
sustainability; and

4. approximately HK$5,700,000 as general
working capital of the Group.

As at 31 March 2023, the net proceeds from the
Subscription intfended to be utilised as working
capital for provision of management services
for key opinion leaders (i.e. approximately
HK$15,200,000) has not been utilised
accordingly; and approximately HK$2,220,000
infended for potential acquisition opportunities
to enhance the Group’s competitiveness and
long-term sustainability has not been utilised.
Therefore, total HK$17,420,000. of the net
proceeds from the Subscription has not been
utilised as at 31 March 2023.

On 12 June 2023, after careful consideration
and evaluation of the Group’s operations and
business strategy., the Directors resolved to
change the use of the net proceeds raised from
the Subscription which has not been utilised,
in the amount of approximately HK$17,420,000,
to be used as general working capital of the
Group including but not limited to salaries and
benefits, rental and utilities, other general and
administrative expenses for the Group, which is
expected to be fully utilized by the Group by 31
March 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THB w5

PROPOSED ACQUISITION

Acquisition of Entire Equity Interests in a
Company involving issue of consideration
Shares under Specific Mandate

On 28 May 2021, Vanity Holdings Limited (the
"Purchaser”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into an agreement with 4
Vendors, Guangxi Fuchuan Huafa Technology
Co., Lid. (the "Vendor A"), Shenzhen Qunyou
Intelligent Education Technology Co., Ltd. (the
"Vendor B"), Luo Weizhao (the "Vendor C")
and Liu Jubo (the "Vendor D") respectively,
pursuant to which the Purchaser has agreed
to purchase and the Vendors have agreed to
sell the entire registered and paid-up capital
in amount of RMB50,000,000 of Imitation Brain
Technology (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. ({5 B &l £ GF
) BR 2 7]) (the "IBT") for a total consideration
of HK$63,000,000, which shall be settled by
procuring the Company to issue and allot an
aggregate of 191,000,000 new Shares of the
Company to the Vendors at the issue prices of
approximately HK$0.33 for each Consideration
Shares.

This proposed acquisition is subject to the
approval by the shareholders of the Company at
Special General Meeting. Details of the Proposed
Acquisition were set out in the announcements
of the Company dated 2 June 2021, 26 August
2021, 29 October 2021, 29 December 2021, 28
February 2022, 29 April 2022, 27 June 2022, 29
September 2022, 25 November 2022, 30 January
2023 and 28 April 2023 respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PLACING OF CONVERTIBLE BONDS
UNDER GENERAL MANDATE

Reference is made to the announcement
issued by the Company on 12 June 2023. On
12 June 2023 (after trading hours of the Stock
Exchange), the Company entered into the
Placing Agreement with the Placing Agent,
pursuant to which the Placing Agent has
conditionally agrees to procure, as agent of
the Company, for no less than six Placees
to subscribe for the Convertible Bonds in
the aggregate principal amount of up to
HK$100,000,000 at the initial Conversion Price of
HKS$0.50 (subject to adjustment) per Share on
a best effort basis. Upon full conversion of the
Convertible Bonds, a maximum of 200,000,000
Conversion Shares will be allotted and issued
to the Placees. The gross proceeds from the
Placing will be up to HKS$100,000,000. The net
proceeds from the Placing (after deducting the
commission for the Placing and other costs and
expenses) will be approximately HK$98,500,000.

The placing of the Convertible Bonds has not
completed at the reporting date.

DISPOSAL OF A NON-WHOLLY
OWNED SUBSIDIARY AND
VOLUNTARY LIQUIDATION OF TWO
NON-WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES

Following the action of streamlining and
consolidation the digital marketing business
since the beginning of the last fiscal year, there
is organization structure simplification.

In April 2023, the Group entered into an
agreement to dispose of the entire equity
interest in Hyperchannel Info Tech., Ltd* 4t &
ERBEENKEAERADICHyperchannel Info”),
an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, to an independent third party for a
total cash consideration of RMB50,000.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THB w5

DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY AND
VOLUNTARY LIQUIDATION OF TWO
NON-WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

On June 15, 2023, the Group announced that
the shareholders of Beijing Egmen Technology
Limited (R Z&H MR HBRAE) (“Egmen”™),
and the shareholders of Beijing Star Engine
Information Technology Co., Ltd. (dt = £ 5| 2
EEREABRATF) (“Beijing Star Engine”), have
passed resolution to set up liquidation group
to liquidate Egmen and Beijing Star Engine
in accordance with the applicable laws and
regulations in the PRC.

The Group considers the voluntary liquidation of
Egmen and Beijing Star Engine is appropriate to
reduce its losses and reallocate the resources
and management effort to the Group’s other
existing businesses, as well as to explore further
business opportunities should any arise.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As of 31 March 2023, the Group did not have
any significant capital commitment (31 March
2022: nil).

Save as disclosed in note 26 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group did not have
any other significant contingent liabilities as at
31 March 2023.
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The Directors present their annual report and the
audited financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding
company. The activities of its principal associate
and subsidiaries are set out in notes 19 and
37 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively.

SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATE

Details of the Group’s associate and of the
Company’s subsidiaries at 31 March 2023 are
set out in notes 19 and 37 to the consolidated
financial statements respectively.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2023 and the state of the Company’s and
the Group’s affairs as at that date are set out in
the financial statements on pages 81 to 274.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate furnover during the year
attributable to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for 66.8% of the Group’s turnover
from continuing operations, of which 20.4% was
attributable to the largest customer.

The aggregate purchases during the year
attributable fo the Group’s five largest suppliers
accounted for 67.2% of the Group’s total
purchases from continuing operations, of which
15.8% was aftributable fo the largest supplier.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEHREE

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
(Continued)

At no time during the year did a Director, an
associate of a Director or a shareholder of
the Company (which to the knowledge of the
directors own more than 5% of the Company’s
share capital) have an interests in any of the
Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2023 including a fair review
of the business and discussion of the principal
risks and uncertainties facing the Group and
indication of likely future developments in the
Group’s business, are set out in the "Chairman’s
Statement”, "Management Discussion and
Analysis” and “Financial Summary” sections
of this Annual Report. Save as disclosed in the
Company’s announcement, no important event
affecting the Group that has occurred since the
end of the financial year ended 31 March 2023.

DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed during
the year of 2023, nor has any dividend been
proposed since the end of the reporting period
(2022: nil).

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group spent approximately
HK$61,000 on the acquisitions of property and
equipment.

Details of these and other movements during
the year in the property and equipment of the
Group are set out in note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements during the year in the
share capital and the share option schemes
of the Company are set out in notes 31 and
32 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and
the Company during the year are set out in
consolidated statement of changes in equity
and note 40 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As of 31 March 2023, the Company has
no reserves available for distribution to
shareholders.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and
liabilities of the Group for the past five financial
years is set out on pages 275 and 276.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year
and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia (Vice Chairman)
(resigned on 13 January 2023)

Mr. Kwan Kin Chung (Managing Director)

Mr. Yuen Kin

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFEREE

BRARBRE

FEERDARARBRESE ZZ2HFED
BIEN G S MR MEIIR32 -

it

FR AEERARAFEBEZEH D B ERER
DR RRGESMBHRRM L0

Ao Ik@EE
BE-E-_=Z=fZAZ=Z+—8B AAELET
HP IR TFRE2EE -

MBRE

AEEBRBETEMRFEZXEREERS
BEHMERNE275E K E276H -

5=

REAEEARBEAREAHFAL  A2F2

BENT

HITESE

BABELL (F5FE)
(R=ZEFZ=4F—HF+=HFHE)

BRBEL (EFRLE)
= f#rE

Fig 2022-2023 XLBEEERRAF

25



26

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEHREE

DIRECTORS (Continued)
Non-executive Director:

Mr. Wong Kon Man Jason (Chairman)
(appointed on 27 April 2022)

Dr. Liu Ka Ying Rebecca (Vice Chairman)
(appointed on 13 January 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Wong Kwan Kit
Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew
Mr. Mung Yat Lik

The Directors of the Company, including
Executive Directors, Non-executive Director, and
Independent Non-executive Directors ("INEDs")
are subject to retfirement by rotation and
re-election at the annual general meeting of
the Company. In accordance with Clauses 101
and T10(A) of the Company’s Bye-Laws, Messrs.
Kwan Kin Chung, Mung Yat Lik and Liu Ka Ying
Rebecca will refire and, being eligible, offer
themselves, for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting
has a service contract which is not terminable
by the Group within one year without payment
of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

The Company has received the annual
confirmation of independence from each of
the INEDs as required under Rule 3.13 of Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the ‘Listing
Rules”). The Company considered all INEDs to
be independent.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Mr. Kwan Kin Chung, aged 54, joined the
Group in 1998 and was appointed as an
Executive Director and Managing Director
of the Company in March 2008, Mr. Kwan is
a Chairman of the Corporate Governance
Committee of the Company and is a Director of
certain subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Kwan held
the position as vice president of the Group from
1998 to 2002 and was appointed as an acting
Chief Executive Officer of the Company in April
2007. During the period of serving as the Vice
President of the Group, Mr. Kwan was also the
vice publisher of Tin Tin Daily News where he
gained wealth of experience in media industry.
He holds a Bachelor Degree of Arts in Economics
from Zhongshan University, Guangzhou, PRC.
Mr. Kwan has extensive experience in businesses
restructuring and corporate investment.

Mr. Yuen Kin, aged 68, was appointed as
an Executive Director of the Company in
September 2017 and Mr. Yuen is a Director
of certain subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Yuen
holds a Master of Business Administration
degree from the University of Toronto, Canada.
He is a Chartered Professional Accountant in
Canada and he is a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
and of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. He has extensive experience in
corporate finance, financial planning, reporting
and management.
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ESEHREE

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Yuen is an Independent Non-executive
Director of Emerson Radio Corporation
(NYSEMKT: MSN), a company listed on The
American Stock Exchange. He is currently an
Independent Non-executive Director of Huayi
Tencent Entertainment Limited (stock code:
0419), a company listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
He had been a Non-executive Director of Lafe
Corporation Limited from April 2016 to December
2020 (SGX: AYB), a company listed on The
Singapore Stock Exchange. Lafe Corporation
Limited was privatized and delisted on 31 August
2020.

Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia, aged 62, joined the
Company in April 2008 and was appointed as
an Executive Director on 17 May 2011, and as
Vice Chairman of the Company on 26 March
2012. Ms. Chow was a member of the Corporate
Governance Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee
of the Company. Ms. Chow resigned as an
Executive Director and Vice Chairman of the
Company, and the member of the Governance
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee of the Company on
13 January 2023. Ms. Chow is the Director of L&W
Holding Limited which is one of the substantial
shareholders of the Company. Ms. Chow holds
a Master of Business Administration from Stillman
School of Business at Seton Hall University and
has more than 29 years of extensive experience
in executive development and corporate
management.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Wong Kon Man Jason, aged 59, was
appointed as Non-executive Director and
Chairman of the Board of the Company in April
2022, Mr. Wong is a member of the Corporate
Governance Committee of the Company.
Mr. Wong obtained a bachelor’'s degree in
business administration from the University of
Hawaii at Manoa in the United States. He has been
a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and the American Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Wong has
over 26 years of experience in fund management
and capital markets investment in Asia Pacific,
primarily investing in Al, TMT, gaming, consumer,
biomedical and more.

Mr. Wong has been hailed as ‘the godfather
of special purpose acquisition companies
("SPACs") in Asia’, and has sponsored, advised,
or served on the management team of multiple
U.S.-listed SPACs since 2014. Of his U.S. SPAC
portfolio, three have already successfully
initiated or completed business combinations.
The first of these was DT Asia Investment Limited
(Nasdaqg: CADT), for which Mr. Wong served as
an independent director. He also served as the
chairman and chief executive officer of Norwich
Investment Limited, the U.S. SPAC Sponsor of the
SPAC Tottenham Acquisition | Limited (Nasdag:
TOTA). He is also the director of Ace Global
Investment Limited, the U.S. SPAC Sponsor of the
SPAC Ace Global Business Acquisition Limited
(Nasdaqg: ACBA). Mr. Wong is the sole manager
(U.S. equivalent of ‘chairman’) of Soul Venture
Partners LLC, the U.S. SPAC Sponsor of the
newly-listed SPAC Inception Growth Acquisition
Limited (Nasdagqg: IGTA). He is also involved
in several SPACs which are in the process of
becoming listed and served as the strategic
advisor of the SPACs or director of their U.S.
SPAC Sponsor. Mr. Wong was appointed as the
executive director and chief executive officer of
Ace Eight Acquisition Corporation, a SPAC which
has filed a listing application to the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Non-executive Director (Continued)

Mr. Wong has been serving as the founding
partner and on the board of directors of
Whiz Partners Asia Limited, a joint venture
company co-founded by Whiz Partners Inc.
Whiz Partners Asia Limited has managed the
business development activities of the portfolio
companies of Whiz Asia Evolution Fund, and
Mr. Jason Wong has been an investment
committee member for the fund since April 2013.
Whiz Partners Asia Limited also launched the
China Hero Fund as an exclusive gaming fund
partner with leading gaming company Sony
Interactive Entertainment.

Mr. Wong also served as a financial consultant
of Transpac Capital Limited (one of the largest
and oldest private equity funds and venture
capital funds in Asia) from May 1993 to February
2000.

Mr. Wong is currently an Independent
Non-executive Director of Bamboos Health Care
Holdings Limited (stock code: 2293), a company
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Wong had been an
Independent Non-executive Director of Shinsun
Holdings (Group) Co. Ltd. from November 2020
tfo January 2022 (stock code: 2599), a company
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Non-executive Director (Continued)

Dr. Liu Ka Ying Rebecca, aged 53, was
appointed as a Non-executive Director of the
Company and as Vice Chairman of the Board
in January 2023. Dr. Liu possesses experience
in fund management, finance, investment, as
well as accounting and financial management,
she is currently the senior vice president of
Fortune (Shanghai) Limited. Dr. Liu is a member
of the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (AICPA), lllinois CPA Society (ICPAS)
of the United States and Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (HKICPA). Dr. Liu
obtained a double bachelor’s degree in Business
Administrative Studies from York University,
Canada with major in management and in
accounting (with honour) in 1992 and 1994,
respectively. She also obtained a doctoral’s
degree in business administration from Victoria
University of Switzerland in November 2011. Dr
Liu is also a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Bankers, Associafion of Women Accountants
(Hong Kong) Limited, and Hong Kong
Professionals and Senior Executives Association.
She was also a former member of the Tenth
and the Eleventh Jilin Provincial Committee
of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference.

From June 1996 to March 2002, Dr. Liu served
as the general manager for the Asia and China
region of The PRG-Schultz International, Inc., (a
company listed on NASDAQ). In January 2007,
Dr. Liu was appointed as the chief executive
officer of AllPanther Asset Management Limited
and has served at such position since then.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Non-executive Director (Continued)

Dr. Liu is currently an Independent Non-executive
Director of Logan Group Company Limited
(stock code: 3380) (previous company name is
Logan Property Holdings Company Limited), SITC
International Holdings Company Limited (stock
code: 1308) and Renaissance Asia Silk Road
Group Limited (stock code: 274) , all of which
are companies listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Dr. Liu is the sister of Dr. Liu Hin Wang, Leris, the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Kwan Kit, aged 51, was appointed
as an Independent Non-executive Director
of the Company in July 2018. Mr. Wong is
the Chairman of the Audit Committee, a
member of the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee of the
Company. Mr. Wong holds a Master of Business
Administration degree from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong. He is a fellow member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. Wong has over 22 years
of experience in accounting and financial
management, mergers and acquisitions
gained from certain finance related positions in
companies listed in Hong Kong.

Mr. Wong is currently an Independent
Non-executive Director of Man Sang
International Limited (stock code: 0938) and
Sprocomm Intelligence Limited (stock code:
1401), both of companies listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors
(Continued)

Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew JpP, aged 44, was
appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company in April 2015. Mr. Fan is
the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee,
a member of the Audit Committee and the
Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Fan
is a practicing certified public accountant in
Hong Kong with over 16 years of experience.
He holds a Bachelor Degree of Business
Administration (Accounting and Finance) from
The University of Hong Kong and a Bachelor
Degree in Laws from the University of London.
Mr. Fan is the fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants in the United
Kingdom and a fellow member of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He
is also a committee member of the tenth fo
fwelfth Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference of the Zhejiang Province, the fourth
and fifth Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference of Shenzhen, the tenth and
eleventh Vice Chairman of Zhejiang Province
United Young Association and a member of the
fourteenth National Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors
(Continued)

Mr. Fan is currently an Independent
Non-executive Director of Chuang’s China
Investments Limited (stock code: 0298), Sing
Tao News Corporation Limited (stock code:
1105), Nameson Holdings Limited (stock code:
1982), China Aircraft Leasing Group Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1848) and China Overseas
Grand Oceans Group Ltd. (stock code: 0081),
all of which are companies listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. Mr. Fan had been an Independent
Non-executive Director of Fulum Group Holdings
Limited from October 20714 to May 2021 (stock
code: 1443), Sinomax Group Limited from
March 2014 to June 2020 (stock code: 1418),
Space Group Holdings Limited from December
2017 to August 2022 (stock code: 2448) and
Universal Star (Holdings) Limited from May 2019
to October 2020 (stock code: 2346), the shares
of all companies are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited,
and CNC Holdings Limited from January 2018 to
August 2020 (stock code: 8356) and Omnibridge
Holdings Limited from July 2017 to November
2020 (stock code: 8462), the shares of both
companies are listed on the Growth Enterprise
Market ("GEM") of the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors
(Continued)

Mr. Mung Yat Lik, aged 65, was appointed
as an Independent Non-executive Director of
the Company in December 2018. Mr. Mung
is a member of the Audit Committee of the
Company.

He has 34 years of experience in investment
management, tourism, logistics and investment
property. In particular, he has extensive
experience in cooperation with state-owned
enterprises in investment and operations, as well
as cable media management. Mr. Mung acted
as the Vice President and general manager
of Guangdong Southern Yinshi Cable Media
Company Limited (BERE S IR\ KEEEBRAF)
and as a director of Hoteline Network Limited.
Mr. Mung is currently the Managing Director of
Guangdong Guoye Greenhouse Technology
Limited (ERBEEZERKZBRDQT), the Vice
President and investment director of Xiamen
Xinyou Logistics Company Limited (BEFI & X YR
B R F)and the Vice President and investment
director of Shenxing (Hainan) Travel Limited (1%
17 CBE) RITHBRQA).
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Senior Management

Dr. Liu Hin Wang Leris ("Dr. Liu”), aged 49, was
appointed as Chief Executive Officer ("CEO") of
the Company on 5 March 2023, has more than
25 years of working experience with more than
10 years experience in information technology
and artificial intelligence industry in the People’s
Republic of China and Southeast Asia. Prior
to joining the Group, Dr. Liu was the CEO of
Intelligence Smart Company Limited, a company
principally engaged in information fechnology
and artificial intelligence industry with the
main focus on e-commerce management and
information engineering. From 2010 to 2020, Dr.
Liu was a Senior Consultant of Chia Tai Land
Co., Limited, a subsidiary of Charoen Pokphand
Group Company Ltd., which is principally
engaged in property, fund and investment
business, and was responsible for research and
marketing analysis.

Dr. Liu obtained a doctoral’s degree in business
administration from Victoria University of
Switzerland in November 2011.

Dr. Liu is the brother of Dr. Liu Ka Ying, Rebecca,
the Non-executive Director of the Company and
the Vice Chairman of the Board.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Senior Management (Continued)

Mr. Sun Wei, aged 43, was appointed as a
Chief Executive Officer of the Company in
November 2021 and resigned on 12 January
2023. Mr. Sun holds a Master Degree of
Science in Accountancy from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. Mr. Sun has over 15 years
of experience in financial management, equity
investment and asset management.

Mr. Sun has been the Chief Executive Officer of
Sunny Wealth International Investment Limited
from December 2018 to November 2021 and
he was responsible for formulating the overall
corporate development strategy, managing
daily affairs as well as leading investment and
risk management. From 2010 fo 2018, he was
the senior managements of Hong Kong Green
Dynasty International Co., Limited, Cornucopiae
Asset Management Limited and Cypress House
Asset Management Company Limited.

Mr. Lam Tin Lung Ivan, aged 51, joined
Culturecom Group as Chief Technology Officer
in October 2021. Mr. Lam has over 26 years of
technical hand-on experience in design and
implementation on large scale computing
architecture & infrastructure. He has extensive
experience of over 16 years in management of
multi-location teams in global environment, as
well as 9 year on business strategic planning
and DevOps leadership for e-commerce &
cloud computing projects. Mr. Lam holds duel
Master of Science in Computer Science and in
Mechanical Engineering from the University of
California, Los Angeles in USA.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Senior Management (Continued)

Ms. Ho Wei Hwa, Vera ("Ms. Ho"), aged 51,
was appointed as Chief Financial Officer of
the Company in May 2023, who is responsible
for overseeing the Group’s finance functions,
corporate finance, treasury, financial planning
and analysis, risk management, and financial
reporting. Ms. Ho has more than 20 years of
working experience in finance and accounting
industry. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Ho
held various senior positions at multinational
companies in the insurance, entertainment, and
global supply chain industries. Ms. Ho holds an
EMBA degree from Nafional Chengchi University,
and a Bachelor of Administrative Studies double
degree from York University, Canada, honors,
with major in management and in accounting.
Ms. Ho is a member of American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (AICPA).

Mr. Yeung Tsz Kit Alban, aged 44, joined
the Group as Financial Conftroller in August
2021. Mr. Yeung is a fellow member of both
The Chartered Governance Institute (formerly
"The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators”) in England and The Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute (formerly "The
Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries”).
Mr. Yeung is also a fellow member of the CPA
Australia and an associate of the Chartered
Institute of Management Accountants. He
has over 16 years of experience in corporate
secretarial practice, accounting, auditing, and
finance.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Senior Management (Continued)

Mr. Yue Chi Wing Toby, aged 57 joined the
group in 2014. Mr. Yue is a member of Corporate
Governance Committee of the Company and is
the General Manager of Culturecom Limited, a
subsidiary of the Group. He is responsible for the
overall planning, development and marketing
of the Group’s publishing business. Mr. Yue has
over 37 years of extensive experience in the
publishing industry and has been involved in the
publication operation of various comic books in
Hong Kong. He is also the founder of THE ONE
Comics Publishing Limited which was acquired
by the Group in 2014.

Ms. Lee Yuk Ping, aged 55, joined the Group in
September 1997. Ms. Lee holds a Master Degree
of Professional Accounting. She is a fellow
member of both the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. She has
extensive experience in auditing, accounting
and corporate finance.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEHREE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted its share option scheme
(the "2013 Scheme”) on its 2013 annual general
meeting held on 12 August 2013.

The number of shares available for issue under
the 2013 Scheme as of the date of the Annual
Report is 14,000,000 shares which in representing
approximately 0.84% of the issued share capital
of the Company as of that date.

Details of movement of the share options
granted to the Directors and others of the
Company under 2013 Scheme as of this Annual
Report are as follows:

BRESE
AAABR-B-—=ENAT A2 -F
—CERRBAFAS LEABBRETE (=T
—= 5B

BEAFHRA RE-F-—=FE T FT&HT
Z B 11 %514,000,0000% 5 A2 B 2 EHTR
A%90.84% °

REAFHBEH RE-ZF-—=FEARTAL
AESENEMALTZBREZBFHFBENOT :

Number of share options

BREHE
Granted/
Exercised/
At Cancelled Lapsed At Exercise
1 April  duringthe  duringthe 31 March  price per
Date of Grant 2022 year year 2023 share Exercise period
R-B-Z%F EFRERE/ it 2
REAH MA-B /%% FREAN ZA=t-A SROKE TEH
HKS
B
(a) Director
gz
Wong Kon Man Jason (i) 27 April 2022 (Note 2) - 8,000,000 - 8,000,000 0.72 27 April 2022 o 26 April 2025
£33 it Sbet 1.} 0 (Nofe 1) “E-§MACHLAE
iE7) (&) ZECREMAZTAR
(b) Others
Hif
Consultant of the (if) 27 April 2022 (Note 2) - 6,000,000 - 6,000,000 0.72 27 April 2022 fo 26 April 2025
Group
FEBZE “E-EMA=tLR (Nofe 1) “$-ZEMA=TLAZ
(W3E2) (W31 ZECREMAZTAR
- 14,000,000 - 14,000,000
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Confinued)

Notes:

1

On 27 April 2022, 14,000,000 share options were
granted fo the non-executive Director and consultant of
the Group, respectively, in order to reward the Director
and consultant for the business development of the
Group. These share options have an exercise price
of HK$0.72 per share and an exercise period ranging
from 27 April 2022 to 26 April 2025. The price of the
Company’s shares at the date of grant was HK$0.72 per
share.

The share options exercise period is commenced from
the date of grant for three years. The share options
may be exercised at any time within the options period
provided that the options have been vested. As at 31
March 2023, all share options have been vested.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors of the
Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEHREE

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS ERHE

(A) Interests of the Directors (AEEZER
As of 31 March 2023, the interests and RZBEZ=ZF=ZA=Z+—H ' xXRAFEE
short positions of each Director of the EREAPEIREEELIE(EERBSRE
Company in the shares, underlying shares E%M ([HHEREBEGAL ] EXVIR) 2R
or debentfures of the Company and % AR NEEEZTFEE HEO)IREE
its associated corporations (within the SREBEGROIEXVBETRESHHHEAE
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and AKABRKREBIF (BEBREZERBE KL
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")) which are BFBGRNEEFRRAEE 2REIAXR)
required (a) to be notified to the Company H () IRIEE F R HE R 5] £3521% H i #%
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to EFREREMA RCE)RBELTARES
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO ETHRSXZEETFAENE RN AR
(including interests or short positions R ZEERKE -

which he/she is taken or deemed fto have
under such provisions of the SFO); or (b)
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
enfered in the register referred to therein;
or (¢) pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Companies to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange:

Interests in the shares of the Company REALNGRGZE
Approximate
percentage of
Number of issued share
Name of Director Capacity Nature of interest shares held capital
HERTRE
ESng 5 BatE R0 8E ZBREDH
Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia (i) Beneficial owner Personal interest 32,962,800 16.60%
BEEZL BExZBEAA ERN;
(Note 1) (i) Interests of a confrolled Corporate interest 178,767,312
(KtaE1) corporation NEER (Note 2)
RERR2ER (HH&E2)
(iii) Interests of spouse Personal inferest 65,245,000
[T B AR (Note 3)
(HH&E3)
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS
(Continued)
(A) Interests of the Directors

(Continued)

Notes:

1. Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia (*Ms. Chow"), resigned as
an Executive Director and the Vice Chairman of
the Company on 13 January 2023.

2. Ms. Chow has controlling interests in L&W Holding
Limited ("L&W"), L&W is beneficially interested in
178,767,312 shares in the Company. Accordingly,
Ms. Chow is deemed to be interested in
178,767,312 shares in the Company under the
SFO.

3. Mr. Dizon Basilio ("Mr. Dizon"), the spouse of
Ms. Chow, is beneficially interested in 56,443,200
shares in the Company. Furthermore, Mr. Dizon
is the legal and beneficial owner as to 80% of
Sociedade Gold Mind Telecom, Limitada which in
turn is beneficially interested in 8,801,800 shares
in the Company. Therefore, Ms. Chow is deemed
to be interested in 65,245,000 shares in the
Company under the SFO in aggregate.

All interests stated above represent long
positions.

Save as disclosed above, as of 31
March 2023, none of the Directors of the
Company had interests or short positions
in any securities of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which are
required (a) to be nofified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant fo
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions
which he/she is taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO); or (b)
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein;
or (¢) pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Companies to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEHREE

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

B E (E)

(Continued)
(A) Interests of the Directors (ADAEEzfER (E)

(Continued)

Interests in the share options of the RAEANGIEREZE

Company

Approximate
percentage of
Nature of Number of Exercise price issued share
Name of Director Capacity interest share options per share Exercisable period capital
HERTRE
Esps ) EitE BREHE BROKE s z#nEsk
HKS$
B
Mr. Wong Kon Man Beneficial Personal 8,000,000 0.72 27 April 2022 to 0.48%
Jason owner inferest (Note 1&2) 26 April 2025
IBESE ERERA fEARR (WEE1&2) “E--FMA-THA
£
ZECREMABZTRA

Notes: Mi&E

1. Mr. Wong Kon Man Jason appointed as NED and 1. IR YAENR - E-_—ENA -+ tHESHE
Chairman of the Board on 27 April 2022. AFPBTESRETEER -

2. The share options exercise period is commenced 2. BRETEHERTF OB ZEEM-B
from the date of grant for three years. The share BRETHRERECERSBE2EREHANTME
options may be exercised at any fime within the BRITFE - BEZE-_=ZF=A=1+—H 2%
options period provided that the options have BRECERS -
been vested. As of 31 March 2023, all share
options have been vested.

All interests stated above represent long Liifr BRI AHE o

positions.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFEREE

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS = E (&)

(Continued)

(A) Interests of the Directors (AESEzER (E)
(Continued)
Interests in the share options of the RELNGIEIREZ#EzZ (F)

Company (Continued)

Save as disclosed above, as of 31 March
2023, none of the Director nor Chief
Executive of the Company had interests
or short positions in any securities of
the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) which are required (a) to
be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests or
short positions which he/she is taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO); or (b) pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, to be enfered in the register
referred to therein; or (¢) pursuant tfo the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Companies to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

(B) Interests of Substantial Shareholders

As of 31 March 2023, so far as is known to
any Director or Chief Executive Officer of
the Company, the following person had
an interest or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded
in the register to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO:

BREXFIBBEEN R-FB-_=F=A
ZS+-HB ARAFAEBRITHAZIHER
RARHEEMBEEE (EERES RS
BRPIEXVER) 2R S HhERAQREE
ZRBMEFRPEXVEETRE8DFAEHNE
AABRBIF (BERERSZRBEMRD
ZERIBEFRREAERE 2ERIAXR)
H(L)REE F & B E R P E3521% A 87
HRzEALzETMA RE)RBELTA
AEFETESRGZBETFAEAER
RARBRFrZEBIKR °

(B) FERRERS
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AR RDAEERD2EEZLARAE
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEHREE

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS
(Continued)

(B) Interests of Substantial Shareholders
(Continued)

Interests in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company

B E (E)

(B) EER R = (&)

REXGARGRIEER G2 #E

Approximate

Number percentage of
of shares issued share
Name Capacity held capital
HERITRE
= g7} FERGHE ZEBNB DL
L&W Holding Limited Beneficial owner (Note 1, 2) 178,767,312 10.71%
BEREBA (T~ 2)
Mr. Dizon Basilio Beneficial owner, interests in a 276,975,112 16.6%
B EE controlled corporation and
interests of spouse (Note 1)
EREEA ZERQT
R R BER (aET)
Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia Beneficial owner, interests in a 276,975,112 16.6%

AEEZL

controlled corporation and
interests of spouse (Note 2)
BEREAA FEAT

ZRESREBERS (MEE2)
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFEREE

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS = E (&)

(Continued)
(B) Interests of Substantial Shareholders (B) TERR#E= (&)
(Continued)

Interests in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company (Confinued)

Notes:

1. Mr. Dizon Basilio ("Mr. Dizon") is beneficially
interested in 56,443,200 shares in the Company.
Mr. Dizon also has conftrolling interests as to
65% in L&W Holding Limited ("L&W") and L&W is
beneficially interested in 178,767,312 shares in
the Company. Furthermore, Mr. Dizon is the legal
and beneficial owner as to 80% of Sociedade
Gold Mind Telecom, Limitada which in turn is
beneficially interested in 8,801,800 shares in the
Company. Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia ("Ms. Chow"),
the spouse of Mr. Dizon and the Director of the
Company (resigned on 13 January 2023), is
beneficially interested in 32,962,800 shares in the
Company. Accordingly, Mr. Dizon is deemed to be
interested in 276,975,112 shares in the Company
under the SFO in aggregate.

2. Ms. Chow is beneficially interested in 32,962,800
shares in the Company. Ms. Chow is the spouse of
Mr. Dizon and has controlling interests (as to 35%) in
L&W. Accordingly, She is deemed to be inferested in
276,975,112 shares in the Company under the SFO.

All interests stated above represent long
positions.

Save as disclosed above, as of 31 March
2023, the Directors and the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company were not aware
of any person who had an interest or
short position in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company which would fall
to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO, or which were recorded in the
register to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO.
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Telecom, LimitadaZz80%REEZER EE
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEHREE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

No confracts of significance to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party
and in which a Director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors nor their respective
associates had any business which competed
or was likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights
under the Company’s Bye-Laws, or the laws of
Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant fo the Company’s Bye-Laws, every
Director or other officers of the Company shall
be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets
of the Company against all losses or damages
which he may sustain or incur in or about the
execution of the duties of his office, or otherwise
in relation thereto.

The Company has arranged appropriate
Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance
coverage for the Directors and Officers of the
Group.
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REPURCHASE, SALE OR
REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries have
repurchased, sold or redeemed any of the
listed securities in the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2023.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Company, with
written terms of reference in line with the code
provision set out in the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices (the "Code”) as
stipulated in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”)
on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "Stock Exchange”), currently comprises
of three Independent Non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Wong Kwan Kit, Mr. Fan Chun
Wah Andrew and Mr. Mung Yat Lik. The Audit
Committee of the Company has reviewed with
the management the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group and discussed
the internal control, risk management and
financial reporting matters including the review
of audited financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2023.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEHREE

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year, the Group has complied
with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a material impact on the business of
the Group in all material aspect and there
were no circumstances of material breach
or non-compliance of applicable laws and
regulations.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to achieving
environmental sustainability. The Group
endeavours to comply with the relevant laws
and regulations regarding environmental
protection and adopt effective measures
to achieve efficient use of resources, waste
reduction and energy saving. For instance,
the in-house manufacturing facilities of the
Group operate in compliance with the relevant
environmental rules and regulations. The Group
reviews its environmental policies on a regular
basis.

In accordance with Rule 13.91 and the ESG
Reporting Guide contained in Appendix 27 to
the Listing Rules, the Company’s Environmental,
Social and Governance Report will be available
on our website in due course.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principle corporate governance
practices adopted by the Company is set out on
pages 53 to 71 of the annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS OF
LISTED ISSUERS

The Company has adopted the "Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers” as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules as its own code for dealing in securities
of the Company by the Directors (the “Model
Code”). Having made specific enquiry of all
Directors, the Company confirmed that all
Directors have complied with the required
standard as set outf in the Model Code during
the year ended 31 March 2023.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly
available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this
report, the Company has maintained sufficient
public float as required under the Listing Rules.
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AUDITOR

The financial statements of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2023 were audited
by Gary Cheng CPA Limited ("Gary Cheng”),
who will retire and a resolution to re-appoint
Gary Cheng as auditor of the Company will be
proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Kwan Kin Chung
Managing Director

Hong Kong. 28 June 2023
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INTRODUCTION

The Group is committed to achieving high
standards of corporate governance which
is crucial to the development of the Group
and safeguard the interests of the Company’s
shareholders. To accomplish this, the Group has
adopted practices which meet the Code as set
out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. During
the year, the Company has complied with the
Code except for the following deviafions:

CODE PROVISION B.2.2

Under the code provision B.2.2, Non-executive
Directors should be appointed for a specific
term, subject to re-election. The current
Independent Non-executive Directors of the
Company are not appointed for a specific term.
However, all Directors (including Executive and
Non-executive) of the Company are subject to
retirement by rotation at the Annual General
Meeting in accordance with Bye-Law 110(A)
of the Bye-Laws of the Company. As such, the
Company considers that sufficient measures
have been taken to ensure that the Company’s
corporate governance practices are no less
exacting than those in the Code.
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CODE PROVISION F.2.2

Under the code provision F.2.2, the Chairman
of the Board should attend the annual general
meeting. On 27 April 2022, the Company
has appointed Mr. Wong Kon Man Jason as
Non-executive Director and Chairman of the
Board of the Company to fill up the vacancy
of Chairman. The Chairman had attended the
annual general meeting held on 23 August
2023.

MINIMUM NUMBERS OF
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
COMMITTEE

According to the written tferms of reference,
the Corporate Governance Committee (the
"CGC") comprised of 4 members. Following the
resignation of Mr. Huang Mingguo on 2 July
2021, Ms. Hung Wai Kwan on 8 August 2021
and Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia on 13 January
2023 and the appointment of Mr. Wong Kon
Man Jason and Mr. Yue Chi Wing on 28 June
2022, the Company currently comprises of three
Corporate Governance Committee members,
Mr. Kwan Kin Chung, Mr. Wong Kon Man Jason
and Mr. Yue Chi Wing respectively. The Board will
commence a process to identify replacement so
as to full the written terms of reference of Corporate
Governance Committee.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code
as set out in Appendix 10 fo the Listing Rules
as its own code for dealing in securities of
the Company by the Directors. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, the Company
confirmed that all Directors have complied with
the required standard as set out in the Model
Code during the year ended 31 March 2023.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at 31 March 2023, the Board comprises of the
Chairman, the Vice Chairman, the Managing
Director, one Executive Director and three
Independent Non-executive Directors. The
Board of Directors is principally accountable
to the shareholders and is responsible for the
leadership and control of the Group including
overseeing the Group’s businesses, strategic
directions, financial performance, setting
objectives and business development plans,
and moniftoring the performance of the senior
management.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Board of Directors meets regularly
throughout the year to formulate overall
strategy, monitor business development as
well as the financial performance of the Group
and has formal procedures on matters for
consideration and decision-making. The Board
of Directors has delegated certain authorities
to the senior management for the day-to-day
management of the Group’s operations. The
aftendance of Directors at the Board Meetings
and General Meeting held during the year is as
follows:

Exg (&)

EXESFEEHERERE  UHTRERK -
EEAKEZEBRRERMBRE UHEF
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Attendance/ Attendance/
Number of Annual
Directors Board Meetings General Meeting
HERE, HERY,/
Bx Ezged¥y BRRBEFAE
Executive Directors HITES
Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia BEELL (F/£F) 3/3 1/1
(Vice Chairman) (R=FEZ=ZF—-F1=ZHET)
(resigned on 13 January 2023)
Mr. Kwan Kin Chung BARHBLE (EFLLHE) 6/6 /1
(Managing Director)
Mr. Yuen Kin = RBEAE 6/6 11
Non-executive Director FHITES
Mr. Wong Kon Man Jason IBRNEE 5/5 11
(Chairman of the Board) (BEEEZ/E)
(appointed on 27 April 2022) (R=—F=-Z#FMWA=+tH
EBZHF)
Dr. Liu Ka Ying Rebecca BREE T 2/2 0/0
(Vice Chairman of the Board) (BEE2FL/E)
(appointed on 13 January 2023) (R=—F=-=fF—-HF+=H
EBZT)
Independent Non-executive Directors B ¥ #HTES
Mr. Wong Kwan Kit BEAKE 6/6 1/1
Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew SERELE 6/6 11
Mr. Mung Yat Lik E—-hx&E 6/6 1/1
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Company has received the annual
confirmation of independence from each of
the Independent Non-executive Directors as
required under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Company considered all Independent
Non-executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS
TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to code provision A.2.1 of the CG
Code, all Directors should participate in
contfinuous professional development to refresh
their knowledge and skills. This is fo ensure
that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. Reading materials on
relevant topics are issued to Directors where
appropriate. Each Director received induction
on the first occasion of his/her appointment,
so as to ensure that he/she has appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of
the Group and that he/she is sufficiently aware
of his/her responsibilities and obligations under
the Listing Rules and other relevant legal and
regulatory requirements.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, all
Directors participated in continuous professional
development relevant to the duties and
responsibilities of the Directors under the
relevant legal and regulatory requirement.
Such continuous professional development was
delivered via reading materials in relation to
legal or regulatory updates and/or attending
fraining courses provided by the legal advisors.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an Audit
Committee with written terms of reference which
is aligned with the code provisions set out in the
Code.

The Audit Committee meets at least twice
a year for reviewing the reporting of annual
and interim results and other information to
the shareholders, and the effectiveness and
objectivity of the audit process. Additional
meetings may be held by the Audit Committee
from time to time to discuss special projects
or other issues which the Audit Committee
considers necessary. The external auditors of
the Company may request a meetfing if they
consider that one is necessary. The Audit
Committee also provides an important link
between the Board and the Company’s auditors
in matters coming within the scope of its terms
of reference and keeps under review the
independence and objectivity of the auditors.

Currently, the Audit Committee comprises of
three Independent Non-executive Directors.
The Audit Committee was chaired by Mr. Wong
Kwan Kit.

During the year, the Audit Committee reviewed
with the management the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group and
discussed about auditing, internal conftrol, risk
management and financial reporting matters
including the review of the audited financial
statements and unaudited interim financial
statements.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Confinued)

During the year, the members and attendance
of the meetings of the Audit Committee are as
follows:

LAFERRSE
FRERE ()
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Attendance/

Number of

Directors Meetings
HERE,

' =E 8
Mr. Wong Kwan Kit BEERNEE 3/3
Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew SBERELLE 3/3
Mr. Mung Yat Lik R—hEHE 3/3

ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

Under Code Provision C.2.1, the roles of
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer ("CEO")
should be separated and should not be
performed by the same individual. The division
of responsibilities between the Chairman and
CEO should be clearly established and set out
in writing. The Chairman’s roles are convening
meetings of the Board and make decision of the
Group'’s business strategies. After Mr. Sun Wei
resigned as CEO of the Company on 12 January
2023, Dr. Liu Hin Wang Leris appointed as CEO
of the Company on 5 March 2023. The CEO of
Company is primarily responsible for the daily
operations of the Group in accordance with the
goals set up by the Board.
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ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER (Confinued)

The CEO is also supported by other Executive
Directors and Senior Management. The Board
believes that the Company has already a strong
corporate governance structure in place to
ensure effective oversight of management. The
Board will continue to review the effectiveness
of current management strucfure from time
to time and may make changes if and when
appropriate. The Board will also continue to
monitor and review the Company’s corporate
governance practices to ensure compliance
with the Code.

TERMS OF NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Under the code provision B.2.2, Non-executive
Directors should be appointed for a specific
term, subject to re-election. The current
Independent Non-executive Directors of the
Company are not appointed for a specific term.
However, all Directors (including Executive, and
Independent Non-executive Directors) of the
Company are subject to retirement by rotation
at the annual general meeting in accordance
with Bye-Law 110(A) of the Bye-Laws of the
Company. As such, the Company considers that
sufficient measures have been taken to ensure
that the Company’s corporate governance
practices are no less exacting than those in the
Code.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee of the Group has
been established in November 2005 with written
tferms of reference in line with the Code. The
Remuneration Committee will meet as and when
necessary or as requested by any Committee
member to consider and recommend fto
the Board the Group’s remuneration policy
and structure and fo review and determine
the remuneration packages of the Executive
Directors and senior management. The Directors
are remunerated with reference to their
respective duties and responsibility with the
Company, the Company’s performance and
current market situation.

Currently, the Remuneration Committee
comprises of two Independent Non-executive
Directors and one Executive Director. The
Remuneration Committee was chaired
by Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew. Details of
emoluments of the Directors from the Group
for the year are as disclosed in note 15 of the
consolidated financial statements.

Statistics of each Remuneration Committee
member’s attendance at the Remuneration
Committee Meeting:
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Attendance/

Directors No. of Meetings

HERE,

= SRR

Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew SEERERL 3/3

Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia AEELZL 11

(resigned on 13 January 2023) (R=FB=-=F—F1+=ZHEFF)

Mr. Wong Kwan Kit BEERNEE 3/3

Mr. Kwan Kin Chung BREEEE 1/1
(appointed on 13 January 2023) (R=ZBEZ=F—H+=HEZH)
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

According to the Bye-laws of the Company,
the Company established a Nomination
Committee on 26 March 2012 with written terms
of reference, to formulate nomination policy for
the Board’s consideration and implement the
Board’s approved nomination policy. The Board
of Directors has the power from time to time to
appoint any person as a Director either to fill a
casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board
of Directors. The nomination shall be taken in
consideration of the nominee’s qualification,
ability and potential contribution to the
Company.

According to the writfen ferms of reference,
the Nomination Committee shall consist of
three Directors, a majority of whom shall be
Independent Non-executive Directors appointed
by the Board of Directors from time to time.
Currently, the Nomination Committee comprises
of one Executive Director, Mr. Kwan Kin Chung,
and two Independent Non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew and
Mr. Wong Kwan Kit.

Nomination Policy

The Company has also adopted the Director
Nomination Policy on 1 January 2019. Such
policy sets out the selection criteria and
process and the Board succession planning
considerations in relation to nomination and
appointment of Directors of the Company, and
aims to ensure that the Board has a balance of
skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the Company, the continuity of
the Board and appropriate leadership at Board
level.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE
(Continued)

Nomination Policy (Confinued)

The Director Nomination Policy sets out
the factors for assessing the suitability and
the potential contribution to the Board of
a proposed candidate, including but not
limited to the following: character and
integrity; qualifications including professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience
that are relevant to the Company’s business
and corporate strategy; diversity in all aspects,
including but not limited to gender, age (18
years or above), cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service;
requirements of Independent Non-executive
Directors on the Board and independence
of the proposed Independent Non-executive
Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules;
and commitment in respect of available time
and relevant inferest to discharge duties
as a member of the Board and/or Board
committee(s) of the Company.

Statistics of each Nomination Committee
member’'s attendance at the Nomination
Committee Meeting:
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Attendance/

Directors No. of Meetings

HERE

B 2RAH

Mr. Kwan Kin Chung BRI LE 1/1
(appointed on 13 January 2023) (R=—B=-—=F—H1+=HEZF)

Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia BAEELL 1/1

(resigned on 13 January 2023) (R=ZBZ=ZF—-A+ZHEFT)
Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew SEERE AL 3/3
Mr. Wong Kwan Kit BERNEE 3/3
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE
(Continued)

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted its own board diversity
policy ("Board Diversity Policy”). The Board
Diversity Policy aimed to achieve diversity of
the Board through consideration of a number
of factors, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural, educational background and
professional experience. The Nomination
Committee of the Company shall review the
Board Diversity Policy as appropriate and make
recommendations on any proposed revisions to
the Board.

Board appointments will be based on objective
criteria having due regard to the benefits of
diversity of the Board.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
COMMITTEE

According to the Bye-laws of the Company, the
Company established a Corporate Governance
Committee (the "CGC") on 26 April 2010 with
written terms of reference. The CGC obligates
to advise upon any tfransaction of the Company
which the Board is proposed to enter or fransact
for and on behalf of the Company, and give
a collective opinion to the Board as to the
propriety, feasibility and prudence of entering
info such fransactions.

According to the written terms of reference, the
CGC comprised of 4 members. Following the
resignation of Mr. Huang Mingguo on 2 July
2021, Ms. Hung Wai Kwan on 8 August 2022, and
Ms. Chow Lai Wah on 13 January 2023, and the
appointment of Mr. Wong Kon Man Jason and
Mr. Yue Chi Wing on 28 June 2022, the Company
comprises of three CGC members. Currently, the
CGC is chaired by Mr. Kwan Kin Chung.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ Responsibilities for the
Financial Statements

The Directors are responsible for the preparation
of the financial statements for each financial
period which give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Group and of the results
and cash flows for that period. In preparing
the financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2023, the Directors have selected
suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently, made judgments and estimates
that are prudent, fair and reasonable and
prepared the financial statements on a going
concern basis. The Directors are also responsible
for keeping proper accounting records which
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any
time the financial position of the Group, for
safeguarding the assets of the Group and for
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Auditor’'s Responsibilities and
Remuneration

During the year, the audit fee for the Group
amounted to approximately HK$1,580,000
and non-audit services fee of approximately
HK$220,000.

The statement of the auditor of the Company
regarding their reporting responsibilities is set out
in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 72
fo 80.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
(Continued)

Risk Management and Internal control

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to
ensure sound and effective risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing
their effectiveness on an ongoing basis. The
risk management and infernal control systems
are reviewed at least annually to ensure the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programs and budget
of the Group’s internal audit and financial
reporting functions.

Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems

The Group’s risk management and internal
control systems are designed to manage and
mitigate risks, rather than eliminate risks, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Through the Audit Committee and Corporate
Governance Committee, the Board conducts
annual review of the effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control
systems, covering the material control, including
financial, operational and compliance
controls. The management are primarily
responsible for applying and for supporting
the risk management and infernal control
processes. The operating units and support
functions are facilitated and coordinated by the
management, and ensure that risk management
processes and mitigation plans follow good
practices and guidelines established in
their day-to-day operations. Any risk events
and incidents identified are reported by the
operating units and support functions to the
management in a fimely manner.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
(Continued)

Main Features of Risk Management
and Internal Control Systems

The key elements of the Group’'s risk
management and internal control systems
include the establishment of strategic risk
register fo monitor the identified risks, the
assessment and evaluation of risks, the
continuous updating of risk responses for each
key risk identified to ensure the effectiveness of
the mitigation procedures on an ongoing basis.
A risk matrix approach is adopted to determine
the significance of the risk affer evaluation
of the risk in accordance to the likelihood
of occurrence and severity of the risk event
identified. The significance of the risks reflects
the level of management’'s attention and risk
responses.

Risk management process is integrated
with the internal control systems, so that the
Group’s ability fo handle risks that hinder the
achievement of financial, operational and
compliance goals are strengthened and the
allocation of resources are more adequate.

Process used to identify, evaluate
and manage significant risks

The Group develops a preliminary inventory of
events that could influence the achievement
of the Group’s business objectives. The
Group identifies oufside and inside events by
reviewing its external and internal environment
and stakeholders, that have an influence or
potential influence on the Group’s ability to
achieve its strategy and business objectives.
The risk identification process takes place at
least once a year. Furthermore, any risk events
and incidents identified by the operating units
and support functions will be reported to the
management in a fimely manner.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
(Continued)

Process used to identify, evaluate and
manage significant risks (Confinued)

The risks identified are evaluated with a risk
matrix which prioritises risks according to
the likelihood of their occurrence and the
significance of their impact on the achievement
of the Group’s business objectives. Following
the review of the risk matrix, the Group selects
and deploys the corresponding risk responses
and investigates the mitigation procedures to be
executed to ensure the identified significant risks
were managed to an acceptable level.

Process used to review the
effectiveness of the Risk Management
and Internal Control Systems

The Group does not have an internal audit
function due to the size of the Group and for
cost effectiveness consideration. The Board
would be directly responsible for internal control
of the Group and for reviewing its effectiveness.
The Group continues to review the need for an
intfernal audit function annually. An independent
consultant (“the Consultant”) was engaged to
perform a review on the risk management and
internal control systems. The Consultant has
reported findings and areas for improvement
to the Board and management. The Board
and management are of the view that no
material defects are noted in the Group'’s risk
management and internal control systems.

The recommendations from the Consultant are
properly followed up by the Group fo ensure
that they are implemented within a reasonable
period of fime. The Board considers the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems
are adequate and effective and no significant
control failings or weaknesses was identified for
the year ended 31 March 2023.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
(Continued)

Inside Information Policy

The Group has established policies for
the handling and dissemination of inside
information. Such policy is set out inside the staff
manual and all staff is required to comply. In
addition, each personnel are granted a specific
level of access to the price sensitive and inside
information. The Directors, senior management
and employees are informed with the latest
regulatory updates.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Lee Yuk Ping, the company secretary of
the Company, is a full time employee of the
Company. During the year, the company
secretary has duly complied with the relevant
professional training requirement under Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The Company is aware of its responsibility to look
after the interests of its Shareholders. Pursuant
to the Company’s Bye-laws 70 and section 74 of
Bermuda Companies Act 1981 (as amended)
(the "Act”), the Board, on the requisition of
Shareholders of the Company holding not less
than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company, can convene a
special general meeting ("SGM") to address
specific issues of the Company within 21 days
from the date of deposit of written notice to the
registered office of the Company. If the Board
fails to proceed to convene a meeting, the
requisitionists, or any of them representing more
than one half of the total voting rights of all of
them, may themselves convene a meeting, but
any meeting so convened shall not be held after
the expiration of three months from the said
date.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (Continued)

The written requisition must state the purposes
of the meeting together with proposals to be
put forward at such meeting, signed by the
Shareholder(s) concerned and may consist of
several documents in like form, each signed by
one or more of those Shareholders. Besides, the
written requisition must be valid in pursuant to
section 79 and 80 of the Act. The requisition will
be verified with the Company’s share registrar
and upon their confirmation that the requisition
is proper and in order, the Company Secretary
will ask the Board of the Company to convene
the SGM after the deposit of such requisition
by serving sufficient notice in accordance with
the statutory requirements to all the registered
Shareholders. Shareholders are encouraged by
the Company to aftend the Company’s general
meeting.

All resolutions put forward at shareholder
meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to
the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company after each shareholder meeting.

Shareholders are provided with contact details
of the Company, such as telephone number,
fax number, postal address and the Company’s
website address in order to enable them to
make any query that they may have with
respect to the Company. Shareholders may
make enquiries to the Board by writing to the
Company at the Company’s head office in
Hong Kong at Suite 1502, 15/F, Far East Finance
Cenftre, 16 Harcourt Road, Admiralty, Hong
Kong. In addition, Shareholders can contact the
share registrar of the Company, if they have any
enquires about their shareholding issues.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy
(the "Dividend Policy”) which does not have
any pre-determined dividend payout ratio. In
considering dividend payment, the Board will
take into account factors such as depending
on results of operations, working capital,
financial position, future prospects, and capital
requirements, as well as any other factors which
the Directors of the Company may consider
relevant from time to time. The Board will review
the Dividend Policy from time to time and
the Dividend Policy does not constitute any
commitment or obligation of the Company to
declare dividends.

INVESTORS RELATIONS

The Board gives high priority to balanced, clear
and transparent communications which allow
shareholders and investors to understand the
Group'’s prospects and the market environment
in which it operates. The Company engages with
shareholders and other investors through various
channels of communication to help ensure that
their views and concerns are understood and
addressed in a constructive way.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE
CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company adopted by a special resolution
the Amended and Restated Bye-laws and reprint
of the Amended and Restated Bye-laws on 23
August 2022. For further details, please refer
to the announcement of the Company dated
19 July 2022 and the circular of the Company
dated 21 July 2022. Saved as disclosed, during
the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
report, there has been no significant changes in
the constitutional documents of the Company.
The Amended and Restated Bye-laws are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.
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GRRY CHENG CPA LIMITED

7‘ Certified Public Accountants
YA,

To the Shareholders of
Culturecom Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial
statements of Culturecom Holdings Limited (the
"Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the "Group”) set out on pages
81 to 274, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March
2023, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial
statements give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 March 2023, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with
Hong Kong Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs")
issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the "Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgment, were of most significance
in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters
were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and
we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters.

Key audit matter
BRETER

We identified the NRV assessment of premium
wine as a key audit matter due to their
significance to the consolidated statement
of the financial position as a whole and the
significant judgment and estimations involved
in the estimation of NRV of the Group’s
premium wines.
EMKEBERE 2R FEMGHE A —HBEE
ESHE REEAAEHREARYGEMBRRKRER
BEXR URAMGEET SEEEEEFEEZTZ2RF
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
EHEBEERRNNUEEBREENSIE

Our procedures in relation to the NRV assessment
of the inventories included:

EMEBMEFENTERFENEFEEUT &E:

Discussing with the management’s process
for evaluating the product-by-product regular
NRV assessment view and challenging the
judgment exercised in deftermining the
allowances of inventories as at the end of
reporting period, including their key controls
and policies on estimating the inventories
allowances;
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Key audit matter

BARESSHR

As set out in Note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements, the management carries
out inventory review on a product-by-product
basis at the end of the reporting period.
As further disclosed in Note 22 to the
consolidated financial statements, the carrying
amount of premium wine was approximately
HK$33,637,000. The management performed
the inventory review including the estimation
of the respective NRV which was determined
as the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

HAARE VBRI FANE > EEERBEHER
RENEMETHFEFE -HUNGSVBEMRWTE
22— SHWE BEEENREELNH33,637,000
BT EEEFHLTFEELE EBRERBEXBAR
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S FEME

The estimation of the respective NRV takes into
account a number of factors including prices
of actual sales during and/or subsequent
to the reporting period and independent
market information in relation to each of the
inventories held by the Group.
BASRFENGTLDEFTRZEREZ B8RS
HER SEHENERHEEERKREE BE5ERE
EREFENBIMSER -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
EMERRNMTEERREETSHE

Assessing the reasonableness of the estimation
of the NRV of inventories performed by
management by:
EBRUTAHAAFHEEEHFE TSR FEM
MWEEM:

1. Evaluating management’s identification
of any inventories requiring specific
write-downs due to damage or other
quality issues with reference to the
information obtained during our inventory
count;
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2. Obtaining the external valuation reports,
assessing the appropriateness of the
valuation methodologies and the
reasonableness of the key assumptions
and evaluating the appropriateness of
key input data used in the valuation;
and
EENREERS  SHEEEDENEES
RERBENEEY  UFEEEFFEAN
BEREAHBNEEL R

3. Performing independent market research
to evaluate the market information used
by management to estimate the latest
selling prices of the premium wines.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible
for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the
annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial
statements does not cover the other information
and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated
financial statements, our responsibility is to read
the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible
for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a frue and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine
is necessary tfo enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements,
the directors are responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern, and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors either
infend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but fo
do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible
for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and fo
issue an auditor’'s report that includes our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
tfowards or accept liability fo any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we
exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

Identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR

THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Confinued)

Obtain an understanding of internal control
relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the
directors’ use of the going concern basis
of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to confinue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease
tfo confinue as a going concern.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Confinued)

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure
and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of
the entities or business activities within
the Group fo express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with those charged with
governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit opinion.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Confinued)

We also provide those charged with governance
with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions
taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those
charged with governance, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter
or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we detfermine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting
in this independent auditor’s report is Ms. Lo Mei
Yan.

Gary Cheng CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Ms. Lo Mei Yan

Practising Certificate Number: P08056

Hong Kong
28 June 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FelREHMZERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE-Z-_=F=ZB=+—HLFE

2023 2022
—E-=HF —E_-=
NOTES HK$’000 HK$000
Bt 3£ FET FET
Revenue L'ON 5 30,600 62,365
Cost of sales SHE B A (16,084) (40,607)
Gross profit EF 14,516 21,758
Other income Hig A 6 1,213 437
Other gains or losses Hiblm s E1a 7 (1.957) 7.282
Impairment loss under expected BHIEEEE ([FRHE
credit loss ("ECL") model, net of EFEDEET2
reversal HEEE - MEREE 643 787
Other impairment losses Hit s BB 9 (2,023) (2.769)
Selling expenses HEEH (4.891) (13,051)
Administrative expenses THER (31,078) (33,164)
Other expenses Hih& H 11 (14,631) (19.523)
Finance costs B % & A 8 (125) (1,.071)
Share of loss of an associate FEfE — R AR 1B (170) (260)
Loss before tax BREiATE 1B 11 (38,503) (39.574)
Income tax (expense) credit EHR (AX)ER 12 (152) 369
Loss for the year FEBR (38,655) (39.205)

Fig 2022-2023 XLBEEERRAF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FelRakEMZERRR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

2023 2022
—E-=HF —E_-_=
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
M =E FERT FET
Other comprehensive (expense) Hia2m (BAX) k=&
income
Item that will not be reclassified to HEFEEHFHEZF
profit or loss: BEm2HE -
Exchange differences on HIEERBREZEZRY
translation from functional EMCERERE
currency to presentation
currency (8.631) 9,833
Items that may be reclassified BHAEAGREN 7EZ
subsequently to profit or loss: BEmEE -
Exchange differences arising on REBNEBZER
translation of foreign operations =X 4,881 (6.408)
Reclassification of cumulative HE-—BEHEBARESE
translation reserve upon EtEAREEEH D
deregistration of a subsidiary k| 2 -
4,879 (6,408)
Other comprehensive (expense) FEHME2E (FAX)
income for the year g (3.752) 3,425
Total comprehensive expense for FEZ2HMB AR
the year (42,407) (35.,780)
Loss for the year attributable to: BiLFERE
- Owners of the Company . YNEIEZ ZEDN (37.223) (28,943)
- Non-controlling interests —JFERER (1.432) (10,262)
(38.655) (39,205)
Total comprehensive expense EhEHEMAREE
attributable to:
- Owners of the Company —KRABEBA (40,596) (24,025)
- Non-controlling interests —JEIERER (1.811) (11,755)
(42,407) (35,780)
Loss per share BREER
Basic and diluted (HK cents) EAR#E GBAL) 14 (2.2) (1.8)

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022-2023




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e MEBEKAR

AT 31 MARCH 2023
R-ZE_=F=H=+—H

2023 2022
—ZE=-= —s=-=
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
MIEE FTHERT FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property and equipment YERZE 16 89 163
Right-of-use assets FREEE 17 617 172
Goodwill SRS 18 - -
Interest in an associate R—EEEAR 2R 19 765 935
Intangible assets BREE 20 6,013 2,057
Rental deposits Hewe 24 466 -
Financial assets at fair value BAFEETABRR
through profit or loss ZERMEE 21 6,301 8,032
Deferred tax asset EEHBEBERE 30 31 -
14,282 11,359
Current assets REBEE
Inventories Z7E 22 34,359 35,630
Trade receivables EWE SRR 23 8,674 18,718
Other receivables, deposits and HWEWRER - ZER
prepayments B RE 24 41,374 4,902
Financial assets at fair value BEAVFEEFABRE
through profit or loss ZERMEE 21 2,320 338
Restricted bank deposit ZREEITER 26 - 5,539
Bank balances and cash RITEFRES 25 61,497 129,527
148,224 194,654
Current liabilities RBEE
Trade payables B E SR 27 1,419 2,362
Other payables and accrued HibhEAFRE R EL
charges BH 27 10,662 11,676
Confract liabilities EHEE 28 - 185
Lease liabilities HEEE 29 2,190 601
Tax payables RN 478 283
14,749 15,107

F 3k 2022-

2023 X{LEEEERRAF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

= e MBI R

AT 31 MARCH 2023
R-ZE_=F=H=+—H

2023 2022
—8s=-= —E=-=

NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000

M=t FHERT FET

Net current assets RBEERE 133,475 179,547

Total assets less current liabilities #EERREBEE 147,757 190,906
Non-current liabilities ERBEE

Deferred tax liabilities EEBEEE 30 - 12

Lease liabilities HEARE 29 357 -

357 12

Net assets EEFE 147,400 190,894
Capital and reserves EXKHE

Share capital (&N 31 16,687 16,687

Share premium and reserves R aER#EE 121,863 166,153

Equity attributable to owners of RARERE ABLER

the Company 138,550 182,840

Non-controlling interests FERER 8,850 8,054

Total equity R 147,400 190,894

The consolidated financial statements on pages
81 to 274 were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 28 June 2023

and are signed on its behalf by:

KWAN KIN CHUNG

A fEIR
Director
EZE

EHEF2Z/AEZHAVBBRN_-B-=F
AAZTNERESSHELRETIZ XA

THESKARESE:

YUEN KIN
=g
Director
EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FReHRIBBRR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

b7 —

F=RA=+—HILEE

SE =T —
Attributable to owners of the Company
AATEANEL
Capital Share Non-
Share Share  Contribution  redemption options  Translation Other  Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Sub-total inferests equity
R& R EE B4BR EABERE  BRERE EidR AR fiER M FERER L 5
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
Tén Tén T T Tén Tén T T Tén Tén T
(Note a)
(M)
AT April 2021 RZZZ-FmE-B 13,907 2,025,611 17,61 446 - 921 4218 (2.051,484) 165,290 7,284 172,574
Loss for the year 353 - - - - (28913) (26.943) (10262) (39.205)
Other comprehensive income b2 ENE
Exchange differences on HNEERREEES

translation from functional EHZERER

currency fo presentation

currency - - 11,326 - 11,326 (1.493) 9,833
Bichange differences arisingon -~ BESHEHZER

tronslation of foreign operations %% - - (6,408) - (6.408) - (6.408)
Total comprehensive income FEREWR (%)

(expense) for the year ag - - 4918 - (28.983) (24,025) (11,755) (35.780)
Issue of shares (Note b) BTRE (WiEb) 2780 38,920 - - - 41,700 - 41,700
Transaction cost affribufableto  BTRAEERERE

issue of shares (125) - - - - - (125) - (125)
Deemed disposal of partial RELE-BHELE

inferests in a subsidiory (Note ¢) 2 &4  (3tc) - - - - - - 1252 12552
Af 31 March 2022 RZF-Z§=f

=t-8 16,687 2,004,406 17,671 446 - 5,839 4218 (2.080.427) 182,840 8,054 190,894
A1 April 2022 WZ2ZZEmA-R 16,687 2,064,406 171,61 446 - 5,839 4218 (2,080,427) 182,840 8,054 190,894
Loss for the year EEFA - - - - 312%) (37.223) (1.430) (38.655)
Other comprehensive income Eb2ERE
Exchange differences on HNEERREEE

translation from functional EHCERER

currency fo presentation

curency 5 5 (8252) 5 8252) @79 8.631)
Exchange differences arising o~ REBHERZER

translation of foreign operations £ @ = 4,881 = 4,881 - 4,881
Reclassification of cumulative AH-EHELRE

translation reserve upon BETERBRES

deregistration of a subsidiary il - - ()] - 0] - @
Tofal comprehensive expense EE2EER

for the year 8 - - (3373) - (37.223) (1059%) 1811) (42407)
Acquisition of additional interestin -~ B3R REH MEKE

subsidiories from non-controling A& 2 B KE

inferests (Nofe d) (Kzzd) - - - - - - (.47) (.47) 2447 (4800)
Reconciliafion of equity settled NRREENRB R

share-based payments 28 (332)

(Note 32) - - - 3,753 - - - 3,783 - 3,753
Release of non-controling inferest 3 #-EHEA T4

upon deregistration of a BREERER

subsidiory (Nofe 37a(i)) (32370 () - - - - - - - - ) ()
Af 31 March 2023 R-E-Z£=§

=R 16,687 2,064,406 171,671 446 3753 2466 4218 (2.125,097) 138,550 8,850 147,400

F3g 2022-2023 X{BEEREERRLF

85



86

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

H
lilll\

FOR
e

SHRAVBR=R

THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
—E_=HF=ZA=+—HLEFE

Noftes:

(@)

®)

©

(@

Contribution surplus represents the difference
between the nominal value of the share capital of the
acquired subsidiaries and the nominal amount of the
share capital of Culturecom Holdings Limited (the”
Company”) issued as consideration for the acquisition
as at the date of the group reorganization in prior
years.

The Company issued additional 278,000,000 new shares
at HK$0.15 per share on 6 May 2021. The consideration
received in excess of the par value of HK$0.01 per share
is recognised in share premium.

On 15 December 2021, the Group entered into a
capital increase agreement with an independent third
party to dispose 19.9% equity interests of Beijing Star
Engine Information Technology Co. Ltd.* (bt 5 £ 5|2
EERFAERAR) (Beijing Star”) at a consideration of
approximately RMB11,180,000. Accordingly, the Group's
effective interests in Beijing Star has been reduced from
55% to 44.055%. The carrying amount of the partial
interests in Beijing Star deemed disposed by the Group
of approximately HK$12,525,000 was credited to equity
as non-controlling interests during the year ended 31
March 2022.

On 29 June 2022, the Group has acquired of (i)
additional of 5% equity interest in a subsidiary from an
independent third party for a cash consideration of
HK$2,800,000; and (ii) additional of 15% equity interest
in a subsidiary from an independent third party for a
cash consideration of HK$2,000,000. The difference of
HK$7.447,000 between consideration and the carrying
value of the infterest acquired was recognised in
accumulated losses within equity.

English name is for idenfification purpose only

e
(@)

®)

©

(@
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FeBeRER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE-Z-_=F=ZB=+—HLFE

2023 2022
—g=-= —E=-=
HK$'000 HKS$'000
TET FExT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES BEEK
Loss for the year FEEIE (38,655) (39.205)
Adjustments for: BT HIEEEHFAE
Amortisation of intangible assets B EE#E 631 1,861
Depreciation of property and MERREBINE
equipment 117 138
Depreciation of right-of-use assets fEREEERE 2,085 2,087
Gain on deregistration of a HHE-BREARZ
subsidiary g (42) -
Gain on early termination of RELLIHEEZWE
leases = (932)
Loss (gain) on fair value change BRAFEESFAER
of financial assets at fair value K (RAFEEFTA
through profit or loss (“FVTPL") BRR)zemEE
ZAFBEZHEE
(W z=) 944 (6,446)
Loss on disposal of financial HERAFEETA
assets at FVTPL BRRkeemEEZ
R 433 137
Loss on disposal of property and HEMERBZEZ
equipment 18 14 151
Impairment losses recognised in BTHEEERZ
respect of: WERE :
- Goodwill Gk - 1,452
- Intangible assets -BLEE 245 1,309
- Property and equipment - MERRE = 8
- Right-of-use assets —-ERAEEE 1,778 -
Impairment loss on under ECL FEHREEFEBEERT
model, net of reversal ZREEE  HKR
[ (643) (787)
Share of loss of an associate i — R E QA
BB 170 260
Equity-settled share-based iR EEN RN
payments expenses X zBEX 3,753 -
Income tax expense (credit) R () 152 (369)
Bank interest income RATR B WA (215) (aom
Subsidies 8k (827) -
Dividend income R B U A (28) (98)
Interest expenses BB X 125 1,071
Written off of other payables il 65 HL 4t B 5 7R 8 (39 -
FIR 2022-2023 XLBEEEEERATF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FeBleRER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

2023 2022
—B-=F —_E-=
HK$’000 HKS$'000
THERT THET
Operating cash flows before EEESEHAIZ
movements in working capital KeERENRE (30,002) (39,554)
Decrease in inventories FERD 1,271 -
Decrease in trade receivables e E 5 RIS 9,492 46,578
(Increase) decrease in other HitEWRIE BER
receivables, deposit and FEASFRIE (BB hn) R 2
prepayments (37,014) 12,873
(Increase) decrease in investments FEEE 2 & E (&)
held for trading VRS (1.629) 1,099
Decrease in trade payables A E S RIS (854) (12,545)
Decrease in other payables and Hih A FRIE R B
accrued charges BERBD (530) (4,756)
Decrease in contract liabilities EHNEBRD (172) (903)
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM KREER (FR) B
OPERATING ACTIVITIES ZEHEFE (59.438) 2,792

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022-2023




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FeBeRER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE-Z-_=F=ZB=+—HLFE

2023 2022
—g=-= —E=-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BREEK
Withdrawal of pledged bank RECEBRITER
deposits - 35,935
Withdrawal of restricted bank REZRFIRITFR
deposits 4,959 -
Change of financial assets at FVTPL A FEBEFTABREE
EMEEEZD - (139)
Purchase of property and BEWERSE
equipment (61) (10)
Proceeds from disposal of property HEWERRE S
and equipment I8 10 34
Acquisition of intangible assets WEEFEE (4.880) -
Proceeds from partial disposal of HE—BEHRB AN
interests in a subsidiary @2 FriSRE - 12,525
Bank interest received EUWRITHE 215 191
Dividend income of financial assets R AFBEIT AEH &
at FVTPL ZEHMEERERA 28 98
NET CASH FROM INVESTMENT REXEBFBZ
ACTIVITIES B FHE 271 48,634

Fig 2022-2023 XLBEEERRAF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FeBleRER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

2023 2022
—E-=F —_E-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT FET
FINANCING ACTIVITIES mEER
Interest paid 2 E (125) (1,071)
Payment for acquisition of AWEBHE AT Z
additional interests in subsidiaries  ZESMER (4,800) -
Proceeds from issue of shares BITRM 2B FRIE - 41,575
New bank borrowings raised FriERITER - 7.290
Repayment of bank borrowings BERITER - (43,739)
Repayments for capital element of (EEHEE&BENER
lease liabilities i (2,.362) (3.768)
Subsidies G 827 -
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM BMEX® (FiA) s
FINANCING ACTIVITIES ZEEFE (6.460) 287
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH Be¢RBELZEY (i)
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS N E 2 (65.627) 51,713
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FYRERBRESEEY
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 129,527 75,094
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXSFHoEE
RATE CHANGES (2,403) 2,720
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FRAERBESEEY
END OF THE YEAR, REPRESENTED URITHEERRE
BY BANK BALANCES AND CASH 275 61,497 129,527
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Culturecom Holdings Limited (the
"Company”) was incorporated in Bermuda
as an exempted company under the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda with limited
liability and its shares are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the "Stock Exchange”). The address
of the Company’s registered office is Victoria
Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street, Hamilton
HM10, Bermuda and its principal place of
business is Suite 1502, 15/F, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Admiralty, Hong
Kong.

The Company is an investment holding
company. The principal activities of its
principal subsidiaries (fogether with the
Company, the "Group”) are set out in Note
37. The Group’s principal places of business
are in Hong Kong and the People’s Republic
of China (the "PRC").

The Company’s functional currency is
Renminbi ("RMB”). For the convenience
of the financial statements’ users, the
consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars ("HK$"), as the Company’s
shares are listed on the Stock Exchange.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE-Z-_=F=ZB=+—HLFE

—RER
XtBEEEEERARA (A28 REEFE
EREM(—AN—FEQTEZ)FMRL
BERRERETLT ERORAEEBH
ERGABMRAT ([HBRXFA) R L -
RN A] Z 5t 3 3R b sk v R Victoria
Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street,
Hamilton HM10, Bermuda ' mMEFE&
XA BECEEREIGCRERE/P
TN51#1502F ©

ARNTDE-BREERAF -HEBHE
AT (ERAAT HBIAEE) X2
EBEHNMTI7 - REB 2 EEL £ M2
BEBRPEARLNE (HRE)) o

ARBZHEEBEBARB TARE]D -
REMNBBHEERZERE BREARTZ
BORBRFET  REPBERRUBT
(Bxl) 25 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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SMBERRME

THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
—E_=HF=ZA=+—HLEFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the
current year

In the current year, the Group has applied
the following amendments to HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA, for the first fime, which are
mandatorily effective for the annual period
beginning on or after T April 2022 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:

Amendments to Reference to the
HKFRS 3 Conceptual Framework
Amendment to  Covid-19-Related Rent
HKFRS 16 Concessions beyond 30
June 2021
Amendments to Property, Plant and
HKAS 16 Equipment - Proceeds
before Infended Use
Amendments to Onerous Contracts - Cost
HKAS 37 of Fulfilling a Contract
Amendments to Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs HKFRSs 2018-2020

The application of the amendments to
HKFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance for the current
and prior years and/or on the disclosures
set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

FERFEHE] REBTEBY B R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE-Z-_=F=ZB=+—HLFE

FERFM REIETERYB®
EEA(TEEBMBHREEL D

?ﬁE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2,
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSs")
(Continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs
in issue but not yet effective

~—
~—

EHEMESRKERZHITERY
BREEAREMEE

AEEVEREFRATIER/MERSRE

The Group has not early applied the
following new and amendments to HKFRSs
that have been issued but are not yet

WA E BN BREER RS

effective:
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts' EBMBREED REEY
(including 1% (AE-E
the October —EFE+ARZ
2020 and BE--FZAz
February 2022 EBPEREE
Amendments RIZE1 758 2 185T)
tfo HKFRS 17)
Amendments to Lease Liability in a Sale EEVZBELED ERBRTSHWHIA
HKFRS 16 and Leaseback? E165% 2155 E8@&
Amendments fo Sale or Contribution of EBANKEBELED REZFHEHEEENT
HKFRS 10 and  Assets between an FIORREBE BEErEIEZ
HKAS 28 Investor and its Associate FTXERIZE285% 2 BEHESEE’
or Joint Venture® 1&:T
Amendments to Classification of BEBETEREIRE REBIERBEESD

HKAS 1

Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related
amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5
(2020)'

ZABFT

BREBRESES
R(ZEZEF)2
BT

Amendments fo Non-current Liabilities with BEBETEREIR HMEZENERDE
HKAS 1 Covenants? ZABET 1&?
Amendments to Disclosure of Accounting EREEREIE SHEEHE
HKAS 1 and Policies' REBIMB®E
HKFRS Practice HREBMEE2
Statement 2 i -

Fig 2022-2023 XLBEEERRAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2.

AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSs")
(Continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs
in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

The Group has not early applied the
following new and amendments to HKFRSs
that have been issued but are not yet
effective: (Continued)

Amendments to Definitfion of Accounting

HKAS 8 Estimates'
Amendments to Deferred Tax related to
HKAS 12 Assets and Liabilities

arising from a Single
Transaction'

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2024.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
a date to be determined.

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs
mentioned below, the directors anticipate
that the application of all other new and
amendments fo HKFRSs will have no material
impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022-2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSs")
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1
Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

The amendments provide clarification and
additional guidance on the assessment of
right to defer sefttlement for at least twelve
months from reporting date for classification
of liabilities as current or non-current,
which:

specify that the classification of liabilities
as current or non-current should be
based on rights that are in existence
at the end of the reporting period.
Specifically, the amendments clarify
that:

(i) the classification should not be
affected by management infentions
or expectations to settle the liability
within 12 months; and

(i) if the right is conditional on the
compliance with covenants, the
right exists if the conditions are
met at the end of the reporting
period, even if the lender does not
test compliance until a later date;
and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSs")
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1
Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)
(Continued)

The amendments provide clarification and
additional guidance on the assessment of
right fo defer seftlement for at least twelve
months from reporting date for classification
of liabilities as current or non-current,

which: (Continued)

clarify that if a liability has terms
that could, at the option of the
counterparty, result in its settlement by
the fransfer of the entity’s own equity
instruments, these terms do not affect
its classification as current or non-
current only if the entity recognises
the option separately as an equity
instrument applying HKAS 32 Financial

Instruments: Presentation.

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a
consequence of the Amendments to HKAS 1
to align the corresponding wordings with no

change in conclusion.

The amendments are applied retrospectively
for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2023, with early application

permitted.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSs")
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities
as at 31 March 2023 and the related terms
and conditions stipulated in the agreements
between the Group and the relevant lenders,
the application of the amendments will
not result in reclassification of the Group’s
liabilities.

HKAS 1 is amended to replace all instances
of the term “significant accounting
policies” with "material accounting policy
information”. Accountfing policy informatfion
is material if, when considered together with
other information included in an entity’s
financial statements, it can reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the
primary users of general-purpose financial
statements make on the basis of those
financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that
accounting policy information maybe
material because of the nature of the related
fransactions, other events or conditions,
even if the amounts are immaterial. However,
not all accounting policy information relating
to material transactions, other events or
conditions is itself material. If an entity
chooses to disclose immaterial accounting
policy information, such information must
not obscure material accounting policy
information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

3

2"
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSs")
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2
Disclosure of Accounting Policies
(Confinued)

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality
Judgements (the "Practice Statement”) is
also amended to illustrate how an entity
applies the “four-step materiality process” to
accounting policy disclosures and to judge
whether information about an accounting
policy is material to its financial statements.
Guidance and examples are added to the
Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments is not
expected to have significant impact on the
financial position or performance of the
Group but may affect the disclosures of the
Group’s significant accounting policies.
The impacts of application, if any, will be
disclosed in the Group’s future consolidated
financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSs")
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition
of Accounting Estimates

The amendments define accounting estimates
as “monetary amounts in financial statements
that are subject to measurement uncertainty”.
An accounting policy may require items in
financial statements to be measured in a
way that involves measurement uncertainty
- that is, the accounting policy may require
such items to be measured at monetary
amounts that cannot be observed directly
and must instead be estimated. In such a
case, an entity develops an accounting
estimate to achieve the objective set
out by the accounting policy. Developing
accounting estimates involves the use of
judgements or assumptions based on the
latest available and reliable information.

In addition, the concept of changes in
accounting estimates in HKAS 8 is retained
with additional clarifications.

The application of the amendments is not
expected to have significant impact on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

3
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSs")
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred
Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of
the recognition exemption of deferred
tax liabilities and deferred tax assets in
paragraphs 15 and 24 of HKAS 12 Income
Taxes so that it no longer applies to
fransactions that, on initial recognition,
give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences.

As disclosed in Note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements, for leasing
fransactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the
Group applies HKAS 12 requirements to the
relevant assets and liabilities as a whole.
Temporary differences relating to relevant
assets and liabilities are assessed on a net
basis.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSs")
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred
Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction (Continued)

Upon the application of the amendments,
the Group will recognize a deferred tax
asset (to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary difference
can be utilized) and a deferred tax liability
for all deductible and ftaxable temporary
differences associated with the right of use
assets and the lease liabilities.

The amendments are effective for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1
April 2023, with early application permitted.
As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amounts
of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
which are subject fo the amendments
amounted to approximately HK$617,000
and approximately HK$2,547,000 respectively.
The Group is still in the process of assessing
the full impact of the application of the
amendments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. Z;EH
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL Rzt
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Basis of preparation of
consolidated financial
statements

BHRRZEBREERE
BUR

3. REMBRRZEREE

The consolidated financial statements FEVMBBRRNDERBRESSHMAS

have been prepared in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA.
For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements,
information is considered material
if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions made
by primary users. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited ("Listing Rules”) and
by disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance ("CQO").

The consolidated financial statements
have been prepared on the historical
cost basis except for certain financial
instruments that are measured at fair
values at the end of each reporting
period, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the
fair value of the consideration given in
exchange for goods and services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE-Z-_=F=ZB=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. FEMBBRZGEHREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL RETEBEER (&)

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of 3.1 FEMBHRRZFEHEE (&)

consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

Fair value is the price that would
be received to sell an asset or paid
to fransfer a liability in an orderly
fransaction between market participants
at the measurement date, regardless
of whether that price is directly
observable or estimated using another
valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Group takes info account the
characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take
those characteristics info account
when pricing the asset or liability at
the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure
purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment
tfransactions that are within the scope
of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment,
leasing transactions that are accounted
for in accordance with HKFRS 16
and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair
value, such as net realisable value
("NRV”") in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in
use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of
consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting
purposes, fair value measurements are
categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement
in ifs entirety, which are described as
follows:

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities
that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

Level 2 inputs are inputs, other
than quoted prices included within
Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or
indirectly; and

Level 3 inputs are unobservable
inputs for the asset or liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements
incorporate the financial statements of
the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries.
Conftrol is achieved when the Company:

has power over the investee;

is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the
investee; and

has the ability to use its power to
affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not
it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three
elements of control listed above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Group has less than a
majority of the voting rights of an
investee, it has power over the investee
when the voting rights are sufficient
to give it the practical ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee
unilaterally. The Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether or not the Group’s
votfing rights in an investee are sufficient
to give it power, including:

the size of the Group’s holding of
voting rights relative to the size
and dispersion of holdings of the
other vote holders;

potential voting rights held by the
Group, other vote holders or other

parties;

rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Group has less than a
majority of the voting rights of an
investee, it has power over the investee
when the voting rights are sufficient
to give it the practical ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee
unilaterally. The Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether or not the Group'’s
voting rights in an investee are
sufficient to give it power, including:
(Continued)

any additional facts and
circumstances that indicate that
the Group has, or does not have,
the current ability tfo direct the
relevant activities at the time
that decisions need to be made,
including voting patterns at
previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins
when the Group obtains control over
the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary.
Specifically, income and expenses of
a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income from
the date the Group gains control until
the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other
comprehensive income are aftributed
to the owners of the Company and
tfo the non-conftrolling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries
is attributed to the owners of the
Company and fto the non-confrolling
intferests even if this results in the
non-conftrolling interests having a
deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are
made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All infragroup assets and liabilities,
equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating fo transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated
in full on consolidation.

Non-conftrolling inferests in subsidiaries
are presented separately from the
Group'’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling
their holders to a proportionate share
of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s inferests in
subsidiaries that do noft result in the Group
losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity tfransactions.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s
relevant components of equity and the
non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative
intferests in the subsidiaries, including
re-attribution of relevant reserves between
the Group and the non-controlling
interests according to the Group’s and
the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
interests.

Any difference between the amount
by which the non-controlling interests
are adjusted, and the fair value of
the consideration paid or received
is recognised directly in equity and
attributed to owners of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in
existing subsidiaries (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a
subsidiary, the assets and liabilities of
that subsidiary and non-controlling
interests (if any) are derecognised. A
gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss and is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair
value of the consideration received
and the fair value of any retained
interest and (ii) the carrying amount
of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary attributable
to the owners of the Company. All
amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to
that subsidiary are accounted for as
if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assefs or liabilities of the
subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or
loss or transferred to another category
of equity as specified/permitted by
applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of
any investment retained in the former
subsidiary at the date when conftrol is
lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting
under HKFRS 9 or, when applicable,
the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a joint
venture.

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022-2023

3.2 EREFEE &)

BARE(E)
7 £ B KB B B 4 A AE R A
()

g AR E K RE DR 2 EHE
AYZHMELRRIFERES (WA)
CEEREBEBRLIERIA - WENEFE
REZPER  TROSBKLKELF
BEEREMNREES QA FEEALHEE
(hEE (BEBE)NEREERAR
AEAARLHMBARNAE ZEN
ERMAE -MALIREMEEKSE
BRAZBBEZWB AR ZHKE  §&
BUOASECEEHEZMNBATAZ
HEEESEBEARARERES
BBMEERZRE AR ER
THERANERES —BES) -
REREZEHEE BRAIHE QR RE
ZEAREZAFEE BSREEE
MHEBEENEIRWERERAR
REXRERZDFEE N (NEH)
BERERAR-—HBREATRN-—[BEE
BEREZHA -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition
of a business is carried at cost as
established at the date of acquisition of
the business (see the accounting policy
above) less accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment
testing, goodwill is allocated to each
of the Group’s cash-generating units
("CGUs") (or group of CGUs) that is
expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represent
the lowest level at which the goodwill
is monitored for internal management
purposes and not larger than an operating
segment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Goodwill (Continued)

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment annually or more
frequently when there is indication that
the unit may be impaired. For goodwill
arising on an acquisition in a reporting
period, the CGU (or group of CGUs) to
which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of
that reporting period. If the recoverable
amount is less than its carrying amount,
the impairment loss is allocated first
to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill and then to the other assets
on a pro-rata basis based on the
carrying amount of each asset in the
unit (or group of CGUs).

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising

on the acquisition of an associate is
described below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Investment in an associate

An associate is an entity over which
the Group has significant influence.
Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee
but is not control or joint control over
those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities
of the associates are incorporated
in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of
accounting. The financial statements of
associates used for equity accounting
purposes are prepared using uniform
accounting policies as those of the
Group for like transactions and events
in similar circumstances. Under the
equity method, an investment in an
associate is initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter
to recognise the Group’s share of the
profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the associates. When the
Group’s share of losses of an associate
exceeds the Group’s interest in that
associate, the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to
the extent that the Group has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of the
associate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Investment in an associate (Continued)

An investment in an associate is
accounted for using the equity method
from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate. On acquisition
of the investment in an associate, any
excess of the cost of the investment
over the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of the investee is recognised
as goodwill, which is included within
the carrying amount of the investment.
Any excess of the Group’s share of
the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of
the investment, after reassessment, is
recognised immediately in profit or loss
in the period in which the investment is
acquired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Investment in an associate (Continued)

The Group assesses whether there is
objective evidence that the interests in
an associate may be impaired. When
any objective evidence exists, the entire
carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for
impairment in accordance with HKAS
36 as a single asset by comparing
its recoverable amount (higher of
value in use and fair value less costs
of disposal) with its carrying amount.
Any impairment loss recognised is
not allocated to any assets, including
goodwill, that forms part of the carrying
amount of the investment. Any reversal
of that impairment loss is recognised in
accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent
that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Investment in an associate (Continued)

When the Group ceases to have
significant influence over an associate,
it is accounted for as a disposal of the
entire interest in the investee with @
resulting gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss. The difference between
the carrying amount of the associate
and the fair value of any retained interest
and any proceeds from disposing of
the relevant interests in the associate
is included in the determination of the
gain or loss on disposal of the associate.
In addition, the Group accounts for all
amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that
associate on the same basis as would
be required if that associate had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Therefore, if a gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive
income by that associate would be
reclassified fo profit or loss on the disposal
of the related assets or liabilities, the
Group reclassifies the gain or loss from
equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) upon disposal of the relevant
associate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Investment in an associate (Continued)

When a group entity transacts with its
associate of the Group, profits and
losses resulting from the fransactions
with the associate are recognised in
the consolidated financial statements
only to the extent of interests in the
associate that are not related to the
Group.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when
(or as) a performance obligation is
satisfied, i.e. when "control” of the
goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is
fransferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a
good or service (or a bundle of goods
or services) that is distinct or a series
of distinct goods or services that are
substantially the same.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with
customers (Continued)

Except for granting a licence that is
distinct from other promised goods or
services, control is fransferred over time
and revenue is recognised over tfime
by reference to the progress towards
complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the
following criteria is met:

the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided
by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

the Group’s performance creates
or enhances an asset that the
customer conftrols as the Group
performs; or

the Group’s performance does
not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable
right fo payment for performance
completed to date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with
customers (Continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at
a point in fime when the customer
obtains control of the distinct good or
service.

For granting of a licence that is distinct
from other promised goods or services,
the nature of the Group’s promise
in granting a licence is a promise to
provide a right fo access the Group’s
intellectual property (*IP") if all of the
following criteria are met:

the contract requires, or the customer
reasonably expects, that the
Group will undertake activities that
significantly affect the IP fo which the
customer has rights;

the rights granted by the licence
directly expose the customer to
any positive or negative effects
of the Group’s activities identified
above; and

those activities do not result in the
fransfer of a good or a service fo
the customer as those activities
OoCcCur.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with
customers (Continued)

If the criteria above are met, the Group
accounts for the promise to grant a
licence as a performance obligation
satisfied over time. Otherwise, the
Group considers the grant of licence as
providing the customers the right to use
the Group’s IP and the performance
obligation is satisfied at a point in time
at which the licence is granted.

A contract liability represents the Group’s
obligation to fransfer goods or services
to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with
customers (Continued)

Contracts with multiple performance
obligations (including allocation of
tfransaction price)

For contracts that conftain more than
one performance obligations, the
Group allocates the fransaction price
to each performance obligation on a
relative stand-alone selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the
distinct good or service underlying
each performance obligation is
determined at contract inception.
It represents the price at which the
Group would sell a promised good or
service separately fo a customer. If a
stand-alone selling price is not directly
observable, the Group estimates it
using appropriate techniques such
that the fransaction price ultimately
allocated to any performance obligation
reflects the amount of consideration to
which the Group expects to be entitled
in exchange for fransferring the promised
goods or services to the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE-Z-_=F=ZA=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting
policies (Confinued)

Revenue from contracts with
customers (Continued)

Over time revenue recognitions:
measurement of progress fowards
complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation

Output method

The progress fowards complete satisfaction
of a performance obligation is measured
based on output method, which is fo
recognise revenue on the basis of direct
measurements of the value of the goods
or services transferred fo the customer fo
date relatfive to the remaining goods or
services promised under the contract, that
best depict the Group’s performance in
fransferring control of goods or services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting
policies (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with
customers (Continued)

Over time revenue recognitions:
measurement of progress fowards
complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation (Continued)

Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable
consideration, the Group estimates
the amount of consideration to which
it will be entitled using the most likely
amount, which better predicts the
amount of consideration to which the
Group will be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable
consideration is included in the transaction
price only to the extent that it is highly
probable that such an inclusion will not
result in a significant revenue reversal in the
future when the uncertainty associated with
the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with
customers (Continued)

Over time revenue recognitions:
measurement of progress fowards
complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation (Continued)

Variable consideration (Continued)

At the end of each reporting period, the
Group updates the estimated transaction
price (including updating its assessment
of whether an estimate of variable
consideration is constrained) fo represent
faithfully the circumstances present at
the end of the reporting period and the
changes in circumstances during the
reporting period.

Notwithstanding the above criteria,
the Group shall recognise revenue for
a sales-based or usage-based royalty
promised in exchange for a licence
of IP only when (or as) the later of the
following events occurs:

the subsequent sale or usage
occurs; and

the performance obligation to
which some or all of the sales-
based or usage-based royalty has
been allocated has been satisfied
(or partially satisfied).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with
customers (Continued)

Sale with a right of return/exchange

For the sale of products with a right
of return/exchange for dissimilar
products, the Group recognised all of
the following:

(a) revenue for the fransferred products in
the amount of consideration to which
the Group expects to be entitled
(therefore, revenue would not be
recognised for the products expected
fo be returned/exchanged);

(b) a refund liability/contract liability;
and

(¢) an asset (and corresponding
adjustment fo cost of sales) for
its right to recover products from
customers and are presented as
right to returned goods asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with
customers (Continued)

Contract costs

Incremental costs of obtaining a
contract

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract
are those costs that the Group incurs to
obtain a contract with a customer that it
would not have incurred if the contract
had not been obtained.

The Group recognises such costs (i.e.,
royalty expenses) as an asset if it expects
to recover these costs. The asset so
recognised is subsequently amortised
to profit or loss on a systematic basis
that is consistent with the fransfer to the
customer of the goods or services to
which the assets relate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with
customers (Continued)

Contract costs (Continued)
Costs to fulfil a contract

The Group incurs costs to fulfil a contract
in its digital marketing business and
publishing and intellectual properties
("IPs™) licensing business. The Group
first assesses whether these costs qualify
for recognition as an asset in terms of
other relevant standards, failing which it
recognises an asset for these costs only
if they meet all of the following criteria:

) the costs relate directly to a contfract
or to an anticipated contract that
the Group can specifically identify;

b) the costs generate or enhance
resources of the Group that will be
used in satisfying (or in continuing
to satisfy) performance obligations
in the future; and

c) the costs are expected to be
recovered.

The asset so recognised is subsequently
amortised to profit or loss on a systematic
basis that is consistent with the fransfer
to the customer of the goods or services
to which the assets relate. The asset is
subject to impairment review.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease
if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset
for a period of fime in exchange for
consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified
on or after the date of inifial application
or arising from business combinations,
the Group assesses whether a contract
is or contains a lease based on the
definition under HKFRS 16 at inception,
modification date or acquisition date,
as appropriate. Such contract will
not be reassessed unless the terms
and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to
components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease
component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each lease component
on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the
non-lease components. The Group
also applies practical expedient not to
separate non-lease components from
lease component, and instead account
for the lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a
single lease component.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to leases that
have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option.
Lease payments on short-term leases
are recognised as expense on a
straight-line basis or another systematic
basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
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3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

the amount of the initial measurement
of the lease liability;

any lease payments made at or
before the commencement date,
less any lease incentives received;
and

any initial direct costs incurred by
the Group.

Right-of-use assets are measured af cosft,
less any accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, and adjusted for
any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of
its estimated useful life and the lease
ferm.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as
a separate line item on the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are
accounted under HKFRS 9 and initially
measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition
are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of
right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease,
the Group recognises and measures
the lease liability at the present value
of lease payments that are unpaid at
that date. In calculating the present
value of lease payments, the Group
uses the incremental borrowing rate at
the lease commencement date if the
interest rate implicit in the lease is not
readily determinable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

The lease payments include:

fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable;
and

payments of penalties for ferminating
a lease, if the lease term reflects
the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease
liabilities are adjusted by interest
accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a

separate line item on the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements
of each individual group entity,
fransactions in currencies other than
the functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchanges prevailing
on the dates of the transactions.
At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary
items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies
are refranslated at the rates prevailing
on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that
are measured in tferms of historical cost in
a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the
seftlement of monetary items, and on
the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Confinued)

For the purposes of presenting the
consolidated financial statements, the
assets and liabilities of the Group’s
operations are franslated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e.
HKS) using exchange rates prevailing
at the end of each reporting period.
Income and expenses items are
tfranslated at the average exchange
rates for the period, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during that
period, in which case the exchange
rates at the date of transactfions
are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the
heading of translation reserve
(attributed to non-controlling inferests
as appropriate).

Foreign operation is a subsidiary or an
associate of the Company, of which
the functional currency is different
from the functional currency of the
Company, either before or after the
change of functional currency of the
Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Confinued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation
(that is, a disposal of the Group’s entire
interest in a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of control over
a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, or a partial disposal of an
interest in an associate that includes a
foreign operation of which the retained
interest becomes a financial asset), the
exchange differences accumulated
in equity in respect of that operation
resulting from translation to functional
currency of the Company attributable
to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial
disposal of a subsidiary that does not
result in the Group losing confrol over
the subsidiary, the proportionate share
of accumulated exchange differences
is re-aftributed to non-controlling
interests and are not recognised
in profit or loss. For all other partial
disposals (i.e. partfial disposals of
associates that do not result in the
Group losing significant influence),
the proportionate share of the
accumulated exchange differences is
reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Confinued)

Exchange differences relating to the
refranslation of the Group’s net assets in
RMB to the Group'’s presentation currency
(i.e. HKS) are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income and accumulated
in franslation reserve. Such exchange
differences accumulated in the translation
reserve are not reclassified to profit or loss
subsequently.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets,
which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their infended use or
sale, are added to the cost of those
assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended
use or sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Borrowing costs (Continued)

Any specific borrowing that remains
outstanding after the related asset is
ready for its intended use or sale is
included in the general borrowing pool
for calculation of capitalisation rate on
general borrowings. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which
they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised
until there is reasonable assurance
that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and the
grants will be received.

fReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—ZE_=F=A=+—HLEE

REVBBRRCAERUEERE
REETBE ()

3.2 EREFTBUER (&)

B (&)

REBAEEANFREHABRIHERD
AEBZEABEERTFA-—RER
HE URTE-RERNERLLER -
REEEREREREEZXHATY
BRAEREMMRIRZKRERA  AB
BERERC ZBREAPHIER o

FEREMERKAREELE 2HER

B PHER -

B FT 17 BY

RS EREARESETRT®
BeMwiRt REEXERE®ME &
AIAEBETSHRABATMHED -

Fig 2022-2023 XLBEEERRAF

137



138

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Government grants (Confinued)

Government grants are recognised
in profit or loss on a systematic basis
over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related
costs for which the grants are infended
to compensate.

Government grants related to income
that are receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivables. Such grants are
presented under “other income”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (the "MPF Scheme”) and
the state-managed retirement benefit
plans are recognised as an expense
when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Shorterm employee benefits are recognised
at the undiscounted amount of the
benefits expected to be paid as and
when employees rendered the services. All
short-ferm employee benefits are recognised
as an expense unless another HKFRS requires
or permifs the inclusion of the benefit in the
cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits
accruing to employees (such as wages
and salaries), after deducting any
amount already paid.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments
to employees are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the
grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled
share-based payments determined
at the grant date without taking
infto consideration all non-market
vesting condifions is expensed on
a straight-line basis over the vesting
period, based on the Group’s estimate
of equity instruments that will eventually
vest, with a corresponding increase
in equity (share options reserve). At
the end of each reporting period,
the Group revises its estimate of the
number of equity instruments expected
to vest based on assessment of all
relevant non-market vesting conditions.
The impact of the revision of the
original estimates, if any, is recognised
in profit or loss such that the cumulative
expense reflects the revised estimate,
with a corresponding adjustment to
the share options reserve. For share
options that vest immediately at the
date of grant, the fair value of the
share options granted is expensed
immediately to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE-Z-_=F=ZB=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. FEMBBRZGEHREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL RETEBEER (&)

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 ERGFTBEK(8)
(Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment
fransactions (Continued)

Share options granted to employees
(Continued)

When share options are exercised,
the amount previously recognised in
share options reserve will be transferred
to share premium. When the share
options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will
be fransferred to accumulated losses.

When the terms and conditions of an
equity-settled share-based payment
arrangement are modified, the
Group recognises as a minimum, the
services received measured at the
grant date fair value of the equity
instfruments granted, unless those
equity instruments do not vest because
of failure to satisfy a vesting condition
(other than a market condition)
that was specified at grant date. In
addition, if the Group modifies the
vesting conditions (other than a
market conditfion) in a manner that
is beneficial to the employees, for
example, by reducing the vesting
period, the Group takes the modified
vesting conditions info consideration
over the remaining vesting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment
tfransactions (Continued)

Share options granted to
non-employees

Equity-settled share-based payment
fransactions with parties other than
employees are measured at the fair
value of the goods or services received,
except where that fair value cannot be
estimated reliably, in which case they
are measured at the fair value of the
equity instruments granted, measured
at the date the entity obtains the goods
or the counterparty renders the service.
The fair values of the goods or services
received are recognised as expenses
(unless the goods or services qualify for
recognition as assets).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Taxation

Income ftax expense represents the
sum of the tax currently payable and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on
taxable profit for the year. Taxable
profit differs from ‘loss before tax’
because of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group’s liability
for current tax is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary
differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and
the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are
generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred assets
and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from
the initial recognition (other than in a
business combinatfion) of assefs and
liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the
accountfing profit. In addition, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition of goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised
for taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in
subsidiaries and inferest in an
associate, except where the Group
is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised fto the
extent that it is probable that there will
be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax
assets is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient tfaxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the
asset to be recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is seftled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rate (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax
liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects,
at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred
tax for leasing transactions in which
the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities,
the Group first determines whether the
tax deductions are aftributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

For leasing transactions in which the
tax deductions are attributable to the
lease liabilities, the Group applies
HKAS 12 requirements to the leasing
tfransaction as a whole. Temporary
differences relating to right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities are assessed
on a net basis. Excess of depreciation
on right-of-use assets over the lease
payments for the principal portion
of lease liabilities resulting in net
deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities
are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right fo set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and
when they relate to income taxes levied
to the same taxation entity by the same
taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised
in profit or loss. Where current tax
or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination,
the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Property and equipment

Property and equipment held for use
in the production or supply of goods or
services, or for administration purpose
are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation
and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to
write off the cost of assetfs less their
residual values over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line
method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate accounted
for on a prospective basis.

An item of property and equipment
is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued
use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property and equipment is
determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised
in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Infangible assets with finite useful
lives that are acquired separately are
carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives
is recognised on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis.
Infangible assets with indefinite useful
lives that are acquired separately are
carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Internally-generated intangible assets -
research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is
recognised as an expense in the period
in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible as
set arising from development activities
(or from the development phase of an
internal project) is recognised if, and
only if, all of the following have been
demonstrated:

the technical feasibility of completing
the infangible asset so that it will
be available for use or sale;

the intention to complete the
infangible asset and use or sell if;

the ability to use or sell the
infangible asset;

how the intangible asset will

generate probable future economic
benefits;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Confinued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Internally-generated intangible assets -
research and development expenditure
(Confinued)

An internally-generated intangible as
set arising from development activities
(or from the development phase of an
internal project) is recognised if, and
only if, all of the following have been
demonstrated: (Continued)

the availability of adequate technical,
financial and other resources to
complete the development and to
use or sell the intangible asset; and

the ability to measure reliably
the expenditure aftributable to
the intangible asset during ifs
development.

The amount initially recognised for
infernally-generated intfangible assef
is the sum of the expenditure incurred
from the date when the intangible asset
first meets the recognition criteria listed
above. Where no infternally-generated
infangible asset can be recognised,
development expenditure is recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which it
is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition,
infernally-generated intangible assets
are reported at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses (if any), on the same
basis as intangible assets that are
acquired separately.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Infangible assets acquired in a
business combination

Infangible assets acquired in a
business combination are recognised
separately from goodwill and are
initially recognised at their fair value af
the acquisition date (which is regarded
as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible
assets acquired in a business combination
with finite useful lives are reported at costs
less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses, on the
same basis as intangible assets that are
acquired separately. Intangible assets
acquired in a business combination with
indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less
any subsequent accumulated impairment
losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on
disposal, or when no future economic
benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset,
measured at the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the assetf, are
recognised in profit or loss when the
asset is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Impairment on property and
equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the
Group reviews the carrying amounts of
its property and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intfangible assets with
finite useful lives to determine whether
there is any indication that these
assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant
asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss (if
any). Infangible assetfs with indefinite
useful lives and intangible assets not
yet available for use are tested for
impairment at least annually, and
whenever there is an indication that
they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property
and equipment, right-of-use assets
and intangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the CGU to
which the asset belongs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022-2023

(Continued)

Impairment on property and
equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets other than goodwill
(Continued)

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant CGU
when a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be established, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group
of CGUs for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be
established. The recoverable amount is
determined for the CGU or group of CGUs
to which the corporate asset belongs, and
is compared with the carrying amount of
the relevant CGU or group of CGUs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of
fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a CGU) for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not
been adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Impairment on property and
equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets other than goodwill
(Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an
asset (or a CGU) is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a
CGU) is reduced to ifs recoverable
amount. For corporate assets or
portion of corporate assefts which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable
and consistent basis to a CGU, the
Group compares the carrying amount
of a group of CGUs, including the
carrying amounts of the corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of CGUs, with
the recoverable amount of the group
of CGUs. In allocating the impairment
loss, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill (if applicable) and
then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount
of each asset in the unit or the group
of CGUs. The carrying amount of an
asset is not reduced below the highest
of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount
of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to
the asset is allocated pro rata to the
ofther assets of the unit or the group of
CGUs. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Impairment on property and
equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets other than goodwill
(Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently
reverses, the carrying amount of the
asset (or CGU or a group of CGUs) is
increased to the revised estimate of
its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or a CGU or a group of
CGUs) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of
cost and NRV. Costs of inventories are
determined on a weighted average
method. NRV represents the estimated
selling price for inventories less costs
necessary to make the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities
are recognised when a group entity
becomes a party to the contfractual
provisions of the instruments. All
regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the
time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities
are initially measured at fair value
except for frade receivables arising
from contracts with customers which
are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15 Revenue from Confracts
with Customers ("HKFRS 15"). Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets
and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets or financial liabilities at
FVTPL) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition. Transaction cosfts
directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets at FVIPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a
method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest income
and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, fransaction
costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period,
tfo the net carrying amount on initial
recognifion.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent
measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following
conditions are subsequently measured
at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a
business model whose objective is
to collect contractual cash flows;
and

the contractual terms give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Contfinued)

Classification and subsequent
measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

Financial assets that meet the following
conditions are subsequently measured at
fair value through other comprehensive
income ("FVTOCI"):

the financial asset is held within a
business model whose objective
is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows;
and

the confractual ferms give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently
measured at FVTPL, except that at initial
recognition of a financial asset the
Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an
equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is not
held for trading.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent
measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for
the purpose of selling in the near
term; or

on initial recognition it is a part of
a portfolio of identified financial
instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking;
or

it is a derivative that is not designated
and effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably
designate a financial asset that are
required to be measured at the amortised
cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL
if doing so eliminates or significantly
reduces an accounting mismatch.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Contfinued)
Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the
effective inferest method for financial assets
measured subsequently at amortised
cost. Interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired
(see below). For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset from the next
reporting period. If the credit risk on
the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit-impaired, inferest income
is recognised by applying the effective
inferest rate to the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset from the beginning
of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer
credit-impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the
criteria for being measures at amortised
cost or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI
are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured
at fair value at the end of each reporting
period, with any fair value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss. The net
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
excludes any dividend or interest earned
on the financial asset and is included in
the “other gains or losses” line item.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment
under ECL model on financial assefts
(including tfrade receivables, other
receivables, deposits, restricted bank
deposit and bank balances) which are
subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at
each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Contfinued)

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will
result from all possible default events
over the expected life of the relevant
insfrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
("12m ECL") represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result
from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessments are done based on the
Group'’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific
to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both
the current conditions at the reporting
date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime
ECL for trade receivables. The ECL on
these assets are assessed individually.

fReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE-Z-_=F=ZB=+—HLFE

REVBBRRCAERUEERE
REETBE ()

3.2 EREFTBUER (&)

=@ T A (A
EHEE (&
TWMEERE(FE)

FHRAMGFEFREERABIAES
ERFHARERETRENSHM
EYMNAMEEFE -HR 1288
AHEERBE (12ERARMEERS
B AEERTERERE AHRI2E
ARBEENSHMERNH T FH
FHEEEFR FENREFAKEHB
EEEBERERET LREEWE
FREEREZE —REBKIRE RS
B HA A9 & AT AR5 DA R R 3RAR 5 TERI AY
A EETHE -

AEBEEREWE S RAERFH
BHEFEERE ZSEEZRHRFEE
&5 18 T3 4S8 Bl B A o

Fig 2022-2023 XLBEEERRAF

163



164

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

For all other instruments, the Group
measures the loss allowance equal
to 12m ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, in which
case the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or
risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit
risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date
of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking
information that is available without
undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Contfinued)

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk
(Continued)

In particular, the following information
is taken info account when assessing
whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

an actual or expected significant
deterioratfion in the financial
instrument’s external (if available)
or internal credit rafing;

significant deterioration in
external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread,
the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;

fReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE-Z-_=F=ZB=+—HLFE

REMBHERBUEERE
REETBE ()

3.2 EREFTBUER (&)

=@ T A (A
EHEE (&
TWMEERE(FE)

() EEEBAEER (@)

AHR GEFEFERBESX
fRIB A EZEBUTER !

TRITANNEE (WHE) R
N EEFRHBEERHE
HIEE =L

MR HHEERKIBERE
B MEBANEEEREE
REEENERERKIEE
s

Fig 2022-2023 XLBEEERRAF

165



166

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk
(Continued)

In particular, the following information
is taken info account when assessing
whether credit risk has increased
significantly: (Continued)

existing or forecast adverse
changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor; and

an actual or expected significant
adverse change in the regulatory,
economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease
in the debtor's ability fo meet its
debt obligations.

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022-2023

3.2 EREFEE &)

T A (&)
EHEE (&)
THMEERE(E)

() EEEBAEER (@)

AEHR  EFEFERRBESR
iRIBINES - EBUTER : (&)

W% UEILERTER
NFEE IR RIS E o FEH
BYEKAEEREIKET
3

ERAKEXEHRERR
rEEERL R

B ANEE  EER
BEHAEBABMLRE
ATFRD TS BES
A BN KT H o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Contfinued)

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk
(Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of
the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments
are more than 30 days past due,
unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the
effectiveness of the criteria used
to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to
ensure that the criteria are capable
of identifying significant increase
in credit risk before the amount
becomes past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. REM
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL Regst
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

3.2 EREFEE &)

Financial instruments (Continued) 2@ T A (&)
Financial assets (Continued) THEE (&)
Impairment of financial assets cREERE (&)

(Continued)

(i) Definition of default (i) BEXNNESR

For internal credit risk management,
the Group considers an event of
default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained
from exfernal sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in
full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the
Group considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Contfinued)

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

(iiiy Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired
when one or more events of default
that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable
data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty
of the issuer or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as
a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower,
for economic or confractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider; or

(d) itis becoming probable that the
borrower will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial
asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty
is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed
under liquidation or has entered
info bankruptcy proceedings, or
in the case of trade receivables,
when the amounts are over
three years past due, whichever
occurs sooner. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the
Group’s recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Contfinued)

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of
ECL

The measurement of ECL is a
function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e.
the magnitude of the loss if there
is a default) and the exposure
at default. The assessment of
the probability of default and
loss given default is based on
historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted
amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as
the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference
between all contractual cash flows
that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects
fo receive, discounted af the effective
interest rate determined at initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE-Z-_=F=ZA=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. RENBBRERZHEREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REFTHER(E)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 EREFTBER ()
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) LT A (E)
Financial assets (Continued) THEE (&)
Impairment of financial assets cREERE (&)
(Continued)
(v) Measurement and recognition of (V) EHEEBENGTERER (&)
ECL (Continued)
For collective assessment, the RERFAMS  AEBRSA
Group takes into consideration BZEU T4
the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:
Past due status; < EHEER
Nature, size and industry of s EBEBRANME BRERT
debtors; and E NN
External credit ratings where c  HRANHEEFTFHR-

available.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Contfinued)

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of
ECL (Continued)

The grouping is regularly reviewed
by management to ensure the
constituents of each group
confinue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based
on the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset unless the financial
asset is credit-impaired, in which
case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the
financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment
gain or loss in profit or loss for all
financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade receivables
and other receivables where
the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance
account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial
asset only when the contractual rights
to the cash flows from the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset at
amortised cost, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and
receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of
the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract
that evidences a residual interest in the
assets of an enftity after deducting all of
its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Company are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity
(Continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including frade and
other payables and lease liabilities are
subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective intferest
method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial
liabilities when, and only when, the
Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The
difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

fReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—ZE_=F=A=+—HLEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting
policies, which are described in Note 3, the
directors are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and underlying
assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions
are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions
to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in
the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

The following are the key assumptions
concerning the future, and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period that may have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year.

4.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

NRV assessment for inventories

At the end of the reporting period, the
management carries out inventory review
on a product-by-product basis. The Group
performed the inventory review including
estimation of the respective NRV which was
determined as the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business less the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
The Group estimates the NRV for inventories
by taken into account a number of factors
including prices of actual sales during and/
or subsequent to the reporting period and
independent market information in relation
fo each of the inventories held by the
Group. The amount of allowance would be
changed as a result of changes in current
market conditions subsequently.

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amount of
the Group’s inventories was approximately
HK$34,359,000, net of allowance of HKSNIl
(2022: HKS$35,630,000, net of allowance of
HKSNil).

4.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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SMBERRME

THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
—E_=HF=ZA=+—HLEFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Provision of ECL for trade
receivables

Trade receivables are assessed for ECL
individually. The provision of ECL is sensitive
tfo changes in estimate. The information
about the ECL and the Group’s trade
receivables are disclosed in Note 35b.

Valuation of share options

As mentioned in Note 32, the Group has
granted share options to a director and a
consultant during the year ended 31 March
2023. The directors of the Company have
used a Binomial Model to determine the fair
value of the options granted. The Binomial
Model requires the input of subjective
assumptions, such as risk-free rate, dividend
yield, expected volatility and expected
terms, to be made by the directors of
the Company in applying the Binomial
Model (Note 32). The fair value of options
granted for the year ended 31 March 2023
determined using the Binomial Model was
approximately HK$3,753,000 (2022: HKSNIl).

4.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Estimated impairment assessment
of property and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible
assets

Property and equipment, right-of-use
assefs and intangible assets are stated at
costs less accumulated depreciation and
amortisation and impairment, if any. In
determining whether an asset is impaired,
the Group has to exercise judgement and
make estimation, particularly in assessing:
(1) whether an event has occurred or any
indicators that may affect the asset value;
(2) whether the carrying value of an asset
can be supported by the recoverable
amount, in the case of value in use, the net
present value of future cash flows which are
estimated based upon the confinued use
of the asset; and (3) the appropriate key
assumptions to be applied in estimating the
recoverable amounts including cash flow
projections and an appropriate discount
rate. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual
asset (including right-of-use assets and
intangible assets), the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash
generating unit to which the assets belong,
including allocation of corporate assets
when a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be established, otherwise
recoverable amount is determined at the
smallest group of cash generating units, for
which the relevant corporate assets have
been allocated. Changing the assumptions
and estimates, including the discount
rates or the growth rate in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the
recoverable amounts.

4.
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THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Useful lives and amortisation
charges of intangible assets

The Group’'s management determines
the estimated useful lives and related
amortisation charges for the Group’s
intangible assetfs with reference fto the
estimated periods that the Group intends
fo derive future economic benefits from the
use of these assets. Management will revise
the amortization charges where useful lives
are different to that of previously estimated,
or it will write-off or write-down technically
obsolete or non-strategic assets that have
been abandoned or sold. Actual economic
lives may differ from estimated useful lives.
Periodic review could result in a change in
depreciable lives and therefore amortisation
expense in future periods.

4.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—ZE_=F=A=+—HLEE
5. REVENUE 5. LA

(i) Disaggregation of revenue (i) EFEHNBAZDH
from contracts with customers

Year ended 31 March 2023
BE-E--E-RA=t-HLEE

Publishing Retailing Natural

and IPs Digital and  language
licensing  marketing  wholesales  processing Total

iR R A& (4 2ER ARES
ERRE  mRER A EE ag

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$"000
FiEn TiEn TR TR TR

Timing of revenue recognition: BABAZKE

At a point of time: RERY:
- Comic books sales -BEERHE 8,336 - - - 8,336
- Royalty income from - REABEERE
IPs licensing Z IR A 3,647 - - - 3,647
- New media adverfising revenue - SiZEE LA - 15,328 - - 15,328
- Sales of wine - BEEE - - 3,289 - 3,289
Total @t 11,983 15,328 3,289 - 30,600
Geographical markets: WEmS
Hong Kong (place of domicile) B (E£REi) 11,983 - 3,289 - 15,272
The PRC i - 15,328 - - 15,328
Total by 11,983 15,328 3,289 - 30,600
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE-Z-_=F=ZA=+—HLFE

5. REVENUE (Continued) 5.

(i) Disaggregation of revenue
from contracts with customers

A ()
() BEANBAZ DN (&

(Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2022
HE-Z-CF=A=t-HLEE
Publishing Retailing
and IPs Digital and
licensing  marketing  wholesales Total
R R AR HENL TEH
ERRE s i L]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TEn TEn AR
Timing of revenue recognition: BB ZBE
At a point of time: RERE:
- Comic books sales -BEZRHE 8,582 - - 8,582
- Royalty income from IPs licensing - REARERREZRERA 3,470 - - 3470
- New media adverfising revenue - FERESHA - 48,805 - 48,805
Over fime REBE
- Social media marketing -HRERTSER - 1,508 - 1,508
Total b 12,062 50,313 - 62,305
Geographical markets: BEME
Hong Kong (place of domicile) BE (2 EmHEH) 12,052 - - 12,02
The PRC HE - 50,313 - 50,313
Total @ 12,052 50,313 - 62,365
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5. REVENUE (Continued)
(ii) Performance obligations for

contracts with customers
Publishing and IPs licensing

The revenue from publishing and IPs
licensing includes comic book sales
to the wholesale market and royalty
income from IPs licensing.

For comic book sales, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when
control of the goods has transferred
according fo respective agreed terms
of delivery, i.e. the goods have been
delivered to the wholesaler’'s specific
location. Following delivery, the
wholesaler has full discretion over the
manner of distribution and price to sell
the goods and has the right to refurn
unsold goods within 60 days under the
Group’s standard confract terms. The
normal credit term is 60 days upon
delivery.

For licensing business, the Group
grants its IPs to customers. Without
any promise to deliver other goods or
services, the customer can benefit from
the license that are readily available
and the license is considered as a
distinct performance obligation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

5. REVENUE (Continued)

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022-2023

(ii) Performance obligations for

contracts with customers
(Continued)

Publishing and IPs licensing
(Continued)

The performance obligation provides
the customers with a right to use the
Group’s IPs as they exist at the point in
tfime at which the license is granted.
Given there is no explicit or implied
obligation for the Group to undertake
activities during the license period to
change the form or functionality of the
IPs, or support or maintain the value
of the IPs, revenue is recognised at a
point in time.

The Group generally collects 1) the full
amount of contracted royalty income
before or when the IPs are provided to
customers; or 2) sales-based royalty
income that are attributable to a
license of the IPs when the subsequent
sales occurs. For sales-based royalty,
customers agree the sales volume with
the Group each month and seftle the
royalty with a credit term of 60 days.
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5. REVENUE (Continued)
(ii) Performance obligations for

contracts with customers
(Continued)

Digital marketing

Revenue from digital marketing is
primarily derived from the marketing
services provided to the customer
through internet channel including
social media and internet website.
The marketing services include 1)
design and coordination of new
media advertising; 2) IPs digitalisation
for production and 3) social media
marketing with content development.

For new media advertising, since the
Group does not have an enforceable
right tfo payment for performance
completed to date, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when
the conftrol of services or goods is
tfransferred to the customer, being
when the services are rendered and
control of goods are fransferred to
the customers. Certain contracts with
customers contain multiple distinct
performance obligations to be
performed by the Group. The Group
uses ifs best estimate of selling prices by
expected cost plus a margin approach
of these service obligations as the basis
for the allocation of the transaction
price.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBGRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

5. REVENUE (Continued)
(ii) Performance obligations for

5. WA ()
(i) BEF AN BORE ()

contracts with customers
(Continued)

Digital marketing (Contfinued)

For social media marketing, revenue
is recognised over time when the
customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the
Group’s performance as the Group
performs, i.e. the broadcast of the
advertisement.

The Group normally grants credit
period of 30 to 120 days to customers
and requires certain customers to
provide upfront deposits. When the
Group receives a deposit before
production commences, this will
give rise to contract liabilities which
represent the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a
customer for which the Group has
received consideratfion (or an amount
of consideration is due) from the
customer. Conversely, confract asset
is recognised over the period in which
the social media marketing services
are performed representing the
Group’s right fo consideration for the
services performed because the rights
are conditioned on the Group’s future
performance in achieving specified
milestones. The contract assets are
fransferred to trade receivables when
the rights become unconditional, i.e.
upon completion of all performance
obligations within a contract.
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5. REVENUE (Continued)
(ii) Performance obligations for

contracts with customers
(Continued)

Retailing and wholesales

Revenue from retailing and wholesales
is primarily derived from sales of wine.
Revenue is recognised at a point in
time when the goods are delivered and
titles have passed. The normal credit
term is 60 days upon delivery.

Natural language processing

Revenue from natural language
processing business is primarily derived
from the sale of products and the
services with Al speech recognition
and natural language understanding
technology. The products include
software and embedded chipset, in
addition to devices installed with chips.
The services include licensing the code
to customers. Revenue is recognised
at a point in time when the control of
services or goods is transferred to the
customer, being when the services are
rendered and control of goods are
fransferred fo the customers.

(iii) Transaction price allocated

to the remaining performance
obligation for contracts with
customers

All goods or services provided by the
Group are for contracts with original
expected duration of one year or
less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these
unsatisfied confracts is not disclosed.
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ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE-Z-_=F=ZA=+—HLFE

6. OTHER INCOME 6. Hiygr A
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-=

HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET TET
Bank interest income fﬁﬁﬂ SURA 215 191
Comics course income BEREBHRA = 9

Dividend income from financial BAFEEFAEBRZRZ
assets at FVTPL ERMEEZRERA 28 98
Subsidies (Note) 85 (B aE) 827 -
Sundry income g A 104 139
Written off of other payables 6 H A RE (S 58 39 -
1,213 437

Note:The subsidies included the amount of
approximately HK$676,000 granted in relation

to the Employment Support Scheme under the 1R
Anti-epidemic Fund provided by the Government HhE—
of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
in respect of COVID-19-related subsidies. All
subsidies were one-off and non-recurring in

nature.

7. OTHER GAINS OR LOSSES

7. Hiblim B R

ME WA EEERENITRERMAMN20198M B

SHEERBEEE  TRENHERAREEST
£ &I PR B9 49676,00078 7T © AT Bk
RUERFEEM -

2023 2022
—E-= —_E-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
(Loss) gain on fair value change of BRATVEEFABGEERZ
financial assets at FVTPL TREEZ AT EES
Bz (F5E) la
- held for trading -EBEEE (381) 64
- others - Hith (996) 6,245
Loss on disposal of property and HEMER
equipment REZER (14) (151)
Gain on deregistration of a subsidiary 88— BIK B A T = Uk 42 -
Gain on early termination of leases RERILBESEZ W& - 932
Net foreign exchange (loss) gain X (B518) Wit #58 (608) 192
(1.957) 7,282

188 Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022-2023




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE-Z-_=F=ZB=+—HLFE

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. BMIKEH
2023 2022
—E-=fF —_E-
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTEx TET
Interests on bank borrowings RITERZFE - 931
Interests on lease liabilities HEEBZFE 125 140
125 1,071
OTHER IMPAIRMENT LOSSES 9. HitgEEIE
2023 2022
—E-=F —E_-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FExT
Impairment losses recognised in MRTHEEEERZ
respect of WA 1B
- goodwill (Note 18) - B2 (Mfz£18) - (1.452)
- infangible assets (Note 20) - \miEEE (ME20) (245) (1.309)
- property and equipment (Note 16) - MERZE (HaE16) - ®)
- right-of-use assets (Note 17) - FAEEE (MH&E17) (1.778) -
(2.023) (2,769)
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ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE-Z-_=F=ZA=+—HLFE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive
directors, being the Group’s chief operating
decision maker ("CODM"), for the purposes
of resource allocation and assessment of
segment performance focuses on types of
goods or services delivered or provided.
This is also the basis upon which the Group
is organised and specifically focuses
on the Group’s operating divisions. No
operating segments identified by the CODM
have been aggregated in arriving at the
reportable segments of the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2023,
the Group commenced the business in
natural language processing through new
incorporation of a subsidiary as detailed in
Notfe 37.

Specifically, the Group’s operating and
reportable segments under HKFRS 8
Operating Segments are as follows:

- Publishing and I[Ps licensing:
publication of comic books and royalty
income from licensing IPs of comics.

- Digital marketing: providing digital
marketing and communication, IPs
digitalisation and agency of IPs services
in the PRC.

= Retailing and wholesales: retailing of
wine.

- Natural language processing: Al
speech technology with real-time
human infteraction, including design
and implementation in both software
and embedded chipset domains.

10. 7 & ¥
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DM RRECENBE IR I HEMR
2ERERB2EE BT AEBEEH
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#B e
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ABTEEER > FHBERMFEI7
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ﬁ%ﬁ AEERFBECEEB 2EERTR

- HRERABEERE: BEFHLMR
kRBBEANBERREZRBERA

- HIBETSEERE: RPERMABEL
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A ERRER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE-Z-_=F=ZB=+—HLFE

10.SEGMENT INFORMATION 10. 2 E ¥t (58)
(Continued)
Segment revenue and results DEBU AR EE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s UTAEREBZIWMAREZERELE R AR
revenue and results by operating and EREETEZD AT ©

reportable segments.

For the year ended 31 March 2023 Br —_FE_—HF=-H=+—HIFE
Publishing Retailing Natural
and Digital and language
IPs licensing ~ marketing ~ wholesales  processing Consolidated
R AR HEf B
ERRE TEER  FERHEE RERE &4

HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
TR TR THR THR THR

Revenue KA

External sales HPHE 11,983 15,328 3,289 - 30,600
Segment resuls e 1,261 (8,654) g2 9 (9.305)
Unallocated expenses AAREX (28.217)
Unallocated income FABEBA 465
Other gains and losses EbYERER (1,386)
Loss before fax KHAEE (38,503)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE-Z-_=F=ZA=+—HLFE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION

10. 7 #BE# (&)

(Confinued)
Segment revenue and results DEWARFEE (B)
(Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE—E-——F=f=1—HFIEFEE
Publishing and Digital  Retailing and
IPs licensing markefing wholesales  Consolidated
AR R A HEL
ERRE miaEE SEAME Ga
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
TEn TEn TEn TEn
Revenue /9N
External sales HRHE 12,052 50,313 - 62,365
Segment results PHEE 798 (24,959) (420) (24,581)
Unallocated expenses APREX (20.200)
Unallocated income ARERA 112
Other gains and losses EthERER 6,547
Impairment loss on goodwill BHEZHESE (1,452)
Loss before tax BRHAER (39.574)
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10. SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Segment revenue and results
(Continued)

The accounting policies of the operating
segments are the same as the Group’s
accounting policies as described in Note
3. Segment results represent the loss before
tfax incurred by each segment without the
allocation of certain other income, (loss)
gain on fair value change of financial assets
at FVTPL, impairment losses on goodwill,
equity-settled share-based payments and
unallocated corporate expenses. This is
the measure reported to the CODM for
the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.

As the Group’s assets and liabilities are only
reviewed by the CODM as a whole and
hence no analysis of the Group’s assets
and liabilities by operating segments is
disclosed.

10.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE-Z-_=F=ZB=+—HLFE

7 EBE R (&
DR AR E & ()

RED I 2SI BREWFIMM 2 A& H
B BRER - 2 MEBRESTIBAELE
ZBHATEE  YESRES T HMARA -
BAFEESABRERZEREEZLTF
BEZ5 (FE) WE  BEZRESE -
DR EE R AR KR D B %5
XoBAFELERARERSE UMFER
DB RRBEFME 2 -

HRAEB-EEREBFAEBEHRE
BEEERREERN HMAUERELAEEE
ERBEREEIHED 204 -

Fig 2022-2023 XLBEEERRAF
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

E_E_=—HF=-A=+t—HLEFE

:I:—q—

(Continued)

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION

10. 7 #BE# (&)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBGRRME

Other segment information HibpEEE
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_E_=F=F=1+—HIFE
Publishing Retailing Natural
and Digital and language Segment
IPslicensing ~ marketing ~ wholesales  processing total  Unallocated Consolidated
ERE AR Y&l AR
ERRE mEEE  BEENE ZERE AHEH FAE &8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThT TET Téx Téx THR THRT TET
Amounts included in the measure of 3F &2 SHER FFEfE 2
segment profit or loss: 8
Amorfization of intangible assets B EE B 25 379 - 631 631
Bank inferest income RITREWA () (137) ) (4 (179) (36) (215)
Depreciation of property and NERZBEZRE
equipment 4 17 - 58 59 117
Depreciation of right-ofuse assets  FAEEEZE 525 - - 525 1,560 2,085
Finance costs BHER 39 - - 39 86 125
Gain on deregistration of EH-EREATZ
a subsidiory i - (42) - (42) (2)
Impairment loss under ECL model, ~ BEEEEBEEET
net of reversal ZHERE
nBEE (681) 14 ) 12 (626) an (643)
Impairment loss on right-of-use FREEEL
assefs HESE = - - 1778 1778
Impairment loss on infangible EREEZ
assefs HESE - 25 - 25 25
Share of loss of an associate EiE-HBEAT
B 170 - - 170 170
Amounts regularly provide EHREELERRE
to CODM Rtz o8
Addition o non-current assets TEFRBEE 34 13 = 4 14 61
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE-Z-_=F=ZB=+—HLFE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION 10. 7 HE R (48)
(Continued)
Other segment information Hftt 5 & ¥ (&)
(Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2022 B - E - —HF=-H=+—HIFEF
Publishing Retailing
and IPs Digital and Segment
licensing markefing  wholesales total  Unallocated ~ Consolidated
LR R A gt
ERERE nEKE  TEEHE il AIE e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThEn TER TiEn ThEn TEn TiEn
Amounts included in the TEADREREEL
measure of segment profitor  £%:
loss:
Amortisation of infangible gumyaE
assets - 1,861 - 1,861 - 1,861
Bank interest income RONERA 39 (138) - () (14) (19m
Depreciation of property and ¥R %2
equipment nE 1 76 - 77 61 138
Depreciation of right-of-use RRELEEZ
assets e - 1,030 - 1,030 1,067 2,087
Finance costs HHER 3 974 - 1,009 62 1071
Impairment loss under ECL REGEFERET
model, net of reversal ZREER Nk
8E 141 (1.017) 2 (874) 87 (787)
Impairment loss on property  ¥RFEZ
and equipment HEFE - 8 - 8 = 8
Impairment loss on goodwill BEZHERE - - - - 1,452 1,452
Impairment loss on infangible ~ EFBEZHERE
asset - 1,309 - 1,309 - 1,309
Share of loss of an associcte  Efi-EKE AR
BE 260 - - 260 - 260
Amounts regularly provide to ~ EHHTELERFH
CODM RitzeR
Addition o non-current assets  FEXRHEE 6 = S 6 4 10

Fig 2022-2023 XLBEEERRAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Geographic information

The Group’s operations are located in the
PRC, including Hong Kong.

Information about the Group’s revenue from
external customers is presented based on the
location of goods physically delivered to or
location of services provided to the customers
and information about its non-current assets
is based on geographical location of the

10. 7 #BEF (&

& & F
AEEZELSLEBARTE (BESH) o

FRAKBEXRBNMFEFZ2BAZERTS
REERERXFztHREEFREER
B2 MEBEFRRBEEZE
BLEREEZFRERE -

assefts.
Revenue from external
customers Non-current assets
REMBEEZWA ERBEE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—EBEo=F B —EBEo=F B
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FH&T FExT TH&T FExT
Hong Kong 58
(place of domicile) (EXFrE) 15,272 12,052 7.484 2,655
The PRC AR 15,328 50,313 - 672
30,600 62,365 7,484 3,327

Note: Non-current assets excluded those relating to
deferred tax assets and financial instruments
including financial assets at FVTPL and rental
deposits.

M FRBEETERRELERAEERERTA (8
BRATEEFABSR2EREERESES)
BRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding
years contributing over 10% of total sales of
the Group are as follows:

10.

fReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—ZE_=F=A=+—HLEE

7R EF (&

FHETEFEF &R

MEFERBEMASERAHEEFEI0%
ZEFEZWBAMT :

2023 2022

—E=-= —E==
HK$'000 HKS$000
FHERT FET
Customer A’ ZFR N/A =i /A* 15,580
Customer B’ 2EZ' N/A =& /A* 7,670
Customer C' EFR' 6,251 N/A FER’
Customer D? BEET? 5,590 N/A Fi@Ef*
Customer E? =R 3,289 N/A T@EmA*

Revenue from digital marketing segment.

Revenue from publishing and IPs licensing
segment.

Revenue from retailing and wholesales segment.
The corresponding revenue did not contribute

over 10% of the Group’s total revenue in the
respective year.

k WARBEB LT SEREDE
2 WARBHRRABEEEED I -
: WAREZEEMB D -

¢ HEVALARAREBEFERFEEZBABRAE
J§kZ 7R 10% °

Fig 2022-2023 XLBEEERRAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION 10. 2 HE ¥ (58)

(Continued)

Revenue from major products
and services

The following is an analysis of the Group’s
revenue from its major products and
services:

TEEMRBRBEVRA

REBCZTEEMRBRBELE ZWADM
LU

2023 2022

—E-=F —E=-C
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FET FBxT
Comic books BEEE 8,336 8,582
Premium wine EBERE 3,289 -
Royalty income i R g A 3,647 3,470
Digital marketing HIB Tt hmiZHERE 15,328 50,313
30,600 62,365
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11.LOSS BEFORE TAX

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

HE-2=

1. BRBAIE 18

=H=ZA=1t—-BLHFE

2023 2022
—E-=F —E—_—
HK$'000 HKS$'000
TET FExT
Loss before tax has been arrived at BREIATET B E HIBR (T )
after charging (crediting): TH&E :
Staff costs BIA
Directors” emoluments (Note 15) EEME (MIEE15) 6,211 3,349
Other staff costs: HME TR :
- Retirement benefit scheme - BRIRBEFIGTEI R
conftributions 973 1,345
- Salaries and other benefits -FERHEMER 17,372 28,789
24,556 33,483
Auditor’s remuneration Z EED B <
- Audit services - BITR® 1,580 1.450
- Non-audit services - FHE R 220 -
Cost of inventories recognised as BRABMIZFEEAR
expenses 7,505 4,302
Costs to fulfil the contracts with EREFEMN AN
customers (including staff costs of (BEEIREYN
approximately HKS$808,000 808,000 Tt (=& ==
(2022: HK$734,000)) 4 1 734,000 7T) ) 8.579 36,305
Depreciation of property and MERREB2ITE
equipment 117 138
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZIE 2,085 2,087
Amortisation of intangible assets BREE#E 631 1,861
Legal, consultancy and other R BAREMERE
professional fees (included in ERAGIAHEMER)
other expenses) (Note i) (Bt =Ei) 7.126 9,284
Research cost (included in W3R A
other expenses) (GFAHMmEAR) 5,939 10,239
Equity-settled share-based payments DR EENRO M (5T
(included in other expenses) (Note i) A H B ) (B &Fii) 1,566 -
Expenses relating to short-term leases HEHESEE-EX 1,050 1,392
Gain on deregistration of a subsidiary 38— BIK B A T 2 W% (42) =

BEAREEXN TREREERMEERS

Note i: The amounts represent fees paid to lawyers Fd i
and consultants providing legal services and
professional advices on business operations
and presented under “other expenses”.

Note ii: It represents share options granted to external Fff =i -

consultant in exchange for services rendered
to the Group. Please refer to Note 32 for
details.

IR 2

REXBZR2EMEERZER  L2HR
[EBERIET -

KT EPRER LRI @ A S B R ERBNE
MRAE - HIRES RS2 -

022-2023 X{LEEEERRAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

12.INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CREDIT)

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022-2023

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of
Bermuda, the Company is not subject to
any income tax in Bermuda for both years.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5%
(2022: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable
profits for both years.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime
of Hong Kong Profits Tax, the first HK$2
million of profits of the qualifying group
entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits
above HKS$S2 million will be taxed at 16.5%.
The profits of group entities not qualifying
for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.
Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax of
the qualifying group entity is calculated
at 8.25% on the first HKS2 million of the
estimated assessable profits and at 16.5%
on the estimated assessable profits above
HKS2 million.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income
Tax (the “EIT Law") and Implementation Regulation
of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries
is 25% for both years.

12.FiBHAx (BR)

REBREZERAREAN X2 RME
FENBARBREBREMHAESH -

BERENEGHIOREMEFE 2 LT ERB

BmAIEI6.5% (ZEZZF : 16.5%) 2B =E
o

RESBANEHMAG SEREEER
H&1R8.25% 2 M EFIEF E2H BB THM
BIE > WARI65% 2B EHMNBERB2ER
BLTUEFBE2HE - RFEFEHWR
FER2EBER RN BEBERRE B
RB165%HB - At - SEREBMERN
BRNEGHEAAERBENE2BEER T
f98.25%=t & - MBB2A BB T (L5t &
b A B 4216.5%:T & ©

RE(PEARAXMBEEMRES X (1
ERBHE) REEREB LB RKAG
wP B B B xR TA W B F B 2 B R 19 B 25% ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12.INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CREDIT)
(Continued)

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is
calculated at the rates prevailing in the
relevant jurisdictions.

fReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—ZE_=F=A=+—HLEE

12.FiBHimAx (BR) (&)

REM T EEEEE 2 BB RAM %
HE 2B ABEHH -

2023 2022
—_E_=F —_E=-=
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FET TET
Current tax ENERRE 18
- Hong Kong Profit Tax - BEBAEH 195 282
Deferred tax R E
- Deferred tax credit - EERIER R (43) (651)
Income tax expense (credit) FriE®ipx (ER) 152 (369)

Details of deferred tax are set out in Note

30.

BREES HF BN -

Fig 2022-2023 XLBEEERRAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
E-EBE_=F=A=+—HLHFE

3

12.INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CREDIT)
(Continued)

The income tax credit for the year can be

12.Fi8HAx (BR) (&)

FAMGHESTEASBEERAMEE

Note: The domestic tax rate (which is PRC Enterprise
Income Tax rate) in the jurisdiction where the

operation of Group is substantially based is used.

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022-2023

reconciled to the loss before tax per the WERYBRB A EREERNT:
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as follows:
2023 2022
—E-=5F —E-
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FET

Loss before tax MR AIES 1B (38,503) (39.574)
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 1R E & Fr 55 8 &25%

25% (Note) BH 2 BIE (M) (9.626) (9.894)
Tax effect of income not taxable in %%J?Eﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ

determining taxable profit WAz & (2,333) (4,976)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible  FHEERF & %IJW\—H:III b

in determining taxable profit FX2BBEE 2,034 6,440
Tax effect of share of loss of an e —BE AREEZ

associate BEsE 28 43
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised FREMRF EE I8 2 H %

- 7,606 6,433

Utilisation of tax losses previously not BRI ARERERHE

recognised B8 (56) (113)
Effect of different tax rates of REMAERERE 2

subsidiaries operating in other MEARZAEIREZ

jurisdictions e 2,440 1,250
Tax effect of deductible temporary RFER Z—HD E R E R

differences not recognised ZHBEE 236 623
Income tax at concessionary rate REBBEFEZMEH (165) (165)
Tax concessions BIEEE (2) (10)
Total income tax expense (credit) FriEBim Ke) B85 152 (369)

ME CERAKEAROEBEMERNZEEZEA
PR (AR EEERERBR)



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13.

14.

DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed during
the year ended 31 March 2023, nor has any
dividend been proposed since the end of
reporting period (2022: HKSNil).

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss
per share attributable to the owners of the
Company is based on the following data:

fReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE-Z-_=F=ZB=+—HLFE

13! Hﬁ/%\
RBE-ZE-=f=A=+—-ALEED

ﬁﬁ&L%mﬁwwiéﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁ
BRRKMEMRE(ZEZ2F F8T) °
14. 8 RER

ARABAEEANREBREARBESFED
BRETHHEHE -

2023 2022
—s=-= —E-=
‘000 ‘000
TR TR
Weighted average number of shares  FARHESRERR
for the purposes of basic and diluted #5518 =~ N
loss per share YR E 1,668,657 1,641,999
2023 2022
—E-=fF —Eg=-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERT FHET
Loss for the year attributable to owners FARFTESREARL #E
of the Company for the purpose of EBiEANNTHEE AE
calculating basic and diluted loss per {EARFEEIE
share (37.223) (28,943)

The computation of diluted loss per
share does not assume the exercise of
the outstanding share options since the
assumed conversion would result in a
decrease in loss per share for the year
ended 31 March 2023.

No diluted loss per share has been
presented as there were no potential
ordinary shares in issue for the year ended
31 March 2022.

HRBRREREERBE_T_=F=A

ST-HLEFEZEREBERD  #FdE
BRBEFEARKILBHRRTEEDRTEZ
BIRHE -

HRBEZE-_E_—_F=HA=t+—HL=EE
WELSMERTEEEZER RALELT
BREEERE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ and chief
executive’'s emoluments

Directors’ and chief executive’s
remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules
and the CO, is as follows:

15.E% - TRAIRSREEA
B2ME

(ESRTRARZHE
REBA L HRAR A AEAIREZ

FEEERTHRAEAHZZMENT:

Retirement Equity-

Salaries benefit settled
and other scheme share based
Fees benefits contributions payment Total
HER BURN  UBREE
e EfhRI% FEMR  WROXA #g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TR FiEn TR TR TR

2023 “BC=F
Executive directors (Note i) HAES (M)
Kwan Kin Chung [

Yuen Kin i

Chow Lai Wah Livia (Note v)

Non-executive directors (Note ii)

BEE (Hiv)

FATES (W)

Wong Kon Man Jason (Nofe vi) T8N (H3vi)
Liu Ka Ying Rebecca (Note vii) BxE (Wvi)
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
directors (Note iii) (taiii)

Fan Chun Wah Andrew ik e

Wong Kwan Kit EBA

Mung Yat Lik S|

Total R

120 556 18 = 694
120 816 18 - 954
9% 282 14 - 390
11 1,002 17 2,187 3,317
26 105 5 = 136
240 - - - 240
240 - - - 240
240 - - - 240
1,191 2,761 12 2,187 6,211
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE-Z_=F=ZA=+—HLFE

15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 15. 55 - THAEARRSREEA

AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S B2zME (&)
EMOLUMENTS (Confinued)
(a) Directors’ and chief (DESRTHERZHME (&)
executive’'s emoluments
(Continued)
Refirement Equity-
Salaries benefit seffled
and other scheme  share based
Fees benefits - contributions payment Total
HER RUER  ERLE
ik Eft& FERR WROXG L

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn TiEn Tin TR T

2022 et -2
Executive directors (Note i) HTES (W)
Huang Mingguo (Note iv) ERE () 3] 447 5 - 483
Kwan Kin Chung BfeR 120 556 18 - 694
Yuen Kin ®E 120 816 18 - 954
Chow Lai Wah Livia (Nofe v) BEE (Mitv) 120 360 18 - 498
Independent non-executive BUFHTES

directors (Note iii) (Bt aiii)
Fan Chun Wah Andrew ik € 20 - - - 240
Wong Kwan Kit BEEAR 240 - - - 240
Mung Yot Lik ES)| 240 - - - 240
Total ok 111 2,179 59 - 3,349
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

BE—s—-—=F=

A=t—-HLFE

15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief
executive’'s emoluments
(Continued)

Nofte i

Note ii:

Note iii:

Note iv:

Note v:

Note vi:

Note vii:

The executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were for their services in
connection with the management of the
affairs of the Company and the Group.

The non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were for their services as
directors of the Company.

The independent non-executive directors’
emoluments shown above were for their
services as directors of the Company.

Mr. Huang Mingguo resigned as
the executive director and the chief
executive officer with effect from 2 July
2021.

Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia resigned as the
vice chairman of the board of directors
and an executive director with effect
from 13 January 2023.

Mr. Wong Kon Man Jason ("Mr. Wong")
has been appointed as a non-executive
director with effect from 27 April 2022.

Dr. Liu Ka Ying Rebecca has been
appointed as a non-executive director
with effect from 13 January 2023.

During the both years, no emoluments
were paid by the Group to the directors

as a

discretionary bonus or an

inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as a compensation for loss of

office.

B i

B &Eii

B Ziii -

Ff siv -

Ffsky

B = vi

Fff & vii

EXFRABTESECHMENIRKESR
EEEARARTARAEEER 2 RN

EXFRAIFATES2HMEDRES
BRERQTDESMEMBRB2ME -

EXFRINBLFDTEEZHETIF
REREADRAESMEMARSE 2N

ERELECBEAATNTESR
THHEF B-ET-_—FtH=-Bik
£ e

AREZTCBHIESSREERI
TEE - A-FE-=Ff—-At=HE
£

IBXEE(EELEDCEZERE
BITEE B-E-_-_FWA-TL
B4R -

BREBIORZERFHITES
B-E-_=f-At+t=HEBEX-

REMEFEHE AEELEGRE
EXTHMEFEARBRARBERS
b0 A £ B 5 A h0 A B 2 3% B o Bl B
Zf1E o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE-Z-_=F=ZB=+—HLFE

15.E% - TRAIRSREEA
B2 (&)

15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief (ESRTHRERZME (&B)

executive’'s emoluments
(Continued)

There was no arrangement under
which a director waived or agreed to
waive any remuneration during both
years.

During the year ended 31 March
2023, Mr. Wong was granted share
options, in respect of his service to the
Group under the share option scheme
of the Company. The equity-settled
share-based payment represent the fair
value of share options granted to the
director as charged to the Company’s
profit and loss, buf not as income
of the director. The value of share
options granted to director is measured
according fo the Group’s accounfing
policy for share-based payment set out
in Note 3. Details of the share option
scheme and these benefits in kind are
set out in Note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BEBRESHRIEDERREMEF
EHEBEMME 8-

BE-_Z-_=F=A=1+—HLEFE"
ITRERBARBDBRES MR
AEBEZRBERBRE - UIERES
ENROXNERTESBEREND
FEE RAQXDEDMNER MFEE
ERA-RTESNBEREEEDR
BHEASHEAEEERBURDHE
BMONROSHRERAE - BRE
ERZEBYBAN 2HBERGEY
IR E32 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 15. 55  THAZBRGEHREEA

AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S =]
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Employees’ emolument (b EEZEHE

The five highest paid individuals with
the highest emoluments in the Group,
two (2022: one) were directors of the
Company whose emoluments are
included in the disclosure in Note 15(a)
above. Emoluments of the remaining
three (2022: four) individuals are as

AEEBBRSHFREBRALF BB (=
EIF —R)ALKDANEE KE
ZHEE R EXMFEIS5()FHE -
HBH =2 (ZE=-=-F . mRK[) ALtz
MEeRTENT:

follows:
2023 2022
—=E—-= —E=-=

HK$'000 HKS$'000
TET FET
Salaries and other benefits HeREMAZF 2,424 2,809

Retirement benefit scheme EIREFFHEI R
contributions 174 453
2,598 3,262

The number of the highest five paid
employees who are not the directors of
the Company whose remuneration fell
within the following bands is as follows:

FHERUATHEEYFARTES
MESHFLEEEBRBENT :

Number
A"
2023 2022
—_E-=5F —_E-_F

Nil fo HKS1,000,000 Z£%1,000,000% 7T 3 4
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE-Z-_=F=ZB=+—HLFE

16. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 16. WERRE
Vehicles,
Leasehold  furniture and
Improvements equipment Total
BEN RE Bl
k8 e ag
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TR TR THR
CosT S
AP T April 2021 RZE-Z-ERmA-A 900 7,366 8,260
Additions hE - 10 10
Disposals & (343) (260) (603)
Witien-of W 79 (4024) (4103)
Exchange realignment Exp% 9 11 20
At 31 March 2022 WZBZZEZA=1-H 487 3103 3,590
Additions hE - 61 61
Disposals e - (72) (712)
Written-off s - #) #)
Exchange realignment ExdE - (8) )
At 31 March 2023 WIEZ=ZfZA=1-H 487 3,041 3,028
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT FHAERAE
AP T April 2021 RZEZ-ERmA-A 734 7,059 7,193
Provided for the year REERE 47 9 138
Impairment loss recognised in profit or loss RERED 2 AEEE - 8 8
Eliminated on disposals HERH (219) (199) (418)
Witien-of W 79) (4024) (4103)
Exchange realignment ExpR 4 5 9
At 31 March 2022 RZBZZEZfA=1-H 487 2940 3427
Provided for the year AEERE - N7 17
Eliminated on disposals HER S - (48) (48)
Writfen-off i - (43) (43)
Exchange realignment ExFE - (14) (14)
At 31 March 2023 RZBZ=£ZfA=1-H 487 2,952 3,439
CARRYING VALUES REE
Af 31 March 2023 R-B-Z5ZA=1-H - 89 89
At 31 March 2022 RZEZZ£=A=1-H - 163 163

Fig 2022-2023 XLBEEERRAF 209



210

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

H
lilll\

FOR
e

16.

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022-2023

SMBERRME

THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
—E_=HF=ZA=+—HLEFE

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost
over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method, at the following rates
per annum:

Shorter of the lease
term or 10%
15% to 20%

Leasehold
improvements
Vehicles, furniture

and equipment

As at 31 March 2023, property and equipment
with an aggregate cost of approximately
HK$2,273,000 (2022: HK$2,294,000) were fully
depreciated but in use.

Impairment assessment for
property and equipment and
right-of-use assets

Due to the continuous decline in financial
performance of publishing and IPs licensing
business and certain digital marketing
business in PRC (collectively, the "Relevant
CGUs"), the directors concluded there
was an indication for impairment and
conducted impairment assessment on
recoverable amounts of the Relevant CGUs
which included property and equipment
and right-of-use assets (including corporate
assets allocated). The recoverable
amounts of the Relevant CGUs have
been determined based on value in use
calculation.

16. MERHRMHE (&

BRE2MGAUEAFHERAERERU
TFRFTRITEUME R

HEMEEE IS 10%
(UBREERE)
AE R 15%220%
K&fE

AZE_=F=ZHA=+—H BHELHLEH
2,273,000/ 8 T (ZE = 4 : 2,294,000
) ZMERBRECEEIFNERNEFLA -

MERBEUAREAREE 2B
E 1k

HAEREANBEEEREXZBURNFTE
ZETEBALTSERERE (GBIHEER
SELEEM) YRRREZ - EEA/W
DRERR  IREBRRESELEENZA
WEEBEETRENG ETFEEDER
RBUREREEE (BELEXEESIK) -
MERESELEML 2 TWE S ETIIRER
BEAEMERE -



16.PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

Impairment assessment for
property and equipment and
right-of-use assets (Continued)

Based on the result of the assessment, the
directors determined that the recoverable
amounts of the Relevant CGUs are lower
than the carrying amounts. The impairment
amount has been allocated to each
category of property and equipment and
right-of-use assets such that the carrying
amount of each category of asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value
less cost of disposal, its value in use and
zero. Based on the value in use calculation
and the allocation, an impairment of HKSNil
(2022: HK$8,000) and HK$1,778,000 (2022:
HKSNil) respectively, has been recognised
against the carrying amount of property
and equipment and right-of-use assets.

16.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE-Z-_=F=ZB=+—HLFE

Y= R ()

MERZBEARERAEEEZR
B (&)

BRIAMGER ESHNENBERSELE
UzAREEREREREE - BRESH
ETRERENERRBUREREEE -
EEEEECREAEFTSHNBREERAH
NFEEREERS HEMREE AR
Z(ZENESE) REEHEEFSEN
RERDE ERWERKREBUAREHDE
BECZREERIDNTET (ZT=Z
8,000 ) k1,778,000 T (=&F ==
THT) ZRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17. EFEEE
Leased
buildings
HERF
HKS$'000
FET
As at 31 March 2023 R-ZBZ=f=A=+—H
Carrying values fREE 617
As at 31 March 2022 R-B--=A=+-—H
Carrying values fREE 172
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE-_Z_=F=A=+—-HLEE
Depreciation charge MEX (2,085)
Impairment loss recognised in profit or loss M8 PR Z B ER R (1,778)
For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE-F--F=A=+t-RALHFE
Depreciation charge MEXH (2,087)
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT FTHET
Expenses relating to short-term leases HEHHESE@EEX 1,050 1,392
Total cash outflow for leases HERERHLRE 3,537 5,300
Additions to right-of-use assets nEEREERE 4,308 2,325
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17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

For both years, the Group leases various
offices for its operations. Lease contracts
are entered infto for fixed term of two years
(2022: two to three years). In determining
the lease term and assessing the length of
the non-cancellable period, the Company
applies the definition of a contract and
determines the period for which the
contract is enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term
lease for office premises and warehouse. As
at 31 March 2023, the portfolio of short-term
leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term
leases to which the short-term lease
expense as disclosed above.

Impairment loss of approximately HKS$1,778,000
has been recognised during the year ended
31 March 2023 (2022: HKSNil). Details of
impairment assessment are set out in Note
16.

17.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE-Z-_=F=ZB=+—HLFE

EHAREE (&)

REBEFERN  AEERHEEREZRE
WMAZE ATV HESHNEEEBNAM
F(ZEZZF WME=F) - BEHAHR
AT HENERER  AQFAERS
WeESR  URRESHZERBH -

AEBENRMAEZMERET LEHME
E-R-TB-_=F=ZA=+—H EHHA
EHECREYMKEEBHEHER I Z2ES
HEASHEM -

BE-ZE-=F=ZA=+—HLFE B
BB EBIELN1,778,0008 T (===
F BT o BEMGFBHAMEI6
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

18. GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT
ASSESSMENT

18. & & KR EFd

Total
wnE
HKS$'000
FET

Cost R A
At 1 April 2021 RZE-_—FMA—H 22,797
Exchange realignment R 918
At 31 March 2022 R-ZB-ZZZF=ZB=+—H 23,715
Exchange realignment E R B (1.689)
At 31 March 2023 R-ZBE-=F=ZHA=+—H 22,026
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT Rt RE
At T April 2021 RZE-_—FMA—H 21,401
Impairment loss recognised for the year FREBRAZREEE 1,452
Exchange realignment R 862
At 31 March 2022 R-BEZZ=ZF=ZH=+—H 23,715
Exchange realignment ERFE (1.689)
At 31 March 2023 RZBZ=F=A=+—H 22,026

CARRYING VALUES
At 31 March 2023

At 31 March 2022

BREE
R-ZB-Z=ZF=ZRA=+—H

RZE-_—_H#=H=+—H
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18. GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT

ASSESSMENT (Continued)

For the purposes of impairment testing,
goodwill has been allocated to two
individual CGUs, each comprising a
subsidiary, namely Egmen Technology
Limited* (A =B FHFRIZRBRAT) (CEgmen”)
and Hyperchannel Info Tech., Ltd* (4t R EE &
Fx =z ERF AR A R) ("Hyperchannel Info”),
both subsidiaries are in digital marketing
segment. An individual CGU is considered to
be impaired when its recoverable amount
declines below ifs carrying amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of value in
use and fair value less costs of disposal.

In addition to goodwill above, property
and equipment, intangible assets and
right-of-use assetfs (including allocation
of corporate assets) that generate cash
flows together with the related goodwill are
also included in the respective CGU for the
purpose of impairment assessment.

* English name is for identification purpose only

18.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE-Z-_=F=ZB=+—HLFE

B E K AR ()

RBEAERMS BECIEEMEES
ReE4EN  SEH—BNBEAREK
MERZHFMAMZBARXATEZHFM K
TREEHEEENZAERAA (EES
&) mZmENEARYEERETS
BRI B -BAREELEEMRAETRE
SHERLEENARAERERAERE -
TREEEAEAEERAFEERLE
BA(UBRSERE) -

BEMEEN BEERSRBIWERR
% BREEREAREE BELCLEE
SR ERABEERRAETEIASE
TREELBM -

* KX HBEHRRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBGRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

3

E-EBE_=F=A=+—HLHFE

18. GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022-2023

ASSESSMENT (Continued)

The basis of the recoverable amounts of
the above CGUs and their major underlying
assumptions are summarised below:

Egmen

The goodwill had been fully impaired as at
31 March 2021.

Hyperchannel Info

The recoverable amount of this CGU has
been determined based on value in use
calculation. During the year ended 31
March 2022, due to significant decline in
revenue and losses suffered, the directors
performed impairment assessment and have
consequently determined full impairment on
goodwill related to Hyperchannel Info.

Based on the assessment, the management
of the Group estimates this CGU would
not generate net cash inflow in the future,
thus the recoverable amount of this CGU
was determined fo be Nil. As a result,
an impairment loss of approximately
HKS$1,452,000 and approximately HK$8,000
related to Hyperchannel Info have been
recognised on goodwill and property and
equipment respectively during the year
ended 31 March 2022.

The impairment loss has been included in
consolidated statement of profit or loss in
the “other impairment losses” line item.

18. B & R E 7P 1d ()

PR ESEEENz2ARESERETE
HERBRRCEEMMN T :

% = 9

R-ZB-Z-5=ZA=+—B BE2EH
HE e

WREEEEM 2 TWRE S FEIIREEM
BEFEMEE RBE-FT--F=8
=+-BLEFE BAREUBZARERIRE
EEE EFECHHEEERSER2BE
ETRENE BEHEABRREEHELE
A o

ERFA AEEEEELTHEBESESE
i{lETﬁﬂ#Z:QFEIEé/)lL/%%E A E
REZREELEENNITHREECHEEERS -
Hit RBZE-ZEZ-_—_F=A=+—H1L
FE CRIALEERBZEBA2HERY
ERFZENREBED B A%1,452,000%
7t & #18,0005% T °

HEBECH AGRESRAERZI HMBRERS
BIEBER-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19.INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

fReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE-Z-_=F=ZB=+—HLFE

19. R—EHEBEQF z2ER

2023 2022
—E_—=5F —_E_—

HK$'000 HKS$ 000
FHET FET

Cost of investment in an unlisted MN—EELEmEE QT
associate BEKAR 1,476 1,476
Share of post-acquisition losses FEL R BB % B 18 (711) (541)
765 935

Partficulars of the Group’s associate as at 31
March 2023 are as follows:

RZBZ=5=A=t-BAKEKER
B ZAERMT

Proportion of nominal

Form of Place of value of used share
business incorporation / Class of capital held by the
Name of associate  structure operation shares held Group Principal activity
HARERAEZERT
BENTER ERRBES  EMRY/EERE FERGER RAEERAIL  ETEXHR
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-C-F
Culturecom Media  Incorporated  Hong Kong Ordinary 18% 18% Production of digital
& Entfertainment content and
Limited ("CMEL") entertainment
(Note) services
Y EBEFRER AR AL B LER HENAHRER
BRAR (TCMELL) REIR
(M5E)

Notfe: The Group has the power to appoint two out of WE:$%EE%§ECMH£%§$“¢W% £
the five directors of CMEL. In the opinion of the RAe REBACMELEEEAEE H ) B H
directors, the Group has significant influence over ’\*’Egmﬁl Bt N T o
CMEL and it is therefore classified as an associate
of the Group.

The directors consider the associate is EEDLE ZBMENTMIEE I E

immaterial and no financial information is HEEHIHEBEER o

set out accordingly.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

20.INTANGIBLE ASSETS

20. BN EE

Customer
contracts
and related Intellectual
Club customer property
memberships  relationship Software tights Total
EFANE
Efe% HREEFBEE LA ARER ag
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TEn TEn TEn AR
(Note a) (Note b) (Note b) (Nofe c)
(Ftita) (Fritb) (Hf3tb) (zte)
cosT BA
At 1 April 2021 RZE--£MA-A 1,385 5267 5,667 - 12,319
Exchange redlignment Expz - 129 27 - 346
At 31 March 2022 RZBZZEZA=1-H 1,385 5396 5,884 - 12,665
Additions HE - - - 4,880 4,880
Exchange realignment Exa% - (402) @19) - (821)
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=F=A=1-H 1,385 4,994 5,465 4,880 16,724
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION AND Zit## KA fE
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2021 RZE--fMA-A - 5267 1,686 - 6,953
Charge for the year ERik - - 1,861 - 1,861
Impairment loss recognised for the  AEERER 2 HEESE (FiEFd)
year (Note d) - - 1,309 - 1,309
Exchange redlignment Expz - 129 356 - 485
At 31 March 2022 R-B--FE=f=1-H - 5396 5212 - 10,608
Charge for the year Enfk - - 379 252 631
Impairment loss recognised for the  AEERE 2 RERSE (FiEd)
year (Note d) = = 245 = 245
Exchange realignment EXHE - (402) @3n) - (773)
At 31 March 2023 RZE-=%=A=1+-H - 4,994 5,465 252 10,711
CARRYING VALUES BEE
At 31 March 2023 RZZBZ=$ZA=t-H 1,385 - - 4,628 6,013
At 31 March 2022 R=B--FE=f=1-H 1,385 - 672 - 2,057
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERNE

20.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Confinued)

Note a:

Note b:

Note c:

Note d:

Club memberships are life corporate club
memberships in recreational clubs. As the
club memberships are considered by the
directors as having an indefinite useful life,
the memberships are not amortised until
their useful lives are determined to be finite.
After considering the prices quoted in the
second-hand market, no impairment of the
club memberships is made during both
years.

The carrying amount of customer contracts
and related customer relationship and
soffware is amortised on a straight-line
method over its remaining useful life, i.e., 5
years.

Intellectual property rights represent the
acquired intellectual properties in the form
of publishing and distribution rights of
various fiction writers under the ownership
of the Group. The rights are amortised on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful
lives based on underlying intfangible assets
expected to contribute to the future cash
flows, i.e., 10 years.

Due to the decline in revenue and losses
in the digital marketing segment, the
directors concluded there was indication
for impairment and conducted impairment
assessment on recoverable amounts of
software. The recoverable amounts of the
soffware have been determined based
on value in use calculation. Based on
the result of assessment, the recoverable
amount of softwares deftermine to be
HKS$Nil. The directors have consequently
determined an impairment of intangible
assets of approximately HK$245,000 (2022:
HK$1,309,000) related to the software for
both years.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

BE—ZE_=F=A=+—HLEE

20. B EE (&)

MisEa :

HisEDb :

fiEEd -

EFEREAREREMZAELARENE
Z-HREMEERESEAARERA
EREH HEEEZAGRRERERE
PRAT TSR - KEB-_FWSHR2
BiRER URAREMEFEHSHEE
EATHME -

EFANEABEFBEARRMGZERE
ERESEAEF R EHFH (B5F)

AHEEERBEASBEERSEATE D
FERE H R R BTEANE X WEA
WERE ZERADREFRITR/RREA
ERETREMNWEBREREERMGS
AERER (BN0F) RiREAREHE -

HREBLETSEED BRSO R
SEBE ESRAFTHETSR 1Y
BRI E EBETRER G - BN
AREEBEDREEREENEEE - 18
BRtER BN TRESHEEERT
BT oAt EECEEMEFERBRE
T EFEEREN2450008 T (ZF
— = :1,309,000#T) °
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21.

SMBERRME

THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
—E_=HF=ZA=+—HLEFE

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

21. RV EEFABRSERZEH
BE

2023 2022
—EBC-=F —E-—

HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FExT

Listed equity shares, at fair value: FRARG  RAFEE:
Hong Kong &8 2,476 1,295
Overseas NS 6.145 7,075
8,621 8,370

Analysed as: DB

- Non-current - ERE 6,301 8,032
- Current - R 2,320 338
8,621 8,370

As at 31 March 2023, the Group held a
portfolio of listed investments approximately
of HKS$2,320,000 (2022: HK$338,000) for
frading and are classified as current. In
addition, the investments in the listed equity
shares of approximately HK$6,301,000
(2022: HK$8,032,000) are held for long-term
strategic purposes and are classified as
non-current.

At the end of the reporting period, the
fair values of the listed equity shares are
determined based on the quoted market
bid prices available on the relevant stock
exchanges.

R-ZBEZ=ZFZ=ZA=Z+—HB ~5EHH
+tHREHLE%2320,0008 T (=T ==
% 338,000 ) FEE Ao MARE -
o R EmRAR D 2 RE 6,301,000
BT (ZZTZ =% 18,032,000 ) HFR
HERBEABRDBERERD -

RB|EHR ERARD 2DV EETD
REFRESFXZMANEZHEMHRE
AEBEE °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—ZE_=F=A=+—HLEE

22.INVENTORIES 22. 78

2023 2022

—EBE-=5F —_E2-
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET
Premium wines (Note) BEHEE (M) 33,637 34,905
Others Hth 722 725
34,359 35,630

Note: During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group
marketed the premium wine in more distribution
channels including online platform and wine
dealers.

No allowance of inventories was made
during both years.

At the end of both reporting periods,
premium wines held by the Group were with
NRV higher than the carrying amount.

M RBE-Z-_=ZF=ZA=+—-HLFE X%
BEEZOHRERHEEELRE BEKLY

RMEFERE  TEERFERS -

REBERSHR ARERMBEZEEE
BU2RFESRIKREE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

23.TRADE RECEIVABLES

23. B E 5 IR

2023 2022

—EB-=H -2z
HK$'000 HK$’000
TR THET
Trade receivables FEWE 5 R 11,224 22,478
Less: allowance for credit losses B EEEERE (2,550) (3,760)
8,674 18,718

The following is the aged analysis of frade
receivables net of allowance for credit
losses presented based on the date of
billing.

UTARRERPEI 2HNBREEBER
Bz RN E Z IR Z BRER 2 4T o

2023 2022

—E-=F —E-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTEx FET
0 - 60 days 0 - 60H 6,980 15,590
61 - 90 days 61 - 90H 381 1,788
91 - 180 days 91 - 180H 1,281 1,137
Over 180 days HBi@180H 32 203
8,674 18,718

As at 31 March 2023, included in the
Group’s frade receivables balance are
debtors with aggregate gross amount
of approximately HK$2,821,000 (2022:
HK$4,232,000) which are past due and also
past due over 90 days as at the reporting
date, of which approximately HK$2,275,000
(2022: HK$3,577,000) are considered
credit impaired. Included in the past due
balances for 90 days or more, allowance for
credit losses of approximately HK$2,275,000
(2022: HK$3,577,000) has been provided as
of 31 March 2023.

Details of impairment assessment are set
out in Note 35b.
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RZEZ=ZF=ZA=1+—HB BERAE
EERKE SSRGS AHEEMEL2,821,000
BT (ZZZZF 4,232,000/ 7T) 2 EEUK
R ENBREEHERE TAHES
908 » MEF#2,275,0008 T (=ZF ==
F:3,577.0008 ) R AEERE &
HAQ0H = LA £ W9 45 88 H 492,275,000 T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE-Z-_=F=ZB=+—HLFE

24. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS 24 HEWRIE - RERFENLR
AND PREPAYMENTS 15

2023 2022

—E-=F —E-=
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FET FExT
Other receivables Hih g R IE 2,762 462
Less: allowance of credit losses W EEERRE (44) (102)
2,718 360
Deposits and prepayments (Note) &R FEMNKRIE (M) 39,130 4,566
Less: allowance for credit losses W EEERRE (8) (24)
39,122 4,542

Total other receivables, deposits and E i EUFRIE - &€ R B

prepayments TH 48 &F 41,840 4,902
Less: amounts that will be seftled or &l : R —FAEERFHA =
utilised within one year A8 (41,374) (4,902)

Amounts that will be utilised for more R —FE &8 A 2 FIE

than one year 466 -
Note: As at 31 March 2023, the amount mainly Mz  R=ZZB=Z=FE=ZRA=+—H ZEETELHE
comprised of deposit paid for infangible assets BREEEEEBOBIFE =N ERLE

of approximately HK$34,835,000 made to E&©%934,835,000/% T °

independent third parties under natural language
processing business.

As at 31 March 2022, the amount mainly RZBE-_ZF=ZA=+-—H ZELEFEEH
comprised of prepayments of approximately BREHEBELHSHEEESOERBUERFELEN
HK$1,435,000 made to media suppliers under FEAFTFRIEA1,435,00078 7T ©

digital marketing business.

Details of impairment assessment are set AR T fh 2 FE R & A M FE35b ©
out in Note 35b.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBGRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE-Z-_=F=ZA=+—HLFE

25.

26.

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances carrying interest at market
rate ranges from of 0.001% to 0.1% (2022: from
0.001% to 0.1%) per annum.

Details of impairment assessment are set out
in Note 35b.

RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSIT/
CONTINGENT LIABILITY

A subsidiary of the Group, Hyperchannel Info,
is a defendant in a legal action involving
the alleged failure of Hyperchannel Info to
provide services in accordance with the
terms of contract. The customer filed a
lawsuit in People’s Court of Nanshan District
of Shenzhen (the "Court”) during the year
ended 31 March 2021 against Hyperchannel
Info tfo tferminate the signed contract
and demand repayment amounting to
RMB4,500,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$4,959,000 (31 March 2022: equivalent fo
approximately HK$5,539,000)). The customer
has also requested the Court to restrict
Hyperchannel Info’s bank balance amounted
fo RMB4,500,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$4,959,000 (31 March 2022: equivalent fo
approximately HK$5,539,000)). In accordance
with the order of seal up, distrain and freeze
properties issued by the Court, the expiry
date of restricted bank deposit extended to
13 July 2022. The second-instance judgment
in respect of the litigation has not been
made by the People’s Intermediate Court of
Shenzhen (the ‘“Intfermediate Court”) at the
end of last reporting period.

2. RITERFRREE

BITEFRTSEFERNZEN F0.001%=E0.1%
(ZBEZ=F : A F0.001%E0.1%) 5T & °

AR FY fh 2w B RN B RE35b ©

26. TRAFIMITFERBRE

REBE-BHNBLRAESRAKR —RHKE
EERAXRERBESNKRAREERRE 2%
HERBZRE - ZEFREBE-ZT-—F
ZRA=tT-HLEFEERITELUEA
RER ([EKR]) HEERAFREHFD
URIEZHNERZR 2680 AEREBEA
R #4,500,0007T (18 E R 44,959,000/
R(ZEBEZZHFZA=1+—-HB HERHY
5,639,000/ 7T)) - ZFF B ERAERR
FIEEM G 2 RITHF ARK4,500,0007T
(HER#4,959,0008 L (ZE==-F=A
=+—H:#HERNK5539,0008T)) - R
BiiREfm s NARREVEEA
EXRHRTERZFHECERES
EZHFLAT=H - RE—EHEHR
I AR RARZER (HPEER ] LARH
ARFAMEH ZFHR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26. RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSIT/

27.

CONTINGENT LIABILITY
(Confinued)

On 14 October 2022, Hyperchannel Info
received the second-instance judgment
from the Intermediate Court, which rejected
the appeal and upheld the original
judgment. Based on the verdict issued from
the Intermediate Court, Hyperchannel Info
was ordered for payment of approximately
RMB800,000 of service fee to the customer.
The relevant amounts had been fully settled
and accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements. On 10 November 2022,
the restricted bank deposit was released
accordingly upon the receipt of verdict by
the bank.

TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER
PAYABLES AND ACCRUED
CHARGES

The following is an aged analysis of trade
payables presented based on the invoice
dates at the end of the reporting period.

26.

27.

e MBERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE-Z-_=F=ZB=+—HLFE

ZREBRITERRREE (B)

R-ZZZZF+ATHA EERAKZWE
PREREN-FHAR BELFRER
AR - RBAFERFHOER  ER
ARBEHSAFTFXAIRBEYNARE
800,000t - HEATHEXHEEL NEGS
MBERRAR -R-FT=-_F+—-A+H"

EHRTRBERE  ZSREBRITERAE
HEBR o
ENEZRA - HiENSRIE

REEHR

UITARBENERERZAH2I 2B
NEZRRZRE DA

2023 2022

=5 == —_E-
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FHET
0 - 60 days 0 - 60H 1,031 1,673
61 - 90 days 61 - 90H 308 219
Over 90 days HiB90H 80 470
1,419 2,362

The average credit period on purchases
of goods ranges from 15 to 90 days. The
Group has financial risk management
policies in place to ensure that all payables
are seftled within the credit timeframe.

BEEmzFHIFEERN FISE0A - &
SECHENBRRERRE  UBRHM
FENRERGEERBERATUEE -
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BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

27.TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER 27. BENE SRR  HiENKIE
PAYABLES AND ACCRUED REFTER (&)
CHARGES (Continued)
As at 31 March 2023, other payables R-ZE-_=F=A=+—H  EMELTXK

and accrued charges included deposit
received approximately HK$313,000
(2022: HK$313,000), accrued operating
expenses approximately HK$7,354,000
(2022: HKS$7,985,000) and accrued salaries
approximately HK$2,255,000 (2022:
HK$2,734,000).

28. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

E&FE‘+§FH@?EEHH§$2’J313 00078
T (ZZE == :313,0008 t) * JE‘I'Q‘“
BRI X #7,354,0008 c (=& ==

7 985,000/ t) & FEFT# & 292,255, 000;%

JT(ZEZ % :2,734,0008T) °

28. 5 AE

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FET
Advances from customers: BB
Digital marketing HIE{thiSERE - 185

The following table shows how much of
the revenue recognised in the current
year relates to contfract liabilities at the
beginning of the year.

TRIFAFERIZBRATREANES
HWEEEBEZHE -

2023 2022
—EBEZ=58 —E=-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FHET
Revenue recognised that was EREINBATARED Z
included in the contract liabilities EHNEERER
balance at the beginning of the
year:
Digital marketing B hGHEERE 185 1,057

Typical payment terms which impact on the
amount of contract liabilities recognised are
set out in Note 5.

The decrease (2022: decrease) in contract
liabilities in 2023 was mainly due to the
decrease (2022: decrease) in advances
from customers in relation to the project of
digital marketing at the end of the reporting
period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29.LEASE LIABILITIES

e MBERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

BE—ZE_=F=A=+—HLEE

Lease liabilities payable:

Within one year

Within a period of more than one
year but not more than two years

Less: Amount due for seftlement
with 12 months shown under
current liabilities

Amount due for settlement after 12
months shown under non-current
liabilities

The weighted average incremental
borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities is
5.00% (2022: ranged from 4.37% to 5.00%)

per annum.

29.fHEBE
2023 2022
—E-_=F —Eq-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FE T
HESEBRTHHEEN
—FR 2,190 601
RER—FELZ
R 357 -
2,547 601
B RARBEERET
RI2E A RB &S 2
EX] (2.190) (601)
RERBEBETERINI2MEA
BABPES 258
357 -
AREEEBEZMEELYEERER X

ABBES00% (=ZE2==
5.00%)

C N FA4.37%E
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
B E_=F=F=1+—HILFE

30. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

(LIABILITIES)

Deferred taxation is calculated in full on
temporary differences under the liability
method using the applicable tax rates
prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the
Group operates. Movements of deferred tax
assets (liabilities) of the Group during both
years are as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHRNE

0.EEZEBIREE (BE)

LLmﬁﬁuﬁhzﬁmﬁﬁ1$&$%
BREMERIEBZBITEABRTE
$EIZLLEE,F@ﬁ5FWm¢r

AZEEMT :

Accelerated  Allowance for

tax expected
depreciation credit loss Total
mE  BHEEEE
HENE B oy
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER
At April 2021 W-E--EMA-R (663) - (663)
Credit to profit or loss for the year TAEERR 651 - 651
At 31 March 2022 W-2--f#=fA=1-A (12) - (12)
Credit to profit or loss for the year TAEERR 12 3 43
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=F=f=+-H - 31 31

At 31 March 2023, the Group estimated
unused tax losses of approximately
HKS$545,461,000 (2022: HK$514,924,000)
available for offset against future profits.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of such losses due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams.
Included in unrecognised tax loses are
losses of approximately HK$71,140,000
(2022: HK$62,702,000) that can be carried
forward for five years from the year in
which the respective loss arose. Other
unrecognised tax losses may be carried
forward indefinitely.
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R-ZEZ=F=A=1+—H X&KET
FAREERRZRNET R AR ES
1B 4 5545,461,0008 T (Z BB == F :
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RENFE AEUIERZSHRERR
EEBEEE ABIABEBEEED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/
(LIABILITIES) (Confinued)

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had
deductible temporary differences of
approximately HK$2,053,000 (2022:
HK$543,000) mainly arising from impairment
losses on property and equipment,
right-of-use assefs and trade receivables.
A deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of impairment loss on trade
receivables of approximately HK$186,000
(2022: HKSNil). No deferred tax asset has

e MBERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE-Z-_=F=ZB=+—HLFE

30.EEBEEE (BE) (&)

R-ZEZ=F=A=+—H0 A&EBETH
R 8 B = 55 492,053,000 T (=2 ==
£ :543,0008 k)  TEREWERR

B-ETRAREEREVRESRARFEELZ
BEEBE CHRESERKREREEBEY
186,000 B T (ZZ2E-__F T8 T) EBR
EEMEEE BHRTRKUESHEERN
ERRZETNBEREZEER AL E
5%22%7?[1&%’*%%%%’]1,867,000,%75 (=

T 1543,0008 ) MRIELKIRE

been recognised for deductible temporary Eo
differences of approximately HK$1,867,000
(2022: HK$543,000) as it is not probable
that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences
can be ufilised.
31.SHARE CAPITAL 31.®=&
Number of Share
shares capital
R EE IR 7
‘000 HKS'000
TR TET
Ordinary shares of HKS0.01 each SREECOBL2EBEBR
Authorised: EE
At 1 April 2021, at 31 March 2022 A—E-_—FMA—A -
and 31 March 2023 —E-_-H=F=+—-HRF
—E-=%=H=+—H 200,000,000 2,000,000
Number of shares Share capital
RGEE &N
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E_= —E-= —EBE-=F T
‘000 ‘000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR THERT THER
Issued and fully paid: EERITERHE
At the beginning of REHD
the year 1,668,657 1,390,657 16,687 13,907
Issue of new shares on R-ZE-_—-FHAKA
6 May 2021 BITHR G - 278,000 - 2,780
At the end of the year REXR 1,668,657 1,668,657 16,687 16,687

Fig 2022-2023 XLBEEERRAF

229



230

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE-Z-_=F=ZA=+—HLFE

32.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES 32.[BRESTE
Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed BER=-Z—=FNB+=H L‘LZ:‘E‘?
on 12 August 2013, the Company adopted BREBE AQAEMBERESTE (=
a share option scheme (the "2013 —=F£xE8]) o —E—=F%4 Z*ﬁ_;&,ﬁ,ﬂ
Scheme”). The life of the 2013 Scheme A+F BRAPBE BEE-FT-=F
is effective for 10 years from the date of NA+—Hi-

adoption until 11 August 2023.

Major terms for the 2013 Scheme are TE-=FFE2EEGRTBRAOT
summarised as follows:

(i) The purpose is to provide incentives to: () EMEEMTIALHTRERE:
award the participants who have - RBAXAEEER REEEEFE
made contributions to the Group HEMRAER AR ((FARE
and/or any entity in which the NANDELEERz2EE &

Group holds any equity interest
("Invested Entity”); and

recruit and retain high-calibre EERGEEREEREAEEH
employees and attract human BE AT o

resources that are valuable to the

Group.

(i) The participants include any employee, (i) 2HEQEAEER SHRELT
director, supplier, agent, consultant, adviser ZEAEE EE - HER KRE.
strategist, contfractor, subcontractor, expert BHACKREEZR - EAHTE - IR
or customer of the Group and/or Invested W BEXRXREP °
Entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

)

The maximum number of shares of the
Company in respect of which share
options might be granted under the
2013 Scheme must not exceed 10%
of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of approval
of the 2013 Scheme, however this limit
might be refreshed by shareholders in a
general meeting. However, total maximum
number of shares of the Company which
might be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding share options granted and yet
tfo be exercised under the 2013 Scheme
and any other share option scheme
must not exceed 30% of the shares of the
Company in issue from time fo time.

The maximum number of shares of
the Company in respect of which
share options might be granted to a
participant, when aggregated with
shares issued and issuable (including
exercised and outstanding share
options and the options cancelled)
under any share option granted to
the same participant under the 2013
Scheme or any other share option
scheme within any 12 months period,
must not exceed 1% of the shares of
the Company in issue from time to
fime.

There was no requirement for a grantee
tfo hold the share option for a certain
period before exercising the share
option save as determined by the
board of directors and provided in the
offer of grant of share option.

e MBERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE-Z-_=F=ZB=+—HLFE

32. IR ESTE ()

(i) RE-B—=FHBTEEL > BB
RURBEAARGEE B2 F
EBRBAAAN-B—=EHEME
A2 B8/ RAI0% KT - ZIB
HEUBMRERBREAE LB - RS
—E = EHAREME R
I 574 1418 1 R 4708 2 B R AT E 08
BERTEBTERT2AATRE
BY BETERBEATFBD R
BB 230% o

(v) TH2EERHZBREATIB 22X
RARDEE - EEM+ =@ AL HBE
RRE-ZF—=FHEREMEME
REFTEDZESEERE 2 EME
REBEBEETERRTEBRER
CHEHEcBRE) MEBITRAY TH#
TZROBE RZTBEEBARQF
TREBITREZ1% -

(V) RESSEERRRUBREZRN
BES AR ANBERITERERER
EEEHEASEEBRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

32.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(Continued)

v

(vii)

The exercise period should be any
period fixed by the board of directors
upon grant of the share option but
in any event the share option period
should not go beyond 10 years from
the date of offer for grant.

The acceptance of a share option, if
accepted, must be made within 28
days from the date of grant with a
non-refundable payment of HKS$1 from
the grantee to the Company.

(viii)The exercise price of a share option

(x)

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022-2023

must be the highest of:

the closing price of a share of the
Company on the date of grant
which must be a business day;

the average closing price of a
share of the Company for the
5 business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and

the nominal value of a share of
the Company.

All the share options are vested on the
grant date.

32. RS E ()

(Vi) FEMARESERE RS
EXEMEE EREAERTRE
RBREE A MR+ E

(vily FEIEABRIEH BHEH 280 NEH
B (EH)  LREBHAL T
ENAMIBTRE  BERERT
BiE o

(i) BREZ TEESARUTZERS
55
RELE(AREEE) 2454
AR U E

EERHBAMASEERE 24X
DNERHFHPEHE R

RAB—RBRHEE -

(ix) FTEBRERREBHMYCERS -



32.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

(Continued)

The Board announced that on 27 April 2022,
the Company has granted to Mr. Wong,
Non-executive Director and Chairman, and
a consultant of the Group (collectively, the
"Grantees”), an aggregate of 14,000,000
share options to subscribe for up to a
total of 14,000,000 ordinary shares of
the Company ("Shares”) under the 2013
scheme, representing approximately 0.84%
of the total number of shares in issue as at
the datfe of grant upon exercise of the share
options.

There is no options granted under the 2013
Scheme during the year ended 31 March
2022.

Details of specific categories of options
granted under the 2013 Scheme are as
follows:

32.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE-Z-_=F=ZB=+—HLFE

B8 (&)

BEFEEEM RA-E--_FWA=-+tAH-
AAFECEIABTESREEILAERLX
SE-VERHEBIEARANDREESH
14,000,000 B - UREBE-ZT— =
sTEIR B R %4 1£14,000,000 & » 5 &
R (TR HERBREETHEIER
RE RSB BITRDAELN0.84% -

BE-Z-_—_F=-ZA=t-HLEFE #
BERE-_Z-=FrRLUBRE-

BRE-Z-—=FHERH2BEEINBER
EEBAOT :

Fair value at Fair value at
grant date for  grant date for
Date of grant Vesting period Exercise period Exercise price consultant director
REERART REHAHET
B A8 B TS TEE EENAVYEE ESNATVEE
27 April 2022 (Note) 27 April 2022 to HK$0.72 HK$0.26 HK$0.27
26 April 2025
—E-CF (KisE) —E-C-F 0721t 0.26%& 1T 02787
mA=ttH mA=t+tAE
“E-RE
mA=tH
Note: These share options were vested at the date of Mizr  ZZEBERBRECHELAHEE -
grant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

32.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(Confinued)

The following table discloses movements of
the Company’s share options held by the
Grantees during the year:

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32. RS E ()

T R AR AR A5 2 T R
288

Outstanding
Outstanding Granted Exercised at
at during during Lapsed during 31 March
1 April 2022 the year the year the year 2023
RZBZZF R-BZ=%
MA-H ZR=t-H
Option type BRERY W RATHE ERRIL ERTE EREX i R AT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAn Thn AR Tén THER
Director Bz
2013 Scheme “E-ZEHE - 8,000,000 - - 8,000,000
Consultant BEm
2013 Scheme “E-ZFHE - 6,000,000 - - 6,000,000
- 14,000,000 - - 14,000,000
Exercisable af the end of the year ~ REXRTFTE 14,000,000
Weighted average exercise price T METL I N/ATER  HKSO.72E R N/ARER N/ATER  HKS0.72% %

The closing price of the Company’s share
immediately before the dates on which the
options were exercised is HK$0.72 (2022:
HKSNil).

The fair value of the share options granted
by the Company during the year was
approximately HK$3,753,000, HK$0.2734
each in aggregate of approximately
HK$2,187,000 for Mr. Wong, and HK$0.2611
each in aggregate of approximately
HK$1,566,000 for consultant of the Group
(2022: HKSNil), which was recognised as
share-based payment for the year ended 31
March 2023.

AAARODNREBEERERTERRN 2
WHERC.72BRT (ZT=Z2F : TBx) °

RAARRAFEAREZEREZ QA FEE
B4 53,753,000/ 5t - §170.2734B &
##92,187,0008 T (RRELEEMS) UARE
£70.261158 T & # #91,566,00058 Tt (F A&
SEzZERmMS)(ZE=-—_F &) - ER
BE-_SE-_=ZF=ZA=+—-HBLEEBA
BURNDABEBRELIR
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32.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

(Continued)

The fair values of equity-seftled share
options granted by the Company during the
year was estimated as at the date of grant
using Binomial model, taking info account
the terms and conditions upon which the
options were granted. The following table
lists the inputs to the model used:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE-Z-_=F=ZB=+—HLFE

32. IR ESTE ()

RAARAFEARBUBREE 2BR
BzRAVPEEDAREBAMEA-RAR
NMEF LR RREEREZRFARMYSE -
TRESIFFARN 28 AR

27 April 2022
—E-=

Date of valuation CRENER A=t++tH
Closing share price (HK$ per share) R HE(BRET) 0.72
Exercise price (HK$ per share) TEE(ERET) 0.72
Option life (years) BRESH (F) 3
Risk-free rate (%) £ [ B R 2= (%) 2.395
Dividend yield (%) BB (%) 0.0
Expected volatility (%) TR HR 1R (%) 55.56
Historical volatility (%) [ £ R 18 (%) 55.56
Forfeiture rate (%) R E (%) N/ATE A

The expected volatility reflects the
assumption that the historical volatility is
indicative of future trends, which may also
not necessarily be the actual outcome. The
value of the share options is subject to a
number of assumptions and with regard
fo the limitation of the Binomial Model.
Therefore, the value may be subjective
and would change any of the assumptions
change.

The aggregate fair values of the above
granted options were approximately
HK$3,753,000 (2022: HKSNil) were
recognised as share-based payments
expenses granted to a director and
consultant respectively for the year ended
31 March 2023 with a corresponding
increase in equity.

8 50 U8 I TR R S0 R0 T 9 R R R IB B
B TARLBERER - BRMEE
BHEMBR ZARER 2 IR o
R b o MR B S S R M 0 1E TR 3R
HASE BESELREEH -

LAEBRIBRENDFEBELARLSD
3,753,000 T (ZE==F : E#x) ' ®¥
BE-_Z-_=F=A=+—-ALEEDH
BRAART - 2ESERERANUARGAE
BRI AT MR AE FEIE N -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBGRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

32.

33.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(Continued)

Binomial model has been used to estimate
the fair value of the share options by
the qualified valuer. The variables and
assumptions used in computing the fair
value of the share options are based on
the directors’ best estimate. The value of
an option varies with different variables of
certain subjective assumptions.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group participates in the MPF Scheme
for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong.
The assets of the scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in funds under the
conftrol of frustees.

The Group’s and the employees’ contributions
fo the MPF Scheme are each set at 5% of
the employees’ salaries up to a maximum
of HKS$1,500 effective from 1 June 2014
per employee per month. The Group’s
contributions to the MPF Scheme are fully and
immediately vested to the employees once
they are paid.

Certain employees of the Group are
members of a state-managed retirement
benefit scheme operated by the PRC
government. The Group is required to
confribute approximately 15% of payroll
costs to the retirement benefit scheme to
fund the benefit. The only obligation of
the Group with respect to the retirement
benefits scheme is to make the specified
contributions.

Total cost charged to profit or loss of
approximately HKS$1,212,000 (2022:
HK$3,383,000) represents the contributions
payable to these schemes by the Group
during the year.

32. RS E ()

SEMEETRAERER BRI
ZATEE - HEBRAL T EEFA
BERERDERES S REGT - BR
RYMEMET TBERRNTAZEMS
ft o

33. B IRERFTE

rEBAMECERTBEESHERES
B R B CEERARTARFZES
BE EARECEEIHER -

H-Z-MENA-RE AEERES
AREEAEAFHZHAZTERRERE
EFT 2% ReABAEEEE500
B —BEXANAHFN  BIAKEM@EE
EREFH2EHRERROKEEBRZE
BE -

AEBZETREATERFER 2BR
EERARENFEKNE AKREEARFE
7S #915% 8 3R K 18 A 5 I AR
AEBRBAREMES -HBRAEFFEM
T ARBEzE-—SEEAFEHEEMRR -

BB P HIBR 2 RARELNS1,212,0008
T (ZZTZ =% :3,383,000/8 ) EAEE
FREOLETEZFZHERK -
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34. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure
that entities in the Group will be able
fo contfinue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders
through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists
of net debt, which mainly includes lease
liabilities disclosed in Note 29, net cash and
cash equivalents and equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising issued
share capital, share premium and reserves.

The directors review the capital structure on
a semi-annual basis. As part of this review,
the directors consider the cost of capital
and the risks associated with each class of
capital. Based on recommendations of the
directors, the Group will balance its overall
capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues and share buy-
backs as well as the issue of new debt or
the redemption of existing debf.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
a. Categories of financial

35.£m T A

qa.

TR T A ZER

instruments

2023 2022
—EBE =8 —=E-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THET
Financial assets EMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost RN EZ L REE 74,068 155,893
Financial assets at FVTPL EAFEEFABER
ZERMEE 8,621 8,370
Financial liabilities cRAs
Financial liabilities at BEERATTEZ
amortised cost sHmas 14,268 14,420
Financial risk management b. B¥EREEBEBRERBEE

objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments
include trade receivables, other
receivables and deposits, financial
assets at FVTPL, resfricted bank
deposit, bank balances and cash,
frade payables, other payables and
accrued charges and lease liabilities.
Details of these financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes.
The risks associated with these
financial instruments include market
risk (currency risk, interest rate risk
and other price risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below.
The directors manage and monitor
these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022-2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

b.

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk

There has been no significant change
to the Group’s exposure to market risks
or the manner in which it manages and
measures the risks.

Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have
foreign currency bank balances and
financial assets at FVTPL which expose
the Group to foreign currency risk. They
are mainly denominated in United States
dollars ("USD"), Australian dollars (*"AUD")
and HKS. The Group is mainly exposed
to foreign exchange rate risk arising from
fransactions that are denominated in
USD, AUD and HKS relative to RMB.

The Group currently does not have
a foreign exchange hedging policy.
However, the directors monitor foreign
exchange exposure and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

e MBERNE
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35 %HQIE (,-EL)

b. M¥EREEBERBXGE)
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Rk AALEEREE -
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ERAEEERMNERAR - ZEE8
FERUER((Ex] B (Bx))
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

35.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

35. 2R T A ()

b.

Culturecom Holdings Limited

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

b.

BHEREERERBEEGE)

Market risk (Continued) 5 m ()
Currency risk (Continued) BEmfE ()

The carrying amounts of the Group’s
HKS, AUD and USD denominated
monetary assets (including frade
receivables, other receivables and
deposits, financial assets at FVTPL,
restricted bank deposit, bank balances

REEBRBREEAHUBT - BAKE
T EZEREE (BEEREZ R
FoHMEURERESE BROTVE
B ABSZEMEE  ZRHFRT
ER - RTEFRBEE) REBEE
(BEENEZ RN HMEEMRER

and cash) and monetary liabilities FEETER) REEBEMNT :
(including frade payables, other
payables and accrued charges and
lease liabilities) at the reporting date
are as follows:
Assets
BE
2023 2022
—E-= —_E-
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET THET
HKS BT 14,561 54,273
usb xR 2 32,434
AUD BT 6,389 -
Liabilities
afE
2023 2022
—2=-= —_E=-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET THET
HKS BT 10,705 7.275

Annual Report 2022-2023




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Confinued)

b.

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group's
sensitivity to a 5% increase and decrease
in the enftity’s respective functional
currency against the relevant foreign
currencies 5% represents the directors’
assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary
items and adjusts their franslation at
the end of the reporting period for a
5% change in foreign currency rates.
A positive number below indicates an
increase in loss for the year where RMB
strengthen against the relevant foreign
currencies. For a 5% weakening of RMB
against the relevant currencies, there
would be an equal and opposite impact
on the post-tax loss for the year, and
the positive balances below would be
negative.

The analysis is prepared on the same
basis for 2022.

e MBERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE-Z-_=F=ZB=+—HLFE

3. &I A (&

b. BBEKREREBERBEE &)

%5 m g (&)
EEmEE (E)
BREDN

TRHAVNAEERREES B 2WEE
EW A BRI AER RES%Z B
EoSRiEEESHIIMERAESES
B2t fh o MRE DB UINEET
BEzERFREEWIRR @ IR HKEH
RENINEEFE R B E)SUAF HE 5 E o
THEBRTARELZEBMNEAE
B zFEFBREMN HARYR
BRMNERES%  HEHFEFRE
RESERARNWEE T 5 IERE
BEREH -

ZOMBE-_ZZ_FHBNEER
%O

Impact on loss for the year

HAFEBFE2EE

2023 2022
—E-=fF —=E-
HK$'000 HKS'000
TERT THET
HK$ & TT 145 1,762
usb Ep -* 1,216
AUD BT 267 -
5 It represents the amount less than HK$1,000. C EE£ P R1,0008 T °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

35.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Confinued)

b.

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Contfinued)
Currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

In the opinion of the directors, the
sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative
of the inherent foreign exchange risk as
the year end exposure does not reflect
the exposure during the year.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value
interest rate risk in relation to fixed-rate
refundable rental deposits (Note 24),
lease liabilities (Note 29) and bank
borrowings. The Group is also exposed
to cash flow interest rate risk in relation
to variable-rate bank balances (Note
25). The directors have considered the
Group’s exposure to cash flow interest
rate risk in relation to variable-rate
bank balances (Note 25) to be limited
because the current market interest
rate on general deposits are relatively
low and stable.

3. &m I A (&
b. HBEBREEBEREE (&)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

e MBERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

(Confinued)

b.

Financial risk management b.
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Interest rate risk (Continued)

Intferest income from financial assets
that are measured at amortised cost is
as follows:

BE—ZE_=F=A=+—HLEE

35.£@ T A (&)

BHEREERERBEEGE)

w5 EE (E)
R =7 B2 (4

ERMEEFNBERATDZREBERAZ
m

2023 2022
—EB-=HF —_E-
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Financial assets at amortised cost REEHKAFTE Z
EWMEE 215 191

Interest expense from financial liabilities
at amortised cost is as follows:

RBHERATECERABZAEH
X

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-_—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financial liabilities at amortised REBHERATEZ
cost TR aE 125 1,071

Other price risk

The Group is exposed fo equity price
risk through its investment in listed
equity securities which are classified as
financial assets at FVTPL. The directors
manage this exposure by maintaining
a portfolio of investments with different
risk and return profiles and will consider
hedging the risk exposure should the
need arise.

Rt B 1% /7 bz

AEEEHETRABSZREMESL
ZRAERERREAR  E2RARD
FEEFABRRZERMEE -ES
EREFASTEAARRER ZRE
e EELER YEREFER
S5 R P TED R oz L B o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

35.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Confinued)

b.

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Contfinued)
Ofther price risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been
determined based on the exposure to
equity price risk at the reporting date.

If the equity prices had been 15%
higher/lower (2022: 15%), post-tax
loss would decrease/increase by
approximately HK$1,293,000 (2022:
HKS$1,256,000). This is mainly due to the
changes in fair value of the financial
assets at FVTPL.

Credit risk and impairment
assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the
Group’'s counterparties default on
their confractual obligations resulting
in financial losses to the Group. The
Group’s credit risk exposures are
primarily attributable to trade and other
receivables, deposits, restricted bank
deposit and bank balances. The Group
does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements to cover its credit
risks associated with its financial assets.

The Group performed impairment assessment
for financial assets under ECL model.
Information about the Group’s credit
risk management, maximum credit risk
exposures and the related impairment
assessment, if applicable, are summarised
as below:

3. &m I A (&

b.

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022-2023
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i RAEEER EFH T ERI5% (=F
ZZHE15%)  BREREABEZRD
EIN%1,293,0008 T (=B =5 :
1,256,000 7T) » TEHRNEZ QX FE
BEif \BEER2EMEEZ QA TEE
BEFTE

1= B B2 R el 18 7 1

FERRBEAEBEZRZHFIEIY
EEAEHAEEZIMBLERZ
Bk AEEFEGE2FERRER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

b.

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment
assessment (Confinued)

Trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the
Group has a credit control policy in
place under which credit evaluations
of customers are performed on all
customers requiring credit. Other
monitoring procedures are in place to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. In this regard,
the directors consider that the Group’s
credit risk is significantly reduced.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group
had concentration of credit risk as
30% (2022: 28%) of the total trade
receivables was due from one customer
from digital marketing segment. In
order to minimise the credit risk,
the management of the Group
has delegated staff responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and ofther monitoring
procedures to ensure follow-up action
is taken to recover overdue debts and
performed annual review on customers’
and borrowers’ credit quality.

e MBERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE-Z-_=F=ZB=+—HLFE

3. &I A (&

b. BBEKREREBERBEE &)

1= B /7 Bz R Bl (e 77 1% (A&)

EFENELZEKE SR

AEEREEFERR FAEECEHE
CEEHBRE AEESBELYEFAE
ERFEZEFETEFFEEMNMG -
AEBEETHMERRERF  BRRE
WEEBHEE RUAMS  EERAAR
AEBZEERRBE KERD

A—ZE_=F=ZA=+—H 4A&EH
ZEERBESEFER  FHI0%(=ZF
TF I 28%) BN E B ERFAER
B hmBEES BN —BEP KT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

35.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Confinued)

b.

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022-2023

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment
assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers (Continued)

In addition, the Group performs
impairment assessment under ECL
model on trade balances individually.
Impairment of approximately
HK$278,000 (2022: HK$501,000) and a
reversal of approximately HK$913,000
(2022: HKS$867,000) is recognised
during the year. Details of the
quantitative disclosures are set out
below in this note.

Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables and deposits,
the Group performs assessment under
ECL model balances individually or
on a collective basis. Except for other
debtors, which mainly composed of
deposits and certain other receivables,
assessed individually, the ECL of
the remaining other receivables are
assessed collectively based on shared
credit risk characteristics. The directors
believe that there are no significant
increase in credit risk of these amounts
since initial recognition and the Group
provided impairment based on 12m
ECL. The Group assessed the ECL for
other receivables and deposits and
recognised approximately HKS$51,000
(2022: HK$227,000) and a reversal
of approximately HK$59,000 (2022:
HK$648,000) for the year ended 31
March 2023.

3. &m I A (&

BHEREERERBEEE)

1= B o B K s (B 2T 18 (4
BEFEHNELZENE SR (&)

o REEUEHEESEEAR
R E S & ETRENE FAE
RREH278,0008 T (ZE=ZZF :
501,000 jt) & #[[E913,0005& T (=
T "% :867,0008T) cEEWE
EAE AN I

AR BREE

HthBWRIBERREFHE » ANEBE
AHMEEBEEAMERNGHRRIEE
BEEETRENMG - BREMERE
F(EBREENFE2RERET
H B FRIE) b - HER E b FE YUK
HeEBEERRERNARGEERR
BUHEEBETHL -EFRAR B
MERUR  ZERRZEFERRIL
BB AAKERI2ME B RAH
FEERRERBERE ANEEHFMG
HttEWFER RS 2 ABEEEE -
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EEAN51,0008 T (ZE =% :
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

b.

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment
assessment (Confinued)

Bank balances and restricted bank
deposit

Credit risk on bank balances and
restricted bank deposit is limited
because the counterparties are
reputable banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating
agencies. The Group assessed 12m ECL
for bank balances and restricted bank
deposit by reference to information
relating to probability of default and
loss given default of the respective
credit rating grades published by
external credit rating agencies. Based
on the average loss rates, the 12m
ECL on bank balances and restricted
bank deposit is considered to be
insignificant.

e MBERNE
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3. &I A (&

b. BBEKREREBERBEE &)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

35.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Confinued)

b. Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment
assessment (Continued)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading
assessment comprises the following
categories:

Internal credit

35.£F T HE (&)

b. BHEREEBRREEE)

1= B 7 B2 R el 18 7 14 (47

AEBzABEERBRIREBEAT

=RIR

Other financial and

rating Description Trade receivables contract assets
R EE R B EWE SRR HtERRANEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of Lifetime ECL (not 12m ECL
default. credit-impaired)
il REUFENARE FHRMEERE NEAEAEEERE
(BEERE)
Medium risk The counterparty has a medium risk of  Lifetime ECL (not 12m ECL
default. credit-impaired)
o B REUFENARATE - FHRMEERE NERBRAEEEE
(BEERE)
Doubfful There have been significant increases  Lifetime ECL (not Lifetime ECL (not

in credit risk since initial recognition
through information developed
internally or external resources

3 BEBANAGERINIE RN SRR
R EERRE AEEM

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset
is credit-impaired

B BREBTEEHRESHE

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the

debtor is in severe financial difficulty
and the Group has no realistic
prospect of recovery

ffi 34 FREETEBADHREMRAALE
3 4 B PR U [B] 7] E
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credit-impaired)
FHRMEERRE
(BEERE)
Lifetime ECL
(credit-impaired)
FHRSBRERR
(BREERE)

Amount is written off

SR MH

credit-impaired)
FHRMEERE
(BEFERE)
Lifetime ECL
(credit-impaired)
FHRMEERR
(REERE)

Amount is written off

EHEMHE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

b.

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment
assessment (Confinued)

The tables below detail the credit risk
exposures of the Group’s financial

e MBERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—ZE_=F=A=+—HLEE

35.£@ T A (&)

b. BBEKREREBERBEE &)

1= B /7 Bz R 6l 1B 7714 (4E)

TRHAMIHAEEEHEERNE 2
FERR HEAETHHEEFEF

assets, which are subject to ECL {5 :
assessment:
Gross
carrying amount
REAE
External Internal
Note credit rating credit rating  12-month or lifetime ECL 2023 2022
Wit APEEFR ABEEFE N2EAFHAREEEER it St 2 I St
HK$'000 HK$'000
FiEn TiEx
Financial assets af
amortised costs
REERAGTEZEREE
Trade receivables (Note a) 23 N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL (not 8,949 18,839
creditimpaired)
BUE 5K (Hita) AER EmR FHRAEERE (BREHE)
N/A Loss Lifetime ECL (creditimpaired) 2,275 3,639
ER B# FHRAGERE (RREAE)
Other receivables and 24 N/A Low risk 12m ECL (individually assessed) 3,949 1,063
deposits (Note b)
R ERTEREE (Hib) AER ERR 128 ARHEEHE (BRI
N/A Low risk 12m ECL (collectively assessed) . 19
AER ERR 12BARHEEEE (REFME)
Bank balances and 25,26 Aa3-A3 N/A 12m ECL 61,165 134,694
restricted bank deposit
(Note c)
ROTEERERHUBRAEN Aa3-A3 AER 12EARHRERE
(fztc)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_T_=F=A=1+—-HLHFE

35.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

b. Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment
assessment (Continued)

Noftes:

a.

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022-2023

For trade receivables, the Group has
applied the simplified approach in HKFRS
9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime
ECL. The Group determines the ECL on
these items by an individual basis. As part
of the Group’s credit risk management, the
Group applies internal credit rating for its
customers.

As at 31 March 2023, impairment
allowance of approximately HK$275,000
and HK$2,275,000 (2022: HK$121,000
and HK$3,639,000) were made on not
credit-impaired debtors and credit-
impaired debtors, respectively.

The Group assessed the loss allowance
for other receivables on 12m ECL basis.
In determining the ECL, the Group
has taken intfo account the historical
past due experience and forward -
looking macroeconomic information
as appropriate. There had been no
significant increase in credif risk since
initial recognition. As at 31 March 2023, the
balances of approximately HK$3,897,000
(2022: HK$2,110,000) are not past due and
the internal credit rating is considered as
low risk.

The Group assessed the ECL of certain
other receivables collectively based
on average loss rates which are
estimated with reference to credit report
issued by international credit agency
and are adjusted for forward-looking
macroeconomic information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure relevant information
about specific debtors is updated.

As at 31 March 2023, impairment allowance
of approximately HKS$Nil (2022: HK$19,000)
were made on these other debtors based
on collective basis.

The Group did not provide any 12m ECL on
bank balances and restricted bank deposit
as the amount is insignificant.

35, ¢TI H

(#%&)

BHEREERERBEEGE)

1= B /7 B R 6l 1 77 1% (48

MREWEZRRME  AEBEEAEEY
B ELREONR 2 M F IR RERALY
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BRELEBEZERE 2HMEAEFE -
ERAEEFERBER -5 A&
BHEEFERANBEETR-

A—_E_=F=A=+—B ERESRE
ERBECEUERREEEREZEK

R 72 Bl 32 B R (E B 5 19275,00058 T &
2,275,000,%7c (=== :121,000/&
7T 123,639,000/ 7T) °

AEBRIEBEREEFBETEHM
WA EERE RETHBEES
BN AEECEEZRBIANERK
REEBMELEY - BIRTEAUR
FERRILEBAZEM - RZB_=F=
A=+—H  #7%#%3,807,0008 T (=&
— =% :2,110,0005& ) L M@ - TR
BEEFRRRBERE -

FEEZEHEBRTIREBBRH 2EER
HE& UER 2 PHEBER %“ﬂﬁ%?
HtEWFIE 2 AME AR - W E
ﬂ%&$?ﬁb%7ﬂ Zfﬁmﬁm
EMERELRAE - yEHEEBESNE
o ﬁﬁﬁ@ﬂ?ﬁ%% X2 HEERE
TEH -

R-ZB-=5=A=+—H cERR&ERE
EERHAMERRARBRERESE
T(ZZZ==% :19,000& ) °

HARERLTER - HAEEILEFREAT
EERZRHEEBTFRRBEM2EA
BHEEBE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Confinued)

b.

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment
assessment (Continued)

The following table shows the movement
in lifetime ECL that has been recognised
for frade receivables under the simplified

approach.

e MBERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—ZE_=F=A=+—HLEE

35.£@ T A (&)

b. BBEKREREBERBEE &)

1= B /7 Bz R 6l 1B 7714 (4E)

TRETRBHELCHTERERE S IR
eI FHREMEEFE 22 -

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
FHRH FHEY
FEBR FEEBR
(BEERHE) (BEEHE) #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TER
At 31 March 2021 R-ZZB--5=ZA=+-H 838 3.245 4,083
Impairment losses reversed B & ER BB (784) (83) (867)
Written-off sH - (18) (18)
New financial assets HRECERERE
originated 122 379 501
Transfer to creditimpaired ~ BHZEERE (76) 76 -
Exchange realignment ERAE 21 40 61
At 31 March 2022 RZBE-F
=B=+-H 121 3,639 3,760
Impairment losses reversed B ER BB (119) (794) (913)
Written-off sH - (519) (519)
New financial assets NREZSRERE
originated 276 2 278
Exchange realignment ExAE €)) (53) (56)
At 31 March 2023 R-®-=%=A=+-AH 275 2,275 2,550
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

35.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

b.

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment
assessment (Continued)

The Group writes off trade receivables
when there is information indicating
that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, e.g., when
the debtor has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings or in the case of trade
receivables, when the amounts are
over three years past due. In respect of
the credit-impaired debtor with gross
carrying amount of approximately
HKS$2,000 (2022: HK$455,000) and
impairment loss of approximately
HK$2,000 (2022: HK$455,000) was
recognised for the year ended 31
March 2023, the Group considered
the debtor is in significant financial
difficulty and has taken legal action
against the debtor to recover the
amount due. During the year 31
March 2023, the Group write-off the
credit-impaired debtors provided in
prior year with the carrying amount
of approximately HK$519,000 (2022:
HK$18,000) due to there is no realistic
prospect to recover the amount.

During the year 31 March 2023,
the Group reversed the impairment
losses amount of approximately
HKS$720,000 (2022: HK$83,000) on one
credit-impaired debtor provided in prior
year due to legal action taken and part
of the amount was recovered during
the year.

3. &m I A (&

b.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

b.

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment
assessment (Confinued)

The following table shows the reconciliation
of loss allowances that has been
recognised for 12m ECL on other
receivables:

e MBERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE-Z-_=F=ZB=+—HLFE

35.£@ T A (&)

b. BBEKREREBERBEE &)

1= B /7 Bz R 6l 1B 7714 (4E)

TRETEHRIDI2EAEHEESE
MEBEREREAMEWRRENER :

12m ECL

12/8 A A 88

FEFR

HK$'000

FET

At 1 April 2021 R-ZE-—-FMA—H 642
Impairment losses reversed ERERERE (648)
Written-off 6] (113)
New financial assets originated FRECERMEE 227
Exchange realignment ERAE 18
At 31 March 2022 R-ZE-_—_F=HA=+—H 126
Impairment losses reversed ERERERE (59)
Written-off ] (67)
New financial assets originated FRECEMEE 51
Exchange realignment fERFE 1

At 31 March 2023

R-B-=6=ZA=+—H 52

Fig 2022-2023 XLBEEERRAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE-Z-_=F=ZA=+—HLFE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

b.

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk,
the Group monitors and maintains a
level of cash and cash equivalents by
the directors to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows.

The directors regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements to
ensure it maintains sufficient reserves
of cash and bank balances and
adequate funding from its shareholders
to meet with its liquidity requirements.

The following fable details the Group’s
remaining contractual maturity for its
financial liabilities based on the agreed
repayment term. The table has been
drawn up based on the undiscounted
cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay.
The table includes both interest and
principal cash flows.

35. &I H (&)

b.

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022-2023

BHEREERERBEEGE)

ATEERBESRR  AEEER
REFKESARARUBENEIEBLEE
FREKFZRERBEZEEY UK
REBRERERH 2HE -

EEEHERARRBEHRRDESE
ROUBRAEERFEH RS RIET
REREBEUARKREERRZERZES -
LmEERBESER -

TRHFLAEBHBAERBHETE
HHZHBTERNIHA - ZRDRBRE
AEEBANRZEREHREMERS
ZRBBREREGH -ZREER
/%~&$$EE§/JILE °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE-Z-_=F=ZB=+—HLFE

35.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 35. 2@ T A (&)

(Continued)
b. Financial risk management b. BEREEBEREE (&)
objectives and policies
(Continued)
Liquidity risk REEZEE (&)
Liquidity tables HEEE K
Repayable In the
Weighted  on demand second fo Total
average or within fifth year undiscounted Carrying
interest rate one year inclusive cash flows amount
REXY HE-ZLER AER
MEFHFE R-FREE (BREREME) HRERELE REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER TR THEL THEL
2023 —B-=f
Trade payables B E 5 R - 1,419 - 1,419 1,419
Other payables and HtEAHER
accrued charges EiER - 10,302 - 10,302 10,302
Lease liabilities HEEE 5% 2,256 376 2,632 2,547
Total EEk 13,977 376 14,353 14,268
2022 —E-CE
Trade payables T E 5 R = 2,362 - 2,362 2,362
Other payables and HtEAFRER
accrued charges EiER - 11,457 - 11,457 11,457
Lease liabilities HEEE 5% 607 - 607 601
Total ECk 14,426 - 14,426 14,420

Fig 2022-2023 XLBEEERRAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

35.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Confinued)

C.

Fair values

Fair value of the Group’s financial
assets that are measured at fair value
on a recurring basis

The level in the fair value hierarchy within
which the financial asset is categorised
in its entirety is based on the lowest level
of input that is significant to the fair value
measurement.

The following table illustrates the fair
value measurement hierarchy of the
Group'’s financial instruments:

35,2 T H (&
c. A¥EE
BAEEMELELNFEENEZKE
EE@BEESAFEE

TREERETEBAZAVEEE
RAZER  DERHLIFEETE
BEREARBHZZRBERBARYE -

TEREPAEEEMTIAZ ATV EE
HERH

Valuation
Fair value technique(s)
Financial assets Fair value hierarchy and key input(s)
REFER AR
tREE AVEE AFEERR BAYE
2023 2022
—E-=F —EC-CFE
HK$’'000 HK$'000
TER TER
Listed equity securities 8,621 8,370 Level 1 Quoted bid prices in
classified as financial an active market
assets at FVTPL
PERBRAFEEFABRER 8,621 8,370 Z14 ERMERRZEAE

ZERMEEZLTRARS

The fair value of other financial assets
and financial liabilities that are not
measured at fair value on a recurring
basis are determined in accordance
with generally accepted pricing
models based on discounted cash flow
analysis.

The directors consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and
financial liabilities recorded at
amortised cost in the consolidated
financial statements approximate their
fair value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE-Z-_=F=ZB=+—HLFE

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 6. FHEEAERS

a.

Compensation of key a. T EEBABZF M
management personnel

The key management of the Group AEECFTEEBASBEMEES
comprises all directors, details of their HESHEBAMFISHKE -ESHE
emoluments are disclosed in Notfe BHAATSEMNEZEESREBARIA
15. The emoluments of the directors REBRERBRNEED - TEHMWE
are decided by the remuneration ENGBRITHRMETE

committee of the Company having
regard to individual's performance,
the Group’'s performance and
profitability, remuneration benchmark
in the industry and prevailing market

condition.
Related party transactions b. BEBEEALXRES
Except as disclosed elsewhere in the RRGETERREMIBOAIEES
consolidated financial statements, SHoRER REBEBEUTEBEEA
the Group entered into the following TETAURS :
tfransactions with a related party during
the year:
Related party Nature of tfransaction 2023 2022
BFEEAL XEME =—2B-= —E=-=
HK$'000 HK$000
FTERT FHET
CMEL Royalty income 250 49
i A U A
CMEL Interest expense on lease 36 20
liability (Note)
HESEZFEMZ (M)
CMEL Lease payments (Note) 685 540
HE AR (FEE)
Note: Culturecom Limited, one of the subsidiary of iz XL EEERELAR (NEEZHB AR 2
the Group, leased an office premise from —) @7 A A g N RCMELE & 3 A
CMEL, an associate of the Company, with EYE - HEME -

the lease term of two years.

Fig 2022-2023 XLBEEERRAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE-Z-_=F=ZA=+—HLFE

37.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 7. XRBzEENB LT

COMPANY
a. General information of a MEBARZ—KRER
subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s principal RABR-—_B-_=F=H=+—H=F
subsidiaries as at 31 March 2023 are as EWE AR ZFMERNT :
follows:
Proportion of nominal
Place/country of Issued and fully value of issued share capital
incorporation or paid share capital/ indirectly held
Name of subsidiaries registration/operation  registered capital by the Group Principal activifies
RiNERYE BRARARRE/ RAREEEREL
1| PEEL gEnY/B% ifER BRARAEARA  FEEE
023 2022
ZECCE CECCE
% %
Cticomics Limited (Note ii Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 85 70 Publishing and IPs licensing
BEXLERAT (W) ¥ EBR2ER LREAREERE
Culturecom Centre Limited (Nofe i) Hong Kong Orcinary HKS2 100 100 Provision of management services 1o group
companies
T EEROERAT (W) Bk EBRER REEERETEELT
Culturecom Enterprises Limited (Note i)~ Hong Kong Ordinary HKS? 100 100 Provision of management services 1o group
companies
T EELERRAT (W) Eh EBR2ER REEERETEELT
Culturecom Limited (Nofe ii Hong Kong Ordinary 100 95 Investment holding and publishing and Ps
HK$263,774,837 licensings
X EEERAT (ki) B EBR3774837E T REBRURERRAGERRE
Culturecom Investments Limited (Nofe i)~ Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 100 100 Investment holding and securties frading
XLBRRERRAR (W) ¥ EBRER REERRESRE
Culturekid Fshop (HK) Limited (Nofe i Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 100 100 Trading of wine
YERERERE (BR) RRLAT (i)  BR EBR2ER BERR
Winway HK. Investments Limifed (Nofe f)  Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 100 100 Investment holding and securites frading
KAERRERRAA (W) &k EBR2ER REBRRZZEE
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37.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (Confinued)

a. General information of
subsidiaries (Continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE-Z-_=F=ZB=+—HLFE

7. X _B2EEMB AT (FB)

a MEBRXAzZ-—KREHGE)

Proportion of nominal
Place/country of Issued and fully value of issued share capital
incorporation or paid share capital/ indirectly held
Name of subsidiaries registration/operation  registered capital by the Group Principal activities
RLNER Y BRARARES/ RAREREREL
| Pk EEnY/ /85 iftgx BRORAEERH  FEER
2023 2022
ZECCE CECCE
% %
Ucan.com Group Limited (Nofe ii Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 100 100 Investment holding
(ki) Bt EBRI0000% 7 REER
THE ONE Comics Publishing Limifed (Nofe i) Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1,618,900 51 51 Publishing and IPs licensing
-RELRARLE (W) B ZB1R1,018,900% 7 tREARERRE
Eqmen (Note (ii), (vi)) PRC Registered RMB833,000 55 55 Digital marketing business
& () (i) e AMERARY Y TAREER
833,000
Beijing Skyvior (Note ii PRC Registered 55 55 Digital marketing business
RMB10,000,000
FREE (i) e ifERARE HBLMARERE
10,000,007
Hyperchannel Info (Noe (i), (vi)) PRC Registered 55 5 Digital marketing business
RMB10,000,000
EER% (H(i)  (vi)) e ifERARE HBLMAREES
10,000,007
TRABEEN L ERBRAT PRC Registered N/A 55 Digital markefing business
(“BZEE") (Note (i), () RMB1,000,000
(k) ~ () I ifERARE TER Y TARRER
1,000,007

Fig 2022-2023 XLBEEERRAF
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e

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
F=A=+—HILEE

37.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Confinued)

a. General information of

subsidiaries (Continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHRNE

37. X DR2EEME AR (&)

a MEBRXAzZ-—KREHE)

Proportion of nominal
Place/country of Issued and fully value of issued share capital
incorporation or paid share capital/ indirectly held
Name of subsidiaries registration/operation  registered capital by the Group Principal activifies
ifnigEn/ BRfTRARRE/ RARERREEL
WEAER EE4% /8% iftan BEARAEERH  IERE
2023 02
EIZE CEICF
% %
TBORE) RELE (BREN) Noteii)  PRC Registered 100 100 Digital morkefing business
(Wi RMBA0,000,000
e ifERARE SELTERERE
50,000,007
B (1) BB 2 (Note (), (i) PRC Registered 100 100 Digital morkefing business
(WE() () RMB100,000,000
g ifERARS SELTERERE
100,000,0007
Beijing Star (Note (i), (vi)) PRC Registered 80 80 Digital markefing business
RMB4,993,758
HREA () () 48 SRETARE HELTEERLE
49937587
EM% HEARLF (Note i) PRC Registered 100 100 Digital marketing business
M) RB7,000,000
e AfERARN HELTRRRRR
7,000,000
RECERESNE (58)ERAT PRC Registered 100 N/A Natural language processing business
(ﬂlﬁﬁh‘éuiﬁﬁ‘éﬁgﬂﬁ(%ﬁg) RMB100,000,000
RRAR) (Note (), (i), (1) (K&E() - (i) - =& AMERARR TER BAZSREER
) 1000000007
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Confinued)

a.

General information of
subsidiaries (Continued)

Notes:

(i)  This subsidiary is wholly foreign owned
enterprises established in the PRC.

(i)  These subsidiaries are limited liability
companies incorporated in Hong Kong/
established in the PRC.

(iiiy  This subsidiary is a limited partnership
established in the PRC.

(iv) This subsidiary has been deregistered on 30
November 2022.

(v) This subsidiary has been established in the
PRC on 30 September 2022.

(viy On 15 June 2023, the Board resolved to
commence liquidation procedure of two
subsidiaries. Further details refer to Note 39.

(vii) On 13 April 2023, this subsidiary dispose to
an independent third party. Further details
refer to Note 39.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt
securities outstanding during the year
or at the end of the year.

e MBERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE-Z-_=F=ZB=+—HLFE

7. X _B2EEMB AT (FB)

a HMEBRXAzZ-—KREHGE)

() BREWBLAARPERIZIEEE

F-o

(iy ZEMBADAREBIMAIL RH
B2 BRAR e

iy ZMBARBRIERLZEREBLE -

(ivy ZMBLARER=ZZZZ=ZF+—-A=+
A&EsH -

v) ZMBLAARZ-ZZEZZFAA=Z+HR
HEIRR L ©

(viy REZZEZZFXRATEHH EFFRER
BWMEMBARNBEERRF - E—FSHE
B2 RMEE39 -

(viy RZZEZ=ZFTA+=H ZMELATE
EBYEZHHE E—SHBESHM
39 ¢

FrE M B L BB R R R e R
THEZEMEHES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

37.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Confinued)

a. General information of
subsidiaries (Continued)

The directors are of the opinion that
a complete list of the particulars of
all subsidiaries would be of excessive
length and therefore the above list
contains only the subsidiaries which
principally affect the results or assets or
liabilities of the Group.

At the end of the reporting period,
the Company has other subsidiaries
that are not material to the Group. A
majority of these subsidiaries operate
in Hong Kong and British Virgin Islands
("BVI"). The principal activities of these
subsidiaries are summarised as follows:

Principal activities

Principal places of business

7. XA ZEEHRB AT (&)
a MEARZ—RER (E)

EERRFIHMNBAR ZFMAE
HEERBEERTR  Hit EREH
NETBRHEAKB EXAREESE
BzMBLRF -

NBERR  ARARBALFHEAREE
MEBEARZHEMKEAR - LEKH
BRAARZHBREBRABELES
(REBELXHS)EE - HLEWER
B2 ERXBHPMMNT :

Number of subsidiaries

FTEXH FTEEXME MEARIRE
2023 2022
—B-=H —E2=-=
Investment holding BVI, Hong Kong 17 17
REER REBELHES &8
Dormant/Inactive companies BVI, Hong Kong, PRC 7 6
FEEX KEBRLES BB 1E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—ZE_=F=A=+—HLEE

37.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 37. KRR Z2EEHMBE A A ()
COMPANY (Confinued)

b. Details of non-wholly owned b. BEEAFEZERER ZIFZEMN
subsidiaries that have [=ONGIES
material non-controlling
interests
The table below shows details of TRITAEBIEZEN B R AIEE
non-wholly owned subsidiaries FERFERER 2FE

of the Group that have material
non-conftrolling interests:

Place of
incorporation Proportion of ownership
and principal interests and voting Profit (loss) llocated Accumulated
place of  rights held by non-controlling fo non-controlling non-controlling
Name of subsidiaries business interests inferests inferests
ERAILER FERREREL MERERER,
hELARER IRERMY  HARERRARESDD & (68 ZitFERER
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 202
ZEcE CE-CE 0 IZECZRE B ZEISE CEICE
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
Thn Thn Thn Thn
Eqmen 530 PRC 45% 45% 12 (1,069) 15,260 16,337
g
Hyperchannel Info EEff PRC 45% 45% (124) (1.757) (1.974) (1780)
g
Inividually immateriol EEFRRERYL
subsidliories with fARFERKELA
non-confroling inferests 1,564 (503)

8,850 8,054
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

37.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 37. X RFI2EEMB AR (&)
COMPANY (Confinued)

b. Details of non-wholly owned b. BEEAFZERER ZIFZEMN
subsidiaries that have BAaFE (E)

material non-controlling
interests (Continued)

Eqmen £5F

2023 2022
—E-=fF —E=-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Current assets MEBEE 34,042 36,386
Current liabilities NEIN=R 129 82
Equity attributable to owners of RABEE AELRER

the Company 18,653 19,967
Non-controlling interests of Egmen £ %P9~ JE1ERER 15,260 16,337
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Confinued)

b. Details of non-wholly owned

e MBERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE-Z-_=F=ZB=+—HLFE

7. X RAFZEERE AR (&)

b. BEEAFERERZIFEEM

subsidiaries that have BARFHE (&)
material non-controlling
interests (Continued)
Egmen (Continued) ZEFI (&)
2023 2022
—B-=5F —E=-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT FHET
Revenue ON 309 2,292
Expenses 3 (282) (4,655)
Profit (loss) for the year FEF (EE) 27 (2,363)
Profit (loss) aftributable to owners 72 B #E A A B ER

of the Company (B518) 15 (1,300)
Profit (loss) attributable to the ZHEMFERER

non-controlling interests of A& F (E518)

Egmen 12 (1,063)
Profit (loss) for the year FEF (EE) 27 (2,363)
Other comprehensive (expense) ZAR2QTHEHE AEEH A

income attributable to owners of 2 (B %) %

the Company (1.329) 761
Other comprehensive (expense) F &Iz IEERIER B

income attributable to Hih2m| (BX) W&

non-conftrolling interests of

Egmen (1.089) 622
Other comprehensive (expense) SFEHAMZ2ME (BIx) W

income for the year (2.418) 1,383
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

37.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 7. KX RAIZEEWE AR (1)
COMPANY (Confinued)

b. Details of non-wholly owned b. BEEAFZERER ZIFZEMN
subsidiaries that have BAaFE (E)

material non-controlling
interests (Continued)

Egmen (Continued) BE&F] (&)
2023 2022
—B-=5F —EB=-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT FET

Total comprehensive expense AAREEAEMLZE

attributable to owners of the B 4%

Company (1.314) (539)
Total comprehensive expense SaEMZHEEREREMNL

attributable to non-controlling 2HBEXEEE

interests of EQmen (1.077) (447)
Total comprehensive expense for FEZHEB XA

the year (2,391) (980)
Net cash (outflow to) inflow from KEXBELZHE

operating activities () RAFHE (2.174) 1.895
Net cash inflow from financing MEXBEECZEHER

activities FEE 11,739 1,042
Net cash inflow BERANFE 9.565 2,937
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE-Z-_=F=ZB=+—HLFE

37.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 37. KRR Z2EEHMBE A A ()
COMPANY (Confinued)

b.

Details of non-wholly owned

b. BEEAFERERZIFEEM

subsidiaries that have BARFE (&)
material non-controlling
interests (Continued)
Hyperchannel Info [EEH %
2023 2022
2= -
HK$’000 HK$"000
THET THET
Current assets mEBEE 473 7.166
Current liabilities REBAE 18,193 24,454
Equity attributable to owners of RABEE AELER
the Company (9.746) (9.508)

Non-conftrolling inferests of
Hyperchannel Info

EEAG 2 FERER
(7.974) (7,780)

Fig 2022-2023 XLBEEERRAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

37.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (Confinued)

b.

Details of non-wholly owned

37. X PFZEEME A A (&)

b. BEEARFERESZIFEZEM

subsidiaries that have B AR E (&)
material non-controlling
interests (Continued)
Hyperchannel Info (Continued) EEE (E)
2023 2022
—E-=fF —E=-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Revenue N 486 24,659
Expenses 3 (2.095) (28,563)
Loss for the year FEEIE (1.609) (3.904)
Loss attributable to owners of the  ARAQF#HEE AEMLER
Company (885) (2.147)
Loss attributable to the EER&FERES
non-controlling interests of FE{L 18
Hyperchannel Info (724) (1,757)
Loss for the year FEEE (1.609) (3.904)
Other comprehensive income RAREE AEGEHEA
(expense) attributable to owners  ZmEUWE (B x)
of the Company 647 (1,326)
Other comprehensive income EERAXEERER
(expense) attributable to FE 15 H Ath 2 T W &
non-controlling interest of (BAx%)
Hyperchannel Info 530 (1,085)
Other comprehensive income FEHt2EKE (%)
(expense) for the year 1,177 (2411)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—ZE_=F=A=+—HLEE

37.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 37. KRR Z2EEHMBE A A ()
COMPANY (Confinued)

b. Details of non-wholly owned b. BEEAFEZERER ZIFZEMN
subsidiaries that have BATsEE (E&)

material non-controlling
interests (Continued)

Hyperchannel Info (Continued) EEE (E)
2023 2022
—s=-= —E-—
HK$’000 HKS$'000
THERT FHET
Total comprehensive expense AABEEAELEZER
attributable to owners of the M A%
Company (238) (3.473)
Total comprehensive expense EERAKFERESR
attributable to non-controlling EEEHAXZEE
interests of Hyperchannel Info (194) (2,842)
Total comprehensive expense for FE 2B X &%
the year (432) (6.315)
Net cash inflow from operating REEBEEZRE
activities A FEE 179 31,553
Net cash outflow to financing MEXBELEZRS
activities Nikunhe-E: ] (12,563) (42,031)
Net cash outflow BE&RH R (12,384) (10,478)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE—_ZEZ_=F=A=1+—HLEE

38. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES 38.

ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the
Group’s liabilities arising from financing
activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing
activities are those for which cash flows
were, or future cash flows will be, classified
in the Group’s consolidated statement of
cash flows as cash flows from financing

MEXBEEEBEZHE

BRESKFREEZY BHEXBELS
BAREREFIRRREREENAEE
CHRERERERFIEAMEELRE

nREz&aE-

activities.
Lease Bank
liabilities borrowings Total
HEEE BITER BE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR
At 1 April 2021 RZE--50MAB—H 5,359 35,495 40,854
Financing cash flows MERERE (3,908) (37.380) (41,288)
Non-cash changes FREEH
Finance costs B E A 140 931 1,071
New leases enfered HEHEE 2,298 - 2,298
Early termination of leases RERILEE (3.349) - (3.349)
Exchange realignment B RAE 61 954 1,015
At 31 March 2022 R-ZB-=ZF=A=+—-H 601 - 601
Financing cash flows BEEERE (2,487) - (2,487)
Non-cash changes FREEH
Finance costs B E 125 - 125
New leases entered HHE 4,308 - 4,308
At 31 March 2023 R-BE-=5=A=+—-H 2,547 - 2,547
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39.EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

a)

On 28 May 2021, the Company and
4 vendors in the PRC ("Vendors”)
entered info an agreement for
potential sales and purchase of 100%
equity interest ("Sale Capital”) of a
company established in the PRC which
is principally engaged in development
and sales of artificial infelligence
hardware and software. The Vendors
have agreed tfo sell the Sale Capital for
a fotal consideratfion of approximately
HK$63,000,000, which shall be settled
by procuring the Company to issue and
allot 191,000,000 shares. As addifional
time is required to fulfil the conditions
in the agreement, the transaction is not
yet completed as at the date of these
consolidated financial statements.
Details of the above fransaction is setf
out in the Company’s announcements
dated 2 June 2021, 26 August 2021, 29
October 2021, 29 December 2021, 28
February 2022, 29 April 2022, 27 June
2022, 29 September 2022, 25 November
2022, 30 January 2023 and 28 April
2023 respectively.

e MBERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE-Z-_=F=ZB=+—HLFE

9. {EHREN

) R=ZF=-—-FHEA=-+/N\H XAF
HhENEES (B DRATEESR
—ERPE R Z D EZ100%8K &
(THRERADTLHE  Z2RAEE
BB REEATEREG R -
BrL S RENANKELNG63000000
BLTHEHERES BREREBRRE
£ 45 22 7] 8% 47 ] B2 21 91,000,000/%
Bz AAEN BRFZEIEE
ERIGE KT BRZEREHH
BEAMRERZEARTER - BE L
REZHBEARARA B AR =
B_-F%A"RAZR -ZEF=--%N\A
=tARB-=F=-FtA=tRA"
—E--H5+-AZtNHEH =%
—CZEZRZ+tNB-ZBRZZHF@
AZ+hB -ZFZZ-FXA=-++t
A2 ARA=-ThHE =%
—Zf+-A=-t+tHH ZTZ=
—A=+tBR=ZZEZ=ZFWHA=TN

S AN

Fig 2022-2023 XLBEEERRAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE-Z-_=F=ZA=+—HLFE

39.EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING 9. MEHEREH (E)

PERIOD (Continued)

b) On 13 April 2023, the Group entered
info a sale and purchase agreement
with an independent third party
tfo dispose of entire equity interest
of a non-wholly owned subsidiary,
Hyperchannel Info, at the consideration
of RMB50,000. The Group will
derecognize all the assets and liabilities
of the subsidiary after the completion
of the disposal.

c) On 12 June 2023, the Company
entered into a placing agreement with
a placing agent, pursuant to which the
placing agent has conditionally agreed
tfo procure not less than six placees,
on a best effort basis to subscribe
for the convertible bond of an
aggregate principal amount of up to
HK$100,000,000 at the initial conversion
price of HKS0.5. The interest rate is 8%
per annum payable on a semi-annual
basis and the maturity date is the
date of the second anniversary of the
issue date. Details of the placing were
disclosed in the announcement of the
Company dated 12 June 2023.

d) On 15 June 2023, the Group set up the
liquidation group to liquidate Egmen
and Beijing Star in accordance with the
applicable laws and regulations in the
PRC. The Group will derecognize all the
assets and liabilities of both subsidiaries
after the completion of the liquidation.
Details of the liquidation were disclosed
in the announcement of the Company
dated 15 June 2023.

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this report,
there are no material subsequent events
took place after 31 March 2023 and up fo
the date of this report.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

40.INFORMATION ABOUT

FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY

a.

Statement of financial position

e MBERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

BE—ZE_=F=A=+—HLEE

40. ERAA R A M BMRR 2 BB

and reserves of the Company

a. AARMBRRRRFHE

2023 2022
—E-=HF —E-=
HK$'000 HKS'000
FE T FET
Non-current asset ERBEE
Interests in subsidiaries iNIERNGIA - £ 43,067 32,500
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUR M B A B R IE 61,993 10,599
Other receivables H b pE W R E 543 299
Bank balances RIT&EE 2,691 69,631
65,227 80,529
Current liability REBAE
Other payables and accrued Hfth FE A FRIE R FE 5
charges & H 1,284 665
Net current assets REBEEFE 63,943 79,864
Net assets EEEE 107,010 112,364
Capital and reserves BRKEE
Share capital (Note 31) BRAS (B EE31) 16,687 16,687
Share premium and reserves IR0 B R
(Note 40b) (B 5E40b) 90,323 95,677
Total equity R 107,010 112,364
F3R 2022-2023 XLEEEEERATF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE-Z-_=F=ZA=+—HLFE

40.INFORMATION ABOUT 40. EEAEX R BB BRR 2 EH (&)
FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY (Confinued)

b. Movement in the Company’s b. XA ATREEE
reserves
Capital
Share  Contribution  redemption  Accumulated  Share option
premium surplus reserve losses reserves Total
ke B4ER RIBORE ZitEE  BRERS ko

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TEn TEn TEn TR TEn

AT April 2021 RZE--%
MA-H 2,025,611 262,143 446 (2135173) - 153,027
Loss for the year EEFR - - (96,145) - (96,145)
Issue of shares BIRG 38,920 - - - - 38,920
Transaction cost aftributable to - &7 R
issue of shares RERA (125) - - - - (125)
At 31 March 2022 i S
=B=1-H 2,064,406 262,143 446 (2.231,318) - 95,677
Loss for the yeor EEFE - - - (9.107) - (9,107)
Reconciliation of equity seffled  MAEH £ EHk
share-based payments VERPAIL - 3,753 3,753
Af 31 March 2023 R-E-=F
=B=t-H 2,064,406 262,143 446 (2,240,425) 3,753 90,323
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MEEE

The consolidated results and assets and
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial
years, as exfracted from the audited financial
statements are as follows:

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1T-HLEE

AEERBEREMRFEZFEXEREE
REEDREEKELUBE/RR  HIWOT :

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
—E-hE CZBE-FFE C—ZE--F& CZBE--F CZEBE-=E&
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TR TEn TER TET
RESULTS E4
Revenue 9N 18,206 153,288 206,605 62,365 30,600
Loss before fax BB AIAEE (1219)  (60,634)  (71.042)  (39.574)  (38,503)
Income tax (expenses) fiEH (AX) B2
credit 6 1565 1,121 369 (152)
Loss for the year from REBELSEER
continuing operations FEFE @1.213)  (60479)  (69.921)  (39.205)  (38,655)
Loss for the year from REALEEEK2
discontinued operations FEFAE (10,827) (3.258) (374) - -
Loss for the year RNREE AEL
attributable to owners of FEBE:
the Company:
- From continuing - REFELEER
operations (20,508) (85,121) (56,889) (28,943) (37,223)
- From discontinued -RERLREER
operations (10,827) (3.114) (302) - =
(31,3395) (58.235) (57.191) (28,943) (37.223)
Loss for the year FEREREMN
attributable to EERE:
non-confrolling interests:
- From continuing -REBELEER
operations (705) (5358)  (13032)  (10,262) (1,432)
- From discontinued ~-REALREER
operations = (144) (72) = =
(705) (5502 (13104)  (10,262) (1,432)

Fig 2022-2023 XLBEEERRAF
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

MEERE

As at 31 March

R=A=+-AH
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
—E-NE Z—E-FF <—E--F C-—E--&F <ZEBE-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx TET TEr TEr TET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Property and equipment MERZE 837 993 473 163 89
Right-of-use assets FREEE - 1,825 2,260 172 617
Film right and film SR MERHEF
production in progress EY 117 - - - -
Rental deposits Heke 555 108 1,333 - 466
Interests in an associate R-BEE ARz ER 1,390 1,218 1,195 935 765
Goodwill 5k 19,949 12,126 1,396 - -
Intangible assets EREE 6,162 7,454 5,366 2,057 6,013
Financial assets at fair value &2 FEEFAER
through profit or loss ReemEE 5,379 715 1,802 8,032 6,301
Deferred tax asset EEVEEE - - - - 31
Net current assets RBEEFE 269,187 213,834 160,377 179,547 133,475
303,576 238,273 174,202 190,906 147,757
Non-current liabilities FRBER (1,384) (2,554) (1,628) (12) (357)
302,192 235,719 172,574 190,894 147,400
Share capital L 13,907 13,907 13,907 16,687 16,687
Share premium and REE R #E
reserves 270,842 206,962 151,383 166,153 121,863
Equity attributable to KAREE AR
owners of the Company ER 284,749 220,869 165,290 182,840 138,550
Non-controlling inferests FERER 17,443 14,850 7,284 8,054 8,850
302,192 235,719 172,574 190,894 147,400
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